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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)
(Amounts in millions, except per share data)

         
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31,  
  2005   2004  
Net sales  $ 1,393.6  $ 1,490.8 
Cost of products sold   1,014.7   1,086.4 
  

 

GROSS MARGIN   378.9   404.4 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   304.0   299.8 
Restructuring costs   6.2   21.6 
  

 

OPERATING INCOME   68.7   83.0 
         
Nonoperating expenses:         

Interest expense, net   30.8   30.9 
Other (income) expense, net   (2.3)   2.3 

  
 

Net nonoperating expenses   28.5   33.2 
  

 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES   40.2   49.8 
Income taxes   (46.7)   16.2 
  

 

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS   86.9   33.6 
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax   (50.3)   (108.5)
  

 

NET INCOME (LOSS)  $ 36.6   ($74.9)
  

 

Weighted average shares outstanding:         
Basic   274.4   274.4 
Diluted   274.9   274.5 

         
Earnings (loss) per share:         

Basic –         
Income from continuing operations  $ 0.32  $ 0.12 
Loss from discontinued operations   (0.18)   (0.40)

  
 

Net earnings (loss) per common share  $ 0.13   ($0.27)
  

 

Diluted –         
Income from continuing operations  $ 0.32  $ 0.12 
Loss from discontinued operations   (0.18)   (0.40)

  
 

Net earnings (loss) per common share  $ 0.13   ($0.27)
  

 

         
Dividends per share  $ 0.21  $ 0.21 

See Footnotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).
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NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in millions)

         
  March 31,   December 31, 
  2005   2004  
  (Unaudited)     
ASSETS         
         
CURRENT ASSETS:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 429.8  $ 505.6 
Accounts receivable, net   1,037.4   1,233.0 
Inventories, net   1,057.0   949.0 
Deferred income taxes   74.0   73.8 
Prepaid expenses and other   123.3   180.4 
Current assets of discontinued operations   65.0   70.6 

  
 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   2,786.5   3,012.4 
         
OTHER ASSETS   191.1   186.3 
         
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET   1,211.0   1,267.0 
         
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES   13.1   30.2 
         
GOODWILL   1,821.0   1,824.6 
         
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET   309.2   299.1 
         
NON-CURRENT ASSETS OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS   —   46.9 
         
  

 

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 6,331.9  $ 6,666.5 
  

 

See Footnotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).
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NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)
(Amounts in millions, except par value)

         
  March 31,   December 31, 
  2005   2004  
  (Unaudited)     
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY         
         
CURRENT LIABILITIES:         

Accounts payable  $ 629.4  $ 661.5 
Accrued compensation   83.8   113.3 
Other accrued liabilities   677.6   789.4 
Income taxes   —   68.8 
Notes payable   18.5   21.3 
Current portion of long-term debt   195.4   185.6 
Current liabilities of discontinued operations   26.4   31.4 

  
 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   1,631.1   1,871.3 
         
LONG-TERM DEBT   2,383.8   2,424.3 
         
OTHER NONCURRENT LIABILITIES   583.5   606.0 
         
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS   0.3   0.7 
         
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:         
Common stock, authorized shares, 800.0 at $1.00 par value   290.1   290.1 
Outstanding shares:         

2005 - 290.1         
2004 - 290.1         

Treasury stock, at cost;   (411.6)   (411.6)
Shares held:         

2005 - 15.7         
2004 - 15.7         

Additional paid-in capital   446.7   437.5 
Retained earnings   1,497.2   1,518.6 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (89.2)   (70.4)
  

 

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   1,733.2   1,764.2 
         
  

 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  $ 6,331.9  $ 6,666.5 
  

 

See Footnotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).
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NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)
(Amounts in millions)

         
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31,  
  2005   2004  
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:         
Net income (loss)  $ 36.6   ($74.9)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   55.6   60.9 
Deferred income taxes   10.8   7.3 
Noncash restructuring charges   3.2   8.9 
Gain on sale of assets/debt extinguishment   (3.7)   (4.1)
Loss on discontinued businesses   49.1   104.6 
Other   (3.4)   2.2 

Changes in current accounts excluding the effects of acquisitions:         
Accounts receivable   183.7   150.3 
Inventories   (116.9)   (108.3)
Accounts payable   (29.9)   (35.6)
Accrued liabilities and other   (129.7)   (105.4)
Discontinued operations   0.1   (12.6)

  
 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES   55.5   (6.7)
  

 

         
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:         
Acquisition, net of cash acquired   (30.3)   — 
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment   (23.1)   (36.6)
Disposals of noncurrent assets and sale of businesses   12.9   16.5 
  

 

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (40.5)   (20.1)
  

 

         
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:         
Proceeds from issuance of debt   1.9   9.7 
Payments on notes payable and long-term debt   (31.1)   (17.7)
Cash dividends   (58.0)   (57.7)
Proceeds from exercised stock options and other   —   0.9 
  

 

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES   (87.2)   (64.8)
  

 

         
Exchange rate effect on cash   (3.6)   (0.9)
  

 

         
DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   (75.8)   (92.5)
         
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   505.6   144.4 
         
  

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD  $ 429.8  $ 51.9 
  

 

See Footnotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).
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NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
FOOTNOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Footnote 1 – Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of Newell Rubbermaid Inc. (collectively with its subsidiaries, the “Company”) have been
prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and do not include all the information and footnotes required by
generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, the unaudited consolidated financial statements
include all adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring accruals, considered necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position and the results of
operations. It is suggested that these unaudited consolidated financial statements be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the footnotes thereto
included in the Company’s latest Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Seasonal Variations: The Company’s product groups are only moderately affected by seasonal trends. The Cleaning & Organization and Other business
segments typically have higher sales in the second half of the year due to retail stocking related to the holiday season; the Tools & Hardware and Home
Fashions business segments typically have higher sales in the second and third quarters due to an increased level of do-it-yourself projects completed in the
summer months; and the Office Products business segment typically has higher sales in the second and third quarters due to the back-to-school season.
Because these seasonal trends are moderate, the Company’s consolidated quarterly sales generally do not fluctuate significantly, unless a significant
acquisition is made.

Fair Value of Stock Options: In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123 (revised) (“SFAS 123(R)”), “Share-Based Payment.” SFAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee
stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values (i.e., pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative to financial
statement recognition). The Statement supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and
will require adoption no later than January 1, 2006. The Company expects to adopt the provisions of the new standard effective January 1, 2006.

As of March 31, 2005, the Company’s stock option plans are accounted for under APB No. 25. As a result, the Company grants fixed stock options under
which no compensation cost is recognized. Had compensation cost for the options granted been determined consistent with SFAS 123(R), the Company’s net
income and earnings per share would have been reduced to the following pro forma amounts under the Black Scholes method for the three months ended
March 31, (in millions, except per share data):

         
  2005   2004  
Net income (loss):         
As reported  $36.6   ($74.9)
Fair value option expense, net of tax   (2.8)  (4.5)
  

 

Pro forma  $33.8   ($79.4)
         
Basic earnings/(loss) per share:         
As reported  $0.13   ($0.27)
Pro forma  $0.12   ($0.29)
         
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share:         
As reported  $0.13   ($0.27)
Pro forma  $0.12   ($0.29)
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Reclassifications: Certain amounts in prior years have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. See Footnote 2 for a discussion of
discontinued operations.

Footnote 2 – Discontinued Operations

On January 12, 2005, the Company entered into an agreement for the intended sale of the Company’s Curver business. The Curver business manufactures and
markets plastic products for home storage and garage organization, food storage, laundry, bath, cleaning, closet organization and refuse removal in various
countries in Europe. The Company’s European commercial products and other European businesses would not be affected by the sale. The Curver business
had 2004 sales of $151.8 million.

The contemplated sale price is $5 million, payable at closing, and a contingent note for $5 million, payable within 12 years. The sales price is subject to
reduction for working capital adjustments. There could also be contingent payments received by the Company, up to an aggregate maximum of $25 million,
based on the adjusted earnings before interest and taxes of the Curver business for the five years ended December 31, 2009.

The agreement contains customary representations, warranties, covenants and conditions. The agreement also contains indemnification provisions subject to
specified limitations as to time and amount. The agreement is subject to termination if the transaction is not completed within four months or, in certain cases,
six months.

In connection with this intended transaction, the Company expects to record a total non-cash loss related to the sale of approximately $60 to $80 million,
including the $49.1 million loss recorded in the first quarter of 2005. In the first quarter, the Company wrote-off the remaining long-lived assets of the
business (primarily property, plant and equipment) and recorded the charge in discontinued operations as a loss on the disposal. The remaining charge is
expected to be recorded in the second quarter of 2005 when the deal is expected to close.

The following table summarizes the results of the discontinued operations for the three months ended March 31, (in millions):

         
  2005   2004  
Net sales  $ 37.1  $ 183.8 
Loss from operations of discontinued operations, net of

income tax expense (benefit) of $0.2 and ($2.5) for
2005 and 2004, respectively  $ (1.2) $ (3.9)

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations  $(49.1) $(104.6)
  

 
  

 
 

Loss from discontinued operations  $(50.3) $(108.5)
  

 

  

 

 

The 2005 amounts reflect only the operations of the Curver business, while the 2004 amounts also include businesses sold in 2004 (Panex Brazilian low-end
cookware division, European picture frames businesses, U.S. picture frames business (Burnes), Anchor Hocking glassware business, Mirro cookware
business and the Little Tikes Commercial Playground Systems business). No amounts related to interest expense have been allocated to discontinued
operations.

The following table presents summarized balance sheet information of the discontinued operations (in millions):

         
  March 31,  December 31, 
  2005   2004  
Accounts receivable, net  $ 37.2  $ 45.7 
Inventories, net   26.6   23.3 
Prepaid expenses and other   1.2   1.6 
  

 
  

 
 

Total Current Assets   65.0   70.6 
         
Property, plant and equipment, net   —   41.2 
Other assets   —   5.7 
  

 
  

 
 

Total Assets  $ 65.0  $ 117.5 
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  March 31,  December 31, 
  2005   2004  
Accounts payable  $ 20.5  $ 21.4 
Other accrued liabilities   5.9   10.0 
  

 
  

 
 

Total Current Liabilities   26.4   31.4 
  

 
  

 
 

         
Long-term liabilities   0.3   0.7 
  

 
  

 
 

Total Liabilities  $ 26.7  $ 32.1 
  

 

  

 

 

Footnote 3 – Restructuring Costs

In the second quarter of 2004, the Company completed its accounting charges associated with its strategic restructuring plan (the “Plan”) announced on
May 3, 2001. The specific objectives of the Plan were to streamline the Company’s supply chain to become the best-cost global provider throughout the
Company’s portfolio by reducing worldwide headcount and consolidating duplicative manufacturing facilities. The Company recorded $461.7 million in
restructuring charges under the Plan, including $87.4 million in discontinued operations. Under the Plan, the Company exited 84 facilities and reduced
headcount by approximately 12,000. The Company expects total annual savings of between $125 and $150 million ($105 to $115 million related to the
reduced headcount, $10 to $20 million related to reduced depreciation, and $10 to $15 million related to other cash savings).

Pre-tax restructuring costs consisted of the following for the three months ended March 31, (in millions):

         
  2005   2004  
  

 

Facility and other exit costs  $ 3.4  $13.9 
Employee severance and termination benefits   1.5   5.4 
Exited contractual commitments and other   1.3   2.3 
  

 

Recorded as Restructuring Costs  $ 6.2  $21.6 
  

 

A summary of the Company’s restructuring plan reserves is as follows (in millions):

         
  2005   2004  
  

 

Beginning balance at January 1,  $ 27.9  $145.5 
Restructuring costs (provision)   6.2   21.6 
Costs incurred   (14.4)  (31.4)
  

 

Ending balance at March 31,  $ 19.7  $135.7 
  

 

Restructuring provisions were determined based on estimates prepared at the time the restructuring actions were approved by management, and also include
amounts recognized as incurred. Cash paid for restructuring activities was $10.6 million and $15.7 million in the first three months of 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

The facility and other exit cost reserves are primarily related to future minimum lease payments on vacated facilities and other closure costs and will require
future cash payments.

The following table depicts the changes in accrued restructuring reserves for the three months ended March 31, aggregated by reportable business segment (in
millions):

                 
  12/31/04      Costs   03/31/05 
Segment  Balance   Provision  Incurred  Balance  
Cleaning & Organization  $ 3.5  $ (0.4) $ (0.7) $ 2.4 
Office Products   12.5   0.6   (3.6)  9.5 
Tools & Hardware   3.1   4.9   (6.0)  2.0 
Home Fashions   0.9   (0.4)  (0.2)  0.3 
Other   2.3   1.7   (3.1)  0.9 
Corporate   5.6   (0.2)  (0.8)  4.6 
  

 

  $ 27.9  $ 6.2  $ (14.4) $ 19.7 
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  12/31/03      Costs   03/31/04 
Segment  Balance   Provision  Incurred   Balance  
Cleaning & Organization  $ 55.9  $ 5.1   ($12.9) $ 48.1 
Office Products   29.9   (0.6)  (3.7)  25.6 
Tools & Hardware   17.9   1.5   (9.7)  9.7 
Home Fashions   17.7   5.7   (2.0)  21.4 
Other   9.6   9.7   (0.7)  18.6 
Corporate   14.5   0.2   (2.4)  12.3 
  

 

  $145.5  $ 21.6   ($31.4) $135.7 
  

 

During the first quarters of 2005 and 2004, the Company reduced its restructuring reserves by approximately $1.0 million and $0.6 million, respectively,
primarily as a result of a change in estimate on the amount of proceeds to be received from the sale of fixed assets scheduled for disposal.

Footnote 4 – Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value. The components of inventories, net of LIFO reserve, were as follows (in millions):

         
  March 31,   December 31, 
  2005   2004  
Materials and supplies  $ 231.0  $ 217.3 
Work in process   186.1   169.3 
Finished products   639.9   562.4 
  

 

  $1,057.0  $ 949.0 
  

 

Footnote 5 – Long-term Debt

The following is a summary of long-term debt (in millions):

         
  March 31,   December 31, 
  2005   2004  
Medium-term notes  $1,647.0  $ 1,647.0 
Preferred debt securities   450.0   450.0 
Junior convertible subordinated debentures   446.7   474.3 
Terminated interest rate swaps   34.9   38.3 
Other long-term debt   0.6   0.3 
  

 

Total debt   2,579.2   2,609.9 
Current portion of long-term debt   (195.4)  (185.6)
  

 

Long-term Debt  $2,383.8  $ 2,424.3 
  

 

In February 2005, the Company purchased 550,000 shares of 5.25% convertible preferred securities (“Preferred Securities”) that were issued by a 100%-
owned finance subsidiary of the Company and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company, from a holder for $47.375 per share. In connection
with the purchase of these securities, the Company negotiated the early retirement of the corresponding junior convertible subordinated debentures with the
financing subsidiary. The Company accounted for this transaction as an extinguishment of debt resulting in a net gain of $1.1 million, which was included in
Other (income) expense, net.
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Footnote 6 – Employee Benefit and Retirement Plans

The following table presents the components of the Company’s pension (income) expense for the three months ended March 31, (in millions):

                 
  United States   International  
  2005   2004   2005   2004  
Service cost-benefits earned during the year  $ 0.5  $ 11.0  $ 2.1  $ 1.8 
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation   12.9   13.5   6.2   4.9 
Expected return on plan assets   (16.3)   (16.3)   (5.6)   (4.5)
Amortization of:                 

Prior service cost   0.3   (0.2)   —   — 
Actuarial loss   1.2   1.4   1.0   0.4 

Curtailment & special termination benefit costs   (16.7)   —   —   0.2 
  

 

Net pension (income) expense   ($18.1)  $ 9.4  $ 3.7  $ 2.8 
  

 

Effective December 31, 2004, the Company froze its defined benefit pension plan for its entire non-union U.S. workforce. As a result of this curtailment, the
Company reduced its pension obligation by $50.3 million and recorded a curtailment gain related to negative prior service cost of $15.8 million in the first
quarter of 2005. In conjunction with this action, the Company offered special termination benefits to certain employees that accepted early retirement. The
Company replaced the defined benefit pension plan with an additional defined contribution plan, whereby the Company will make additional contributions to
the Company sponsored employee’s profit sharing plan. The new defined contribution plan has a five-year cliff-vesting schedule, but allows credit for service
rendered prior to the inception of the defined contribution plan.

The following table presents the components of the Company’s other postretirement benefits expense for the three months ended March 31, (in millions):

         
  2005   2004  
Service cost-benefits earned during the year  $ 0.9  $ 1.3 
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation   3.7   4.1 
Amortization of prior service cost   (0.1)  — 
Actuarial loss   0.3   0.3 
  

 

Net pension expense  $ 4.8  $ 5.7 
  

 

Footnote 7 – Income Taxes

In January 2005, the Company reached agreement with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) relating to the appropriate treatment of a specific transaction
reflected on the Company’s 2003 US federal income tax return. The Company requested accelerated review of the transaction under the IRS’ Pre-Filing
Agreement Program that resulted in affirmative resolution in late January 2005. A $58.6 million benefit was recorded in income taxes for the three months
ended March 31, 2005 related to this issue. The amount was fully reserved as of December 31, 2004.

Footnote 8 – Earnings per Share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for the three months ended March 31, is shown below (in millions, except per share data):
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          Convertible     
  Basic   Dilutive   Preferred   Diluted  
  Method   Securities(1)  Securities(2)  Method  
Three Months Ended March 31, 2005                 
Income from continuing operations  $ 86.9   —   —  $ 86.9 
Earnings per share  $ 0.32   —   —  $ 0.32 
                 
Loss from discontinued operations  $ (50.3)   —   —  $ (50.3)
Loss per share  $ (0.18)   —   —  $ (0.18)
                 
Net income  $ 36.6   —   —  $ 36.6 
Earnings per share  $ 0.13   —   —  $ 0.13 
                 
Weighted average shares outstanding   274.4   0.5   —   274.9 
                 
Three Months Ended March 31, 2004                 
Income from continuing operations  $ 33.6   —   —  $ 33.6 
Earnings per share  $ 0.12   —   —  $ 0.12 
                 
Loss from discontinued operations  $(108.5)   —   —  $(108.5)
Loss per share  $ (0.40)   —   —  $ (0.40)
                 
Net loss  $ (74.9)   —   —  $ (74.9)
Loss per share  $ (0.27)   —   —  $ (0.27)
                 
Weighted average shares outstanding   274.4   0.1   —   274.5 

(1) Dilutive securities include “in the money options” and restricted stock awards. The weighted average shares outstanding for the three months ended
March 31, 2005 and 2004 exclude the dilutive effect of approximately 12.7 million and 8.9 million stock options, respectively, because such options
had an exercise price in excess of the average market value of the Company’s common stock during the respective periods or the inclusion would have
been anti-dilutive.

 
(2) The convertible preferred securities are anti-dilutive for the three months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, and therefore have been excluded from

diluted earnings per share. Had the convertible preferred securities been included in the diluted earnings per share calculation, net income would be
increased by $3.8 million and $4.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and weighted average shares
outstanding would have increased by 8.5 million shares and 9.9 million shares for 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Company also grants restricted stock awards to directors and certain employees. Generally, these awards are subject to three-year cliff vesting and pay
dividends quarterly. As of March 31, 2005, the Company had outstanding restricted stock awards of 0.8 million shares, none of which are vested. Total
compensation expense of $1.3 million and $0.7 million was recorded for the three months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, related to the
restricted shares.

Footnote 9 – Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss encompasses foreign currency translation adjustments, net gains/(losses) on derivative instruments and net minimum
pension liability adjustments and is recorded within stockholders’ equity.

The following table displays the components of accumulated other comprehensive loss (in millions):

                 
  Foreign   After-tax   After-tax   Accumulated  
  Currency   Derivatives  Minimum  Other  
  Translation  Hedging   Pension   Comprehensive 
  Gain/(Loss)  (Loss)/Gain  Liability   Loss  
Balance at December 31, 2004  $ 120.4  $ (4.3)  $(186.5)  $ (70.4)
Current year change   (23.2)   4.4   —   (18.8)
  

 

Balance at March 31, 2005  $ 97.2  $ 0.1  $(186.5)  $ (89.2)
  

 

Total comprehensive income (loss) amounted to the following for the three months ended March 31, (in millions):

         
  2005   2004  
Net income (loss)  $ 36.6  $(74.9)
Foreign currency translation (loss) gain   (23.2)  46.6 
After-tax derivatives hedging gain (loss)   4.4   (10.9)
  

 

Comprehensive income (loss)  $ 17.8  $(39.2)
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Footnote 10 — Industry Segments

The Company’s reporting segments reflect the Company’s focus on building large consumer brands, promoting organizational integration, achieving
operating efficiencies and aligning the businesses with the Company’s strategic account management strategy. The Company reports its results in five
reportable segments as follows:

   
Segment  Description of Products
 

Cleaning & Organization Indoor/outdoor organization, storage, food storage, cleaning, refuse
Office Products  Ballpoint/roller ball pens, markers, highlighters, pencils, office products, art supplies
Tools & Hardware  Hand tools, power tool accessories, industrial tool accessories, manual paint applicators, cabinet hardware, propane torches
Home Fashions  Drapery hardware, window treatments
Other

 
Operating segments that do not meet aggregation criteria, including aluminum and stainless steel cookware, hair care accessory
products, infant and juvenile products, including toys, high chairs, car seats, and strollers

The Company’s segment results are as follows (in millions):

         
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31,  
  2005   2004  
Net Sales (1)         
Cleaning & Organization  $ 341.1  $ 405.9 
Office Products   332.8   332.8 
Tools & Hardware   276.4   274.3 
Home Fashions   198.3   226.8 
Other   245.0   251.0 
  

 

  $1,393.6  $1,490.8 
  

 

         
Operating Income (2)         
Cleaning & Organization  $ 15.4  $ 17.4 
Office Products   33.5   31.8 
Tools & Hardware   26.7   43.0 
Home Fashions   (4.5)  3.9 
Other   13.3   15.9 
Corporate (3)   (9.5)  (7.4)
Restructuring Costs (4)   (6.2)  (21.6)
  

 

  $ 68.7  $ 83.0 
  

 

         
  March 31,   December 31, 
  2005   2004  
Identifiable Assets         
Cleaning & Organization  $ 889.2  $ 884.8 
Office Products   929.6   998.1 
Tools & Hardware   844.1   836.2 
Home Fashions   588.0   599.0 
Other   493.0   523.1 
Corporate (5)   2,523.0   2,707.8 
Discontinued Operations   65.0   117.5 
  

 

  $6,331.9  $ 6,666.5 
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Geographic Area Information

         
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31,  
  2005   2004  
Net Sales         
United States  $ 954.7  $1,031.5 
Canada   72.2   73.7 
  

 

North America   1,026.9   1,105.2 
Europe   288.1   306.6 
Central and South America   41.5   42.2 
All other   37.1   36.8 
  

 

  $1,393.6  $1,490.8 
  

 

         
Operating Income (6)         
United States  $ 64.0  $ 69.0 
Canada   10.7   12.9 
  

 

North America   74.7   81.9 
Europe   (10.9)  (4.9)
Central and South America   (0.2)  2.1 
All other   5.1   3.9 
  

 

  $ 68.7  $ 83.0 
  

 

         
  March 31,   December 31, 
  2005   2004  
Identifiable Assets (7)         
United States  $4,672.7  $ 4,856.3 
Canada   96.0   114.1 
  

 

North America   4,768.7   4,970.4 
Europe   1,192.0   1,257.4 
Central and South America   176.5   185.1 
All other   129.7   136.1 
Discontinued Operations   65.0   117.5 
  

 

  $6,331.9  $ 6,666.5 
  

 

1) All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Sales to Wal*Mart Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries amounted to approximately 13% and 15% of
consolidated net sales, excluding discontinued operations, in the first three months of 2005 and 2004, respectively. Sales to no other customer exceeded
10% of consolidated net sales for either period.

2) Operating income is net sales less cost of products sold, selling, general and administrative expenses, and restructuring costs. Certain headquarters
expenses of an operational nature are allocated to business segments and geographic areas primarily on a net sales basis.

3) Corporate operating expenses consist primarily of administrative costs that cannot be allocated to a particular segment.
4) Restructuring costs have been presented separately in this table; refer to Footnote 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for a

breakout of the charge by reportable segment.
5) Corporate assets primarily include trade names, goodwill and deferred tax assets.
6) The restructuring costs recorded in the three months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 have been reflected in the appropriate geographic regions.
7) Transfers of finished goods between geographic areas are not significant. Corporate assets are primarily reflected in the United States.

Footnote 11 – Contingencies

The Company is involved in legal proceedings in the ordinary course of its business. These proceedings include claims for damages arising out of use of the
Company’s products, allegations of infringement of intellectual property, commercial disputes and employment related matters, as well as environmental
matters. Some of the legal proceedings include claims for punitive as well as compensatory damages, and a few proceedings purport to be class actions.
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Although management of the Company cannot predict the ultimate outcome of these legal proceedings with certainty, it believes that the ultimate resolution
of the Company’s legal proceedings, including any amounts it may be required to pay in excess of amounts reserved, will not have a material effect on the
Company’s financial statements.

In the normal course of business and as part of its acquisition and divestiture strategy, the Company may provide certain representations and indemnifications
related to legal, environmental, product liability, tax or other types of issues. Based on the nature of these representations and indemnifications, it is not
possible to predict the maximum potential payments under all of these agreements due to the conditional nature of the Company’s obligations and the unique
facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement. Historically, payments made by the Company under these agreements did not have a material
effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operation.
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

The Company made progress in the first quarter of 2005 toward achieving its previously announced 2005 key objectives. The Company’s key objectives for
2005, and the progress made in the first three months of 2005 toward achieving such priorities, are highlighted below:

 1.  Strengthen/Broaden Portfolio: The Company continues to evaluate its current portfolio and intends to pursue acquisition opportunities to
complement internal growth. In addition to adding businesses or product lines to the Company’s current portfolio, the Company continues to
rationalize low margin product lines that do not fit within the Company’s strategic plan. In January 2005, the Company entered into an agreement
for the intended sale of the Company’s Curver business. See Footnote 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for additional
information on this transaction. In the first quarter of 2005, the Company exited approximately $60 million in low margin product lines in the
Rubbermaid Home Products, Graco, Swish UK, and Office Products businesses.

 
 2.  Invest in High Margin Businesses: The Company continues to focus significant resources on enhancing its new product development pipeline, as

well as strengthening the Company’s numerous brands through targeted advertising. In the first quarter of 2005, the Company made additional
investments in SG&A (primarily in the Office Products and Tools & Hardware segments), which was partially offset by the positive impact of the
U.S. pension curtailment (discussed in Footnote 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)). The net impact was an increase in SG&A
of $4.2 million over the first quarter of 2004.

 
 3.  Address Raw Material Inflation: The Company has several businesses that are significantly impacted by commodity inflation. The Company has

historically combated these cost increases through organic productivity initiatives. However, due to the continued inflation pressure within several of
its core commodity purchases, the Company has implemented price increases to offset a portion of the increased costs. In the first quarter of 2005,
the Company experienced raw material inflation of approximately $51 million (primarily in resin and steel), partially offset by pricing increases of
approximately $30 million.

 
 4.  Reduce Manufacturing Overhead: The Company is committed to reducing its manufacturing costs by at least five percent annually. As a result of

the recent divestiture and product line rationalization programs, the Company is focusing on reengineering its manufacturing overhead structure to
accommodate its current manufacturing base. In connection with this goal, the Company is committed to deploying and implementing Newell
Operational Excellence. The Company delivered approximately $18 million of gross productivity savings, excluding raw material inflation, during
the first quarter of 2005.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated items from the Consolidated Statements of Operations as a percentage of net sales (in millions, except
percentages):

                 
  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2005   2004  
  

 

Net sales  $1,393.6   100.0% $1,490.8   100.0%
Cost of products sold   1,014.7   72.8   1,086.4   72.9 
  

 

Gross margin   378.9   27.2   404.4   27.1 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   304.0   21.8   299.8   20.1 
Restructuring costs   6.2   0.4   21.6   1.4 
  

 

Operating income   68.7   4.9   83.0   5.6 
Nonoperating expenses:                 

Interest expense, net   30.8   2.2   30.9   2.1 
Other (income) expense, net   (2.3)  (0.2)   2.3   0.2 

  
 

Net nonoperating expenses   28.5   2.0   33.2   2.2 
  

 

Income before income taxes   40.2   2.9   49.8   3.3 
Income taxes   (46.7)  (3.4)   16.2   1.1 
  

 

Income from continuing operations   86.9   6.2   33.6   2.3 
  

 

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax   (50.3)  (3.6)   (108.5)  (7.3)
  

 

Net income (loss)  $ 36.6   2.6%  ($74.9)  (5.0)%
  

 

Three Months Ended March 31, 2005 vs. Three Months Ended March 31, 2004

Consolidated Operating Results:

Net sales for the three months ended March 31, 2005 (first quarter) were $1,393.6 million, representing a decrease of $97.2 million, or 6.5%, from
$1,490.8 million in the comparable quarter of 2004. The decrease resulted from a decline in core sales of $91 million, or 6.1%, and product line
rationalization of $60 million, or 4.0%. These were partially offset by favorable foreign currency translation of $24 million, or 1.6% of net sales, and
favorable pricing of $30 million, or 2.0% of net sales, for the quarter. Approximately two thirds of the core sales decline occurred in the Cleaning &
Organization segment, primarily in the Rubbermaid Home Products business, resulting from the aggressive pricing required to offset resin inflation. The
remaining one third of the core sales decline occurred in the European Home Fashion business, primarily due to the soft economic environment in Germany
and market share losses to private label suppliers in the opening price point drapery hardware product lines.

Gross margin, as a percentage of net sales, in the first quarter of 2005 was 27.2%, or $378.9 million, versus 27.1%, or $404.4 million, in the comparable
quarter of 2004. The increase in gross margin percentage is primarily related to favorable pricing of $30 million, or 2.0% of net sales, and a favorable mix
driven by new products and the rationalization of unprofitable product lines. The decrease in the gross margin amount was caused primarily by the decrease in
net sales noted above. Raw material inflation of $51 million (primarily in resin and steel) was mostly offset by favorable pricing of $30 million and gross
productivity of $18 million in the quarter.

Selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A) in the first quarter of 2005 were 21.8% of net sales, or $304.0 million, versus 20.1%, or $299.8 million,
in the comparable quarter of 2004. The positive impact of the U.S. pension plan curtailment (see Footnote 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited) for further information) was more than offset by foreign currency and additional investment in the Office Products and Tools & Hardware
segments.

The Company recorded pre-tax strategic restructuring charges of $6.2 million in the first quarter of 2005, compared to $21.6 million in the prior year. The
2005 pre-tax charge included $3.4 million of facility and other exit costs, $1.5 million of employee severance and termination benefits and $1.3 million of
exited contractual commitments and other restructuring costs. The 2004 pre-tax charge included $13.9 million of facility and other exit costs, $5.4 million of
employee severance and termination benefits and $2.3 million of exited contractual commitments and other restructuring costs. See Footnote 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for further information on the restructuring plan.
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Operating income in the first quarter of 2005 was $68.7 million, or 4.9% of net sales, versus $83.0 million, or 5.6%, in the comparable quarter of 2004. The
decrease in operating margins was the result of the factors described above.

Net nonoperating expenses in the first quarter of 2005 were 2.0% of net sales, or $28.5 million, versus 2.2% of net sales, or $33.2 million, in the comparable
quarter of 2004. The reduction in net nonoperating expenses is mainly attributable to gains recognized in 2005 on the sale of property, plant and equipment.
Additionally, net interest expense decreased $0.1 million for the first quarter of 2005 compared to the first quarter of 2004 primarily as a result of cash
generated from operations and divestitures which lowered debt and increased cash balances, mostly offset by higher interest rates.

The effective tax rate was (116.2%) in the first quarter of 2005 versus 32.5% in the first quarter of 2004. The change in the effective tax rate is primarily
related to the $58.6 million income tax benefit recorded in the first quarter of 2005 resulting from the resolution of a tax contingency with the Internal
Revenue Service. See Footnote 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for further information.

Income from continuing operations for the first quarter of 2005 was $86.9 million, compared to $33.6 million in the first quarter of 2004. Diluted earnings per
share from continuing operations were $0.32 in the first quarter of 2005 compared to $0.12 in the first quarter of 2004.

The loss recognized from discontinued operations for the first quarter of 2005 was $50.3 million, net of tax, compared to $108.5 million, net of tax, in the first
quarter of 2004. Diluted loss per share from discontinued operations was $0.18 in the first quarter of 2005 compared to $0.40 in the first quarter of 2004. See
Footnote 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for further information.

Net income (loss) for the first quarter of 2005 was $36.6 million, compared to ($74.9) million in the first quarter of 2004. Diluted earnings (loss) per share
was $0.13 in the first quarter of 2005 compared to ($0.27) in the first quarter of 2004.

Business Group Operating Results:

Net sales by reportable segment were as follows for the three months ended March 31, (in millions, except percentages):

             
  2005   2004   % Change 
Cleaning & Organization  $ 341.1  $ 405.9   (16.0)%
Office Products   332.8   332.8   — 
Tools & Hardware   276.4   274.3   0.8 
Home Fashions   198.3   226.8   (12.6)
Other   245.0   251.0   (2.4)
  

 

Total Net Sales (1)  $1,393.6  $1,490.8   (6.5)%
  

 

Operating income by segment was as follows for the three months ended March 31, (in millions, except percentages):

             
  2005   2004   % Change 
Cleaning & Organization  $ 15.4  $ 17.4   (11.5)%
Office Products   33.5   31.8   5.3 
Tools & Hardware   26.7   43.0   (37.9)
Home Fashions   (4.5)  3.9   N/A 
Other   13.3   15.9   (16.4)
Corporate Costs (2)   (9.5)  (7.4)    
Restructuring Costs (3)   (6.2)  (21.6)    
  

 

Total Operating Income (4)  $ 68.7  $ 83.0   (17.2)%
  

 

(1) All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Sales to Wal*Mart Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries amounted to approximately 13% and 15% of
consolidated net sales, excluding discontinued operations, in the three months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Sales to no other
customer exceeded 10% of consolidated net sales for either period.

 
(2) Corporate operating expenses consist primarily of administrative costs that cannot be allocated to a particular segment.
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(3) Restructuring costs have been presented separately in this table; refer to Footnote 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for a
breakout of the charge by reportable segment.

 
(4) Operating income is net sales less cost of products sold, selling, general and administrative expenses, and restructuring costs. Certain headquarters

expenses of an operational nature are allocated to business segments and geographic areas primarily on a net sales basis.

Cleaning & Organization

Net sales for the first quarter of 2005 were $341.1 million, a decrease of $64.8 million, or 16.0%, from $405.9 million in the first quarter of 2004, driven
primarily by the planned low margin product line exits in the Rubbermaid Home Products business and reduced volumes caused by the recent price increase
action taken to offset raw material inflation. These factors were partially offset by favorable pricing and foreign currency translation.

Operating income for the first quarter of 2005 was $15.4 million, a decrease of $2.0 million, or 11.5%, from $17.4 million in the first quarter of 2004. The
decrease in operating income is the result of higher raw material costs and lost absorption in manufacturing facilities as a result of lower production volumes,
partially offset by gross productivity and favorable pricing.

Office Products

Net sales for the first quarter of 2005 and 2004 were $332.8 million. Successful implementation of new products in the writing instruments business
(Sharpie® Retractables, Sharpie® Mini permanent markers, Accent® highlighters, Papermate® Flexgrip Elite pens) were offset by sales declines in the
European fine writing business and everyday writing business in the United States.

Operating income for the first quarter of 2005 was $33.5 million, an increase of $1.7 million, or 5.3%, from $31.8 million in the first quarter of 2004, as a
result of productivity and favorable pricing, partially offset by raw material inflation and increased investment in SG&A.

Tools & Hardware

Net sales for the first quarter of 2005 were $276.4 million, an increase of $2.1 million, or 0.8%, from $274.3 million in the first quarter of 2004, driven by
increases in the LENOX and BernzOmatic businesses, partially offset by declines in the Amerock and IRWIN Power Tools Accessories businesses.

Operating income for the first quarter of 2005 was $26.7 million, a decrease of $16.3 million, or 37.9%, from $43.0 million in the first quarter of 2004, driven
by restructuring related costs at the Amerock and IRWIN businesses and continued investments in SG&A in the tools business.

Home Fashions

Net sales for the first quarter of 2005 were $198.3 million, a decrease of $28.5 million, or 12.6%, from $226.8 million in the first quarter of 2004, driven by
planned product line exits primarily in the Douglas Kane UK business, and core sales declines in the European Home Fashions business, partially offset by
favorable foreign currency translation.

Operating (loss) income for the first quarter of 2005 was ($4.5) million, a decrease of $8.4 million, from $3.9 million in the first quarter of 2004. The decrease
in operating income was due primarily to lower sales, raw materials inflation and the liquidation of Douglas Kane, partially offset by productivity gains.

Other

Net sales for the first quarter of 2005 were $245.0 million, a decrease of $6.0 million, or 2.4%, from $251.0 million in the first quarter of 2004. The decline is
primarily the result of product line exits in the Graco business, partially offset by favorable pricing and foreign currency translation.
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Operating income for the first quarter of 2005 was $13.3 million, a decrease of $2.6 million, or 16.4%, from $15.9 million in the first quarter of 2004, driven
primarily by raw material inflation and restructuring related costs in the Graco business, partially offset by favorable pricing and productivity.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $75.8 million and $92.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The change in
cash and cash equivalents is as follows for the three months ended March 31, (in millions):

          
  2005   2004  
  

 

Cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  $ 55.5   ($6.7)
Cash used in investing activities   (40.5)   (20.1)
Cash used in financing activities   (87.2)   (64.8)
Exchange effect on cash and cash equivalents   (3.6)   (0.9)
  

 

         
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents   ($75.8)   ($92.5)
  

 

Sources:

The Company’s primary sources of liquidity and capital resources include cash provided from operations and use of available borrowing facilities.

Cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2005 was $55.5 million compared to a use of $6.7 million for the comparable
period of 2004. The increase in cash provided from operating activities was primarily due to improved working capital and lower cash spent for restructuring.

The Company has a $650.0 million five-year Syndicated Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Revolver”) that is scheduled to expire in June 2007. At March 31,
2005, there were no borrowings under the Revolver.

In lieu of borrowings under the Revolver, the Company may issue up to $650.0 million of commercial paper. The Revolver provides the committed backup
liquidity required to issue commercial paper. Accordingly, commercial paper may only be issued up to the amount available for borrowing under the
Revolver. At March 31, 2005, no commercial paper was outstanding.

The Revolver permits the Company to borrow funds on a variety of interest rate terms. The Revolver requires, among other things, that the Company
maintain certain Interest Coverage and Total Indebtedness to Total Capital Ratio, as defined in the agreement. The agreement also limits Subsidiary
Indebtedness. As of March 31, 2005, the Company was in compliance with this agreement.

In the first three months of 2005, the Company received proceeds from the issuance of debt of $1.9 million compared to $9.7 million in the year ago period.

In the first three months of 2005, the Company received cash proceeds of $12.9 million related to the sale of businesses and other non-current assets,
compared to $16.5 million in the year ago period. See Footnote 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for a discussion of the intended
disposal of Curver, expected to be completed in the second quarter.

Uses:

The Company’s primary uses of liquidity and capital resources include acquisitions, payments on notes payable and long-term debt, dividend payments and
expenditures for property, plant and equipment.

In the first quarter of 2005, the Company spent $30.3 million associated with an acquisition. The Company did not make any significant acquisitions during
2004, as the priority was the reduction of debt.
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In the first three months of 2005, the Company made payments on notes payable and long-term debt of $31.1 million compared to $17.7 million in the year
ago period, including the purchase of 550,000 shares of its Preferred Securities from a holder for $47.375 per share. The Company paid a total of
$26.1 million for the purchase of these securities. See Footnote 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for additional information on this
transaction.

Cash used for restructuring activities was $10.6 million and $15.7 million in the first three months of 2005 and 2004, respectively. These payments relate
primarily to employee termination benefits.

Expenditures for property, plant and equipment were $23.1 million and $36.6 million in the first three months of 2005 and 2004, respectively. The Company
is focused on capital spending discipline and expects to spend between $125 and $150 million in 2005.

Aggregate dividends paid were $58.0 million and $57.7 million in the first three months of 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Retained earnings decreased in the first three months of 2005 by $21.4 million. The reduction in retained earnings is due to cash dividends paid on common
stock, offset by the current year net income.

Working capital at March 31, 2005 was $1,155.4 million compared to $1,141.1 million at December 31, 2004. The current ratio at March 31, 2005 was 1.71:1
compared to 1.61:1 at December 31, 2004. The increase in working capital is due to the reduction of income taxes payable and other accrued liabilities,
primarily as a result of spending on previously announced restructuring plans.

Total debt to total capitalization (total debt is net of cash and cash equivalents, and total capitalization includes total debt and stockholders’ equity) was .56:1
at March 31, 2005 and .55:1 at December 31, 2004.

In May 2005, the Company expects to declare a quarterly cash dividend of $0.21 per share on the Company’s common stock, payable in the second quarter.

The Company believes that cash provided from operations and available borrowing facilities will continue to provide adequate support for the cash needs of
existing businesses on a short-term basis; however, certain events, such as significant acquisitions, could require additional external financing on a long-term
basis.

Market Risk

The Company’s market risk is impacted by changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and certain commodity prices. Pursuant to the
Company’s policies, natural hedging techniques and derivative financial instruments may be utilized to reduce the impact of adverse changes in market prices.
The Company does not hold or issue derivative instruments for trading purposes.

The Company manages interest rate exposure through its conservative debt ratio target and its mix of fixed and floating rate debt. Interest rate swaps may be
used to adjust interest rate exposures when appropriate based on market conditions, and, for qualifying hedges, the interest differential of swaps is included in
interest expense.

The Company’s foreign exchange risk management policy emphasizes hedging anticipated intercompany and third party commercial transaction exposures of
one-year duration or less. The Company focuses on natural hedging techniques of the following form: 1) offsetting or netting of like foreign currency flows,
2) structuring foreign subsidiary balance sheets with appropriate levels of debt to reduce subsidiary net investments and subsidiary cash flows subject to
conversion risk, 3) converting excess foreign currency deposits into U.S. dollars or the relevant functional currency and 4) avoidance of risk by denominating
contracts in the appropriate functional currency. In addition, the Company utilizes forward contracts and purchased options to hedge commercial and
intercompany transactions. Gains and losses related to qualifying hedges of commercial and intercompany transactions are deferred and included in the basis
of the underlying transactions. Derivatives used to hedge intercompany loans are marked to market with the corresponding gains or losses included in the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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The Company purchases certain raw materials, including resin, steel and aluminum, which are subject to price volatility caused by unpredictable factors.
While future movements of raw material costs are uncertain, a variety of programs, including periodic raw material purchases, purchases of raw materials for
future delivery and customer price adjustments help the Company address this risk. Generally, the Company does not use derivatives to manage the volatility
related to this risk.

The amounts shown below represent the estimated potential economic loss that the Company could incur from adverse changes in either interest rates or
foreign exchange rates using the value-at-risk estimation model. The value-at-risk model uses historical foreign exchange rates and interest rates to estimate
the volatility and correlation of these rates in future periods. It estimates a loss in fair market value using statistical modeling techniques that are based on a
variance/covariance approach and includes substantially all market risk exposures (specifically excluding equity-method investments). The fair value losses
shown in the table below have no impact on results of operations or financial condition, but are shown as an illustration of the impact of potential adverse
changes in interest rates. The following table indicates the calculated amounts for the three months ended March 31, (in millions, except percentages):

                      
  2005       2004        
  Three       Three        
  Month   March 31,   Month   March 31,   Confidence 
  Average   2005   Average   2004   Level  
Interest rates  $ 9.9  $ 9.9  $ 12.4  $ 12.4   95%
Foreign exchange  $ 1.5  $ 1.5  $ 3.4  $ 3.4   95%

The 95% confidence interval signifies the Company’s degree of confidence that actual losses would not exceed the estimated losses shown above. The
amounts shown here disregard the possibility that interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates could move in the Company’s favor. The value-at-risk
model assumes that all movements in these rates will be adverse. Actual experience has shown that gains and losses tend to offset each other over time, and it
is highly unlikely that the Company could experience losses such as these over an extended period of time. These amounts should not be considered
projections of future losses, because actual results may differ significantly depending upon activity in the global financial markets.

Forward Looking Statements

Forward-looking statements in this Report are made in reliance upon the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such
forward-looking statements may relate to, but are not limited to, information or assumptions about sales (including pricing), income/(loss), earnings per share,
return on equity, return on invested capital, capital expenditures, working capital, cash flow, dividends, capital structure, debt to capitalization ratios, interest
rates, internal growth rates, restructuring, impairment and other charges, potential losses on divestitures, impact of changes in accounting standards, pending
legal proceedings and claims (including environmental matters), future economic performance, operating income improvements, costs and cost savings
(including raw material inflation, productivity and streamlining), synergies, management’s plans, goals and objectives for future operations and growth or the
assumptions relating to any of the forward-looking statements. The Company cautions that forward-looking statements are not guarantees because there are
inherent difficulties in predicting future results. Actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements.
Factors that could cause actual results to differ include, but are not limited to, those matters set forth in this Report and Exhibit 99.1 to this Report.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Market Risk” in the Company’s Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (Part I, Item 2).

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As of March 31, 2005, an evaluation was performed by the Company’s management, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s chief
executive officer and chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of the
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Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer concluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended March 31, 2005 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Information required under this Item is contained above in Part I. Financial Information, Item 1 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 6. Exhibits

   
2.1  Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2005, by and among the Company and Jardin International Holding BV.
   

10.1
 

Form of Employment Security Agreement between the Company and each of Steven G. Marton and Raymond J. Johnson (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 10, 2004).

   
12  Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
   

31.1
 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

   
31.2

 
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

   
32.1

 
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

   
32.2

 
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

   
99.1  Safe Harbor Statement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

     
 NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC.   
 Registrant   

     
Date: May 4, 2005  /s/ J. Patrick Robinson   

 
 

  

 J. Patrick Robinson   
 Vice President – Chief Financial Officer   
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SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

by and among
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and
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SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

     SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), dated as of January 12, 2005, by and among Newell Rubbermaid Inc., a corporation
organized under the laws of the state of Delaware (“Parent”) and Jardin International Holding BV, a corporation organized under the laws of The Netherlands
(the “Purchaser”).

WITNESSETH:

     WHEREAS, certain Subsidiaries of Parent, as listed in Exhibit A (each an “EHP Subsidiary” and collectively the “EHP Subsidiaries”), are engaged in the
manufacturing and marketing, in various countries, of plastic products for home storage and garage organization, food storage, laundry, bath, cleaning, closet
organization and refuse removal, such manufacturing and marketing activities representing the European operations of the Home Products business line of the
Newell Rubbermaid group (the “EHP Business”);

     WHEREAS, Parent is the ultimate parent company of the EHP Subsidiaries;

     WHEREAS, Parent desires to cause certain of its Subsidiaries to sell the EHP Business;

     WHEREAS, Purchaser has indicated its interest to purchase the EHP Business;

     WHEREAS, during the negotiations preceding the present Agreement, Purchaser and its advisors have been given the opportunity to ask questions and
obtain certain answers from Parent about the EHP Business, its operations and its financial status and have received access to certain financial information
and documents relating to it;

     WHEREAS, the parties have decided to execute this Agreement, acknowledging that this is an arm’s length transaction, considering the risks relating to
the financial status of the Transferred Subsidiaries and the level of the Assumed Liabilities;

     WHEREAS, the acquisition of the EHP Business pursuant to this Agreement shall be made through (i) the sale and purchase of the shares of capital stock
owned by such Subsidiaries of Parent (the “Transferred Stock”) of the EHP Subsidiaries listed in Exhibit B hereto (each a “Transferred Subsidiary”, and
collectively the “Transferred Subsidiaries”), and (ii) the sale and purchase of the Transferred Assets (as defined in Section 1.3) and the assumption of the
Assumed Liabilities (as defined in Section 1.5) from the EHP Subsidiaries listed in Exhibit C hereto (each a “Business Seller”, and collectively the “Business
Sellers”), such Transferred Assets and Assumed Liabilities to be transferred and assumed as a going concern (fonds de commerce) all on the terms, subject to
the conditions and for the consideration set forth in this Agreement.
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     WHEREAS, each of Parent and the Purchaser acknowledges that none of the transactions contemplated by this agreement shall become effective or
irreversible until and unless the proposed sale of the Transferred Stock and the Transferred Assets and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities as a going
concern (including liabilities relating to the Business Transferred Employees, as defined in Section 11.18) shall have been notified to the appropriate workers’
councils or similar employees’ representatives, to the extent and in the manner required under applicable laws, all information and consultation processes with
such councils or employees’ representatives shall have been duly completed and all necessary opinions of such councils or representatives shall have been
received by the Transferred Subsidiaries, Business Sellers and Stock Sellers (as defined in Section 1.2) concerned, and each such Transferred Subsidiary,
Business Seller and Stock Seller shall have given due consideration to such opinions in the context of the proposed sale of the Transferred Stock and the
Transferred Assets.

     NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations, warranties, covenants, agreements and conditions herein contained,
the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

SALE AND PURCHASE OF THE ASSETS; ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES

Section 1.1 Sale and Purchase of EHP Business

     On the terms and subject to the conditions stated herein, Parent agrees to sell, transfer and deliver to the Purchaser at the Closing (as such term is defined
in Section 8.5), and the Purchaser agrees to purchase from Parent at the Closing, the EHP Business, along with substantially all its components which are
necessary to operate the EHP Business as further described in this Agreement (including, without limitation, the four real estate properties located in Poland,
Luxembourg, Spain and Hungary, around 2,500 molds capable of manufacturing, inter alia, the active Home Products which appear in the EHP commercial
catalogs for 2004 and in the stock keeping units item file attached hereto as Schedule 1.1(A), approximately 160 machines (and secondary equipment)
capable of producing 170,000 lock power and the equipment located within the automated warehouse, as well as assets listed in Schedule 1.1(B), and except
as provided under this Agreement or the Transition Services Agreements (as defined in Section 6.11) and without prejudice to the parties’ rights thereunder.

     The transfer of the EHP Business will be made by way of the transfer of the Transferred Stock and the Transferred Assets.

Section 1.2 Sale and Purchase of the Transferred Stock

     On the terms and subject to the conditions stated herein (including the covenant relating to Secondary Transfers as set forth in Section 6.2(a) of this
Agreement), Parent agrees to cause each of its Subsidiaries listed in Exhibit B-I hereto
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(each a “Stock Seller”, and collectively the “Stock Sellers”) to sell, transfer and deliver to the Purchaser at the Closing, and the Purchaser agrees to purchase
from the Stock Sellers at the Closing, all shares of Transferred Stock owned by such Stock Sellers.

Section 1.3 Sale and Purchase of the Transferred Assets

     On the terms and subject to the conditions stated herein, Parent agrees to cause the Business Sellers to sell, transfer, convey, assign and deliver to the
Purchaser at the Closing, and the Purchaser agrees to purchase from the Business Sellers at the Closing, all of the Business Sellers’ rights and interests in and
title to (x) the Assets set forth in Schedule 1.3 hereto and (y) the other Assets primarily relating to or used primarily in the conduct of the EHP Business as the
same may exist on the Closing Date (as defined in Section 8.5) (collectively, the “Transferred Assets”), including without limitation and with respect to each
respective Business Seller all those items in the following categories to the extent that such Assets conform to the definition of the term “Transferred Assets”:

     (a) All rights of such Business Seller (to the extent not performed on or prior to the Closing Date) under all contracts, leases (including financial lease
agreements), understandings, and commitments existing as of the date hereof or which may be entered into by such Business Seller after the date hereof and
on or prior to the Closing Date in compliance with Section 6.1 to the extent these agreements are primarily used in the conduct of the EHP Business (each a
“Transferred Contract” and collectively the “Transferred Contracts”);

     (b) Title of such Business Seller to all Owned Real Property (as defined in Section 4.8(b)) and all rights and interests of such Business Seller in any Leased
Real Property (as defined in Section 4.8(c));

     (c) Subject to compliance with Section 6.12, all inventories of the EHP Business including, without limitation, all finished products which are immediately
saleable or ready to be sold and are on hand at the Business Sellers’ plants, in transit, or in such Business Seller’s distribution system, wherever located on the
Closing Date, and raw materials, packaging materials and works in process, wherever located on the Closing Date, together with each Business Seller’s right
and interest in and title to the spare parts, replacement and component parts, supplies and promotional materials, and any products under development;

     (d) The client base in connection with the EHP Business, together with the right of the Purchaser to represent itself as carrying on the EHP Business as the
successor of the Business Seller;

     (e) All customer lists, supplier lists, and other books and records in the possession (or under the control) of the Business Seller (or, to the extent that (i)
such books and records are Excluded Assets under Section 1.4(d) and (ii) such books and records include data that concern the EHP Business but any such
data is commingled with the data of the Business Seller that does not concern the EHP Business, copies or
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extracts of the relevant portions of all such data that are necessary for the Purchaser to operate the EHP Business as currently conducted as determined by an
independent accounting firm jointly designated by Parent and the Purchaser, in accordance with Section 6.2 below) (the “Transferred Books and Records”);

     (f) The rights and interests in the Intellectual Property (as defined in Section 4.11(a)) and all intellectual property (including author’s rights) rights related
thereto, whether registered, unregistered or subject to an application or registration as well as any IT licenses for a number of users consistent with the 2004
practice;

     (g) The Business Transferred Employees in compliance with Section 6.5;

     (h) All machinery, material handling equipment and molds, office equipment, furniture and furnishings, vehicles, tools and all other moveable tangible
property, wherever located, including any office equipment exclusively assigned to the Business Transferred Employees (including laptop computers, cell
phones and related equipment), telephone lines and numbers (whenever possible), and the benefit of services provided for such equipment under the terms of
servicing and maintenance contracts with service providers;

     (i) The benefit (insofar as such benefit may lawfully be transferred to or held in trust for the Purchaser and otherwise in accordance with Section 6.13(e)
hereof) of all rights and claims of the Business Seller arising at any time out of or in connection with the Transferred Assets or the Assumed Liabilities
whether arising from any warranties, conditions, guarantees, indemnities, contracts, agreements or, otherwise, in each case whether express or implied (the
“Transferred Claims”);

     (j) The benefit (insofar as such benefit may lawfully be transferred to or held in trust for the Purchaser and otherwise in accordance with Section 6.13(e)
hereof) of the Accounts Receivable of the Business Seller, whether or not yet due or payable, outstanding and unpaid on the Closing Date, excluding any Tax
refunds reflected on the books of the Business Sellers as of the Closing Date other than any such Tax refunds related to VAT or local Taxes for which, in each
case, the Purchaser is responsible pursuant to Article VII;

     (k) The benefit (insofar as such benefit may lawfully be transferred) of licenses, permits, franchises, certificates and approvals issued by any Governmental
Authority to the Business Seller (the “Transferred Permits”); and

     (l) Any and all other Assets owned by the Business Seller on the Closing Date (other than Excluded Assets).

Section 1.4 Excluded Assets

     The Business Sellers will retain and not transfer, and the Purchaser will not purchase or acquire, the following Assets (collectively, the “Excluded
Assets”):
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     (a) Any of the Assets of the Business Sellers which do not primarily relate to and are not used primarily in the conduct of the EHP Business, including the
distribution agreement entered into with GEODIS;

     (b) The “Newell”, “Rubbermaid” and “Take Along” terms, trademarks and brands and all intellectual property rights related thereto, whether registered,
unregistered or subject to an application for registration;

     (c) All insurance policies except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, including as set forth in Section 6.14;

     (d) Without prejudice to Section 1.3 (e), the following books and records: any books and records that a Business Seller is required by law to retain, any tax
reports and returns, the Business Seller’s corporate minute books, any other books and records relating to internal corporate matters, and any other books and
records relating to financial relationships with the Business Seller’s lenders or affiliates;

     (e) Any claims, rights and interest in and to any refunds of any Taxes for which Parent is responsible under Article VII hereof;

     (f) All employees of any Business Seller not included in the Business Transferred Employees and any office equipment exclusively assigned to such
employees of the Business Seller (including laptop computers, cell phones and related equipment) and the benefit of services provided for such equipment
under the terms of servicing and maintenance contracts with service providers; and

     (g) All shared services provided to any Business Seller by Parent or any Affiliate of Parent that is not an EHP Subsidiary, except any services to be
furnished pursuant to Section 6.11 hereto or as otherwise expressly provided herein.

Section 1.5 Assumption of the Assumed Liabilities

     At the Closing, Purchaser shall assume, duly and punctually pay, satisfy, discharge, perform or fulfill, in accordance with the respective terms thereof, all
of the following Liabilities of each Business Seller (collectively, the “Assumed Liabilities”) to the exclusion of any and all Liabilities held by the Business
Seller and not specifically listed below in this Section:

     (a) any and all accounts payable and other Liabilities relating primarily to the EHP Business or the Transferred Assets, including the Transferred Contracts,
that exist as of the Closing Date, except, in each case, for (A) Liabilities for Taxes to be paid by any Business Seller under Section 7.1, (B) Liabilities in
respect of Employees or Plans (as defined in Section 4.14) except to the extent specifically assumed by the Purchaser pursuant to Section 6.5, and
(C) Liabilities in connection with the dispute between Curver SAS and Mr. Bornet as further described in Schedule 4.11(c) ;

     (b) Without prejudice to Section 6.14, any product warranty or liability claims by third-parties arising after the Closing from EHP Business products sold
on

5



 

or prior to the Closing Date (which shall specifically exclude any liabilities arising from the sale of non-EHP Business products); and

     (c) Any rebates payable on or after the Closing Date under any distribution or sales contract exclusively related to the conduct of the EHP Business which
has been entered into by any Business Seller prior to the Closing Date (the “Rebates”).

     (d) any inter-company indebtedness within the EHP Business that (i) is related to the EHP Business, (ii) is recorded as a payable on the books of the
Business Seller and (iii) for which a corresponding receivable is recorded as of the Closing Date on the books of any of the Transferred Subsidiaries or any
Business Seller, but only to the extent such receivable is transferred to the Purchaser as part of the Transferred Assets or as part of the Assets of any
Transferred Subsidiary.
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ARTICLE II

PURCHASE PRICE

Section 2.1 Components of Purchase Price

     (a) The aggregate consideration for the EHP Business as a whole that the Purchaser will pay to Parent (for subsequent distribution to the Stock Sellers and
the Business Sellers under the sole responsibility of Parent) for the sale, transfer and delivery of the Transferred Stock and the Transferred Assets and the
assumption of the Assumed Liabilities shall be comprised of:

 (i)  US$9.5 million (the “Initial Purchase Price”) as consideration for the Transferred Stock, the Transferred Assets and the Assumed Liabilities.
The Initial Purchase Price will be paid under the following conditions:

 (a)  US$4.5 million payable in cash on the Closing Date as purchase price for the Transferred Stock, allocated among each Transferred
Subsidiary as follows :

     
Rubbermaid Luxemburg Sarl
Newell Rubbermaid Poland SA
Rubbermaid Kft
Rubbermaid Iberia SA
Rubbermaid GmbH
Curver Italia Srl  

:
:
:
:
:
:  

US$2,000,000
US$1,000,000
US$1,000,000
US$   300,000
US$   150,000
US$     50,000

 (b)  $1 payable in cash on the Closing Date as purchase price for each of the Transferred Assets and Assumed Liabilities acquired from each
Business Seller; and

 
 (c)  US$5 million payable under a promissory note, subject to the terms summarized in Exhibit D (the “Note”) provided that the amounts

actually paid under the terms of the Note will be allocated among the Transferred Stock and the various categories of Transferred Assets on
a basis proportional to the breakdown of set forth in paragraphs (a) and (b) above.

 (ii)  US$0.5 million payable in cash on the Closing Date increased by an additional price (the “Additional IP and Molds Price”) equal to a maximum
amount of US$ 25 million (under the conditions of Section 3.2 below), as consideration for both (a) the Intellectual Property included in the
Transferred Assets and (b)
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the molds included in the Transferred Assets (such molds being referred to as the “Transferred Molds”).

     The Initial Purchase Price is exclusive of any VAT and any transfer taxes in respect of which the provisions of Sections 11.3(b) and (c) shall apply. The
Initial Purchase Price shall be paid by the Purchaser to Parent acting for itself and on behalf of the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers, subject to any
additional legal requirements contained in any relevant Local Agreement relating to any direct payments required thereunder or as otherwise agreed by the
Purchaser and Parent. The Additional IP and Molds Price, if any, shall be paid by the Purchaser to Parent pursuant to Section 3.2 below.
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ARTICLE III

INITIAL PURCHASE PRICE ADJUSTMENT; IP AND MOLDS ADDITIONAL PRICE

Section 3.1 Initial Purchase Price Adjustment

     (a) As promptly as practicable, but no later than 60 days following the Closing Date, Parent will prepare and deliver or cause to be prepared and delivered
to the Purchaser, a statement (the “Financial Certificate”), that sets forth (i) the aggregate amount of Cash of the EHP Business as of the Closing Date (the
“Closing Date Cash Position”), (ii) the aggregate amount of the Financial Debt, if any, of the EHP Business as of the Closing Date (the “Closing Date
Financial Debt”) and (iii) the Net Working Capital of the EHP Business, giving effect to the Secondary Transfers (as defined in Section 6.2(a)), as of the
Closing Date (the “Closing Net Working Capital”). The Closing Date Cash Position and the Closing Date Financial Debt shall be prepared and the Closing
Date Net Working Capital shall be determined in accordance with the accounting principles specified in Schedule 3.1(a) hereto (the “Agreed Accounting
Principles”), which reflect the principles used in the preparation of the Net Working Capital Position (all as defined in Section 4.6) applied on a consistent
basis throughout the periods specified in Section 4.6. The Closing Net Working Capital shall take into account the physical inventory performed in
accordance with Section 6.3(c).

     For purposes of this Section 3.1(a), the Purchaser shall cause all the Transferred Subsidiaries and their respective employees to, and shall, (i) assist Parent,
the Business Sellers and the Stock Sellers in the preparation of the Financial Certificate and (ii) provide Parent, the Business Sellers and the Stock Sellers and
its accountants and advisors reasonable access during normal business hours to such personnel, books and records as may be necessary for the preparation of
the Financial Certificate, until the delivery of the Financial Certificate.

     (b) Following receipt of the Financial Certificate, the Purchaser shall have 30 days from the date of such receipt (the “Review Period”) to review such
document. In connection with such review, Parent shall grant the Purchaser reasonable access to its records relating to the EHP Business, to the extent
retained by Parent or any Business Seller or Stock Seller. If the Purchaser in good faith disagrees with any item or amount shown or reflected in the Financial
Certificate, the Purchaser may, on or prior to the last day of the Review Period, deliver a notice to Parent setting forth, in reasonable detail, each disputed item
or amount and the basis for the Purchaser’s disagreement therewith, together with supporting calculations (the “Dispute Notice”). If no Dispute Notice is
received by Parent on or prior to the last day of the Review Period, the Financial Certificate shall be deemed accepted by the Purchaser.

     (c) If Parent and the Purchaser shall not have resolved all of the issues set forth in the Dispute Notice within 30 days after Parent’s receipt of the Dispute
Notice,
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not later than five days thereafter Parent and the Purchaser shall jointly contact, first, the Paris office of Mazard & Guérard, and if such firm is not able to
provide the services required hereunder, then Groupe Constantin, and if such firm is not able to provide the services required hereunder, an accounting firm
experienced in international transactions as designated by the President of the Paris Commercial Court, acting en référé at the initiative of either Parent of the
Purchaser. The independent accounting firm retained by Parent and the Purchaser pursuant to the preceding sentence (the “Accountant”) shall act as an
arbitrator (as contemplated by article 1592 of the French Civil Code) to determine, based solely on the written submissions of the Purchaser and Parent, and
not by way of an independent review, only those items still in dispute, which items shall be submitted to the Accountant by Parent and the Purchaser within
10 days of the Accountant being retained.

     (d) The Accountant’s determination with respect to each of the disputed items specified in the Dispute Notice shall be made within 30 days of the
submission of the items remaining in dispute under the Dispute Notice, and shall be set forth in a report (the “Adjustment Report”), with the revisions, if any,
to be made to the Financial Certificate, Closing Date Cash Position, Closing Date Financial Debt, or the Closing Net Working Capital, together with
supporting calculations. The fees and expenses of Accountant shall be borne by (i) the Purchaser if application of the provisions of this Section 3.1(d) results
in no net adjustment being made or a net adjustment being made in favor of Parent and (ii) by Parent if application of the provisions of this Section 3.1(d)
results in a net adjustment being made in favor of the Purchaser. The Adjustment Report shall be final and binding upon Parent and the Purchaser.

     (e) The Initial Purchase Price shall be (i) increased on a dollar-for-dollar basis by the Adjusted Closing Date Cash Position and (ii) decreased on a dollar-
for-dollar basis by (A) the Adjusted Closing Date Financial Debt and (B) the amount by which the Adjusted Closing Net Working Capital is less than
€34 million (the net amount of such decreases, being the “Adjustment”). The term “Adjusted Closing Date Cash Position” shall mean the Closing Date Cash
Position that is set forth in the Adjusted Financial Certificate (as defined below). The term “Adjusted Closing Date Financial Debt” shall mean the Closing
Date Financial Debt that is set forth in the Adjusted Financial Certificate. The term “Adjusted Closing Net Working Capital” shall mean the Net Working
Capital of the EHP Business the amount of which is set forth on the Adjusted Financial Certificate. The term “Adjusted Financial Certificate” shall mean the
definitive Financial Certificate agreed or deemed to have been agreed to by Parent and the Purchaser in accordance with Section 3.1(b) or the definitive
Financial Certificate resulting from the determinations made by the Accountant in accordance with Section 3.1(d) (in addition to those items, if any,
theretofore agreed to by Parent and the Purchaser).

     (f) Following the delivery of the Adjusted Financial Certificate, if the Adjustment is less than or equal to US$5 million, the amount of the Adjustment,
together with interest on the amount of such Adjustment at the rate equal to the three-month Euribor rate (as published by the European Banking Federation
on the Closing Date) during the period lasting from the Closing Date until the date of delivery of the
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Adjusted Financial Certificate, shall be applied and set-off against the amount of the Note, which shall be reduced by the amount of such Adjustment without
further action by either Parent or the Purchaser.

     If the amount of the Adjustment is greater than US$5 million, the excess above US$5 million shall be applied as follows: (i) up to the first US$2 million
(A) one half shall be applied and offset against the first payments due from Purchaser to Parent under Section 3.2 hereof (provided that Parent’s obligation in
respect of this one-half portion of the Adjustment shall be limited to the aggregate amount of the Purchaser’s payment obligations arising under Section 3.2)
and (B) one half shall be paid by Parent to the Purchaser no more than 30 days after the delivery of the Adjusted Financial Certificate (or after the date on
which the Financial Certificate shall be deemed to constitute the Adjusted Financial Certificate); and (ii) any amounts beyond US$2 million shall be paid by
Parent to the Purchaser no more than 30 days after the delivery of the Adjusted Financial Certificate (or after the date on which the Financial Certificate shall
be deemed to constitute the Adjusted Financial Certificate);

     Any payment under this Section 3.1(f) shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account of the Purchaser, such account having
been designated in writing at least two Business Days prior to the date on which such payment is scheduled to be made.

     (g) All amounts used or calculated in this Section 3.1 and denominated in currency other than US dollars shall first be determined in such other currency
and then translated into US dollars using the prevailing spot rate of exchange on the Closing Date as published by Bloomberg on the Business Day
immediately following the Closing Date.

     All payments to be made under this Agreement, unless otherwise specified, shall be made in US dollars.

Section 3.2 Additional IP and Molds Price

     (a) Parent (for subsequent distribution to Rubbermaid BV under the sole responsibility of Parent) shall be entitled to the payment of Additional IP and
Molds Price based on the provisions of this Section 3.2, as additional consideration for the Intellectual Property and the Transferred Molds.

     (b) The Additional IP and Molds Price shall be calculated based on the cumulative Adjusted EBIT for the five fiscal years ending December 31, 2005
through December 31, 2009, inclusive (the “Earn Out Period”), it being agreed that (A) the first fiscal year will include only the period from the Closing Date
to December 31, 2005, (B) the Adjusted EBIT shall include (i) an adjustment equal to 5% of the combined net sales of the EHP Business to approximate
corporate charge expenses, which amount shall be added to the selling, general and administrative expenses incurred by the EHP Business, provided that the
Purchaser shall provide a list of items included in such 5% adjustment and shall deliver a certificate stating that such expenses have not already been included
in the profit and loss statement of the
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EHP Business and (ii) the profits generated by any of the Purchaser’s Subsidiaries or Affiliates from the use of any Assets of the Transferred Subsidiaries or
Transferred Assets, to the extent that such Assets or any right attached thereto have been transferred, leased or licensed, or otherwise made available to such
Purchaser’s Subsidiary or Affiliates, at any time during the Earn Out Period, and (C) the aggregate amount to be paid to Parent in connection with such
Additional IP and Molds Price shall be capped at US$25 million. The Additional IP and Molds Price payable by the Purchaser to Parent shall amount for each
relevant fiscal year to the total of 50% of the cumulative Adjusted EBIT (as determined in accordance with Section 3.2(e) below) generated by the EHP
Business from the Closing Date through the end of such fiscal year less amounts previously paid pursuant to this Section 3.2. Payments of the Additional IP
and Molds Price that may become due for any relevant fiscal year shall be made not later than three months after the end of such fiscal year (subject to any
potential dispute regarding any item of the EHP Business Financial Statements in accordance with Section 3.2(e) below).

     (c) For purposes of this Section 3.2, the Adjusted EBIT for each fiscal year during the Earn Out Period shall be determined on the basis of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the EHP Business for the relevant fiscal year (collectively the “EHP Business Financial Statements”), including the
consolidated balance sheet of the EHP Business for each such fiscal year and the related consolidated profit and loss statement of the EHP Business for each
such fiscal year and all annexes and notes thereto.

     The EHP Business Financial Statements shall be based on IFRS and shall be prepared in accordance with accounting principles to be negotiated in good
faith and agreed upon by Parent and the Purchaser no later than June 30, 2005.

     (d) As soon as practicable after the end of each relevant fiscal year, but (A) in no event later than March 31 of the following year, the Purchaser shall
prepare and deliver the unaudited financial statements for the EHP Business (the “EHP Unaudited Financial Statements”) for such fiscal year to Parent and
(B) in no event later than September 30 of the following year, the Purchaser shall prepare and deliver the EHP Business Financial Statements for such fiscal
year to Parent. The Purchaser shall deliver the EHP Unaudited Financial Statements and EHP Business Financial Statements for the respective entities as each
is finalized. Simultaneously with the delivery of the last EHP Business Financial Statements to Parent, the Purchaser will deliver to Parent a report from its
statutory auditors indicating the amount of the Adjusted EBIT generated by the EHP Business for the fiscal year covered by such EHP Business Financial
Statements and the cumulative Adjusted EBIT since the beginning of the Earn Out Period (the “Adjusted EBIT Report”). The said statutory auditors shall
prepare its report in accordance with this Agreement. For the purposes of this Section 3.2, in each fiscal year during the Earn Out Period, the Purchaser shall
provide, and shall cause all of the Transferred Subsidiaries and their respective employees to, provide to the respective accountants and advisors appointed by
Parent, the Business Sellers and the Stock Sellers (subject to confidentiality agreements to be signed by these accountants and advisors) reasonable access
during normal business hours to the books, records and the financial officers of the entities conducting the
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EHP Business, beginning upon Parent’s receipt of the EHP Unaudited Financial Statements for each such entity and until, for each relevant fiscal year, the
earlier of (i) the date that the Purchaser and Parent reach agreement on the EHP Unaudited Financial Statements or EHP Business Financial Statements and
the Adjusted EBIT Report, as the case may be, for such fiscal year or (ii) the end of the 30-day period referred to in Section 3.2(e).

     (e) In the event that Parent in good faith disagrees with any item in the EHP Business Financial Statements or the Adjusted EBIT Report, Parent shall,
within 30 days of the delivery of all EHP Business Financial Statements or the Adjusted EBIT Report, whichever is later, deliver a written notice of such
disagreement to the Purchaser, specifying in reasonable detail the amount by which and the reasons why Parent believes particular line items in such EHP
Business Financial Statements contain errors or were not prepared in accordance with the accounting principles applied as set forth in Section 3.2(a) and
setting forth Parent’s proposed adjustments.

     Thereafter, the Purchaser and Parent shall resolve such disagreement in the manner set forth in Sections 3.1(c) and (d), except that the fees and expenses of
the Accountant shall be borne by Parent if application of the provisions of this Section 3.2(e) results in no net adjustment being made and by the Purchaser if
application of the provisions of this Section 3.2(e) results in a net adjustment being made in favor of Parent.

     (f) Any payment that may become due from the Purchaser to Parent (on behalf of the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers) under this Section 3.2 shall be
made on (i) the date that is 30 days after the date on which all EHP Unaudited Financial Statements have been delivered to Parent if Parent notifies the
Purchaser in writing that it has no disagreement with such EHP Unaudited Financial Statements or (ii) if Parent does not deliver such notice, the earlier of (A)
the date that is 30 days after the date on which all EHP Business Financial Statements and the Adjusted EBIT Report have been delivered to Parent if no
notice of disagreement is delivered pursuant to Section 3.2(e), (B) the date that is 10 days after the date that the Purchaser and Parent reach agreement on the
EHP Business Financial Statements and the Adjusted EBIT Report pursuant to Section 3.2(e), or (C) the date that is 10 days after the date of delivery of the
report of the Accountant to Parent and the Purchaser.

     Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event any payment is made pursuant to clause (i) above, if there is a discrepancy between the EHP Unaudited
Financial Statements and the EHP Business Financial Statements that results in different payment being due to Parent, the difference will be paid by one party
to the other within 10 days of the earliest to occur of the events specified in clause (ii) above.

     (g) Any payment under this Section 3.2 shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account of Parent, such account having been
designated by Parent in writing at least two Business Days prior to the date on which such payment is scheduled to be made. All amounts used or calculated
in this Section 3.2 and denominated in currency other than US dollars shall first be determined in such other currency and then translated into US dollars
using the prevailing spot rate
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of exchange in effect on the day which is three Business Days before the date of each relevant wire transfer, as published by Bloomberg on the immediately
following Business Day.

     (h) From the Closing Date until the payment in full of the Additional IP and Molds Price, the Purchaser will maintain a set of financial records for the EHP
Business separate and distinct from the Purchaser and the Purchaser’s other activities (unless the Purchaser operates only the EHP Business).

     (i) No Affiliate of Purchaser that is acquiring Transferred Assets and/or assuming Assumed Liabilities shall have on the Closing Date any operational
activity or material Assets or Liabilities (the “Purchaser EHP Entities”) other than those acquired pursuant to this Agreement. Should the Purchaser desire to
undertake any reorganization as a result of which (A) any material operational activity, material Asset or liability of any of the Purchaser EHP Entities is
transferred to any Affiliate of Purchaser other than those reflected in the EHP Business Financial Statements or any third parties, (B) any Purchaser EHP
Entity engages in any material operational activity or acquires material Assets or assumes Liabilities other than those relating primarily to the conduct of the
EHP Business, it shall give Parent prompt notice thereof. In the event that such reorganization would potentially have a negative impact on the Adjusted
EBIT, Parent and the Purchaser shall meet to discuss in good faith appropriate adjustments to the Purchaser’s obligations under this Section 3.2.
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ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLERS

     Unless the context otherwise requires, specific references in this Article IV to the Business Sellers or to a Business Seller shall be deemed to refer to each
or such Business Seller only in connection with the conduct of each or such Business Seller’s portion of the EHP Business and only with respect to its
Transferred Assets and/or Assumed Liabilities, and not to any unrelated business, activity, Asset or Liability of such Business Seller.

     As of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, Parent hereby represents and warrants, for its own account and on behalf of each of the Stock Sellers and
the Business Sellers, as the case may be, to the Purchaser as follows:

Section 4.1 Authorization, Validity and Execution of the Agreement

     Parent has the requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and all Ancillary Documents, to perform its obligations
hereunder and thereunder and to consummate or cause the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers to consummate the transactions to be consummated by
Parent or each such Stock Seller or Business Seller as contemplated hereunder and thereunder. Each Stock Seller and Business Seller has (or will have on the
Closing Date) the requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver the Ancillary Documents and any other document to which it may be party in
consummating the transactions to be consummated by such Stock Seller or Business Seller hereunder and to perform its obligations under this Agreement and
under the applicable Ancillary Documents.

     The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all Ancillary Documents by Parent, the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers, and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby by Parent, the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers, have been or as of the Closing Date
shall have been duly authorized and approved by the respective boards of management, supervisory boards, boards of directors or other managing bodies of
Parent, the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers, and, as of the Closing Date, no other corporate or stockholder action on the part of Parent or its
stockholders shall be necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all Ancillary Documents by Parent and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby by Parent.

     This Agreement and all Ancillary Documents executed or to be executed by Parent will, when duly executed, and assuming the due execution of such
agreement by the other parties thereto, constitute valid and binding obligations of Parent (or, with respect to obligations assumed under this Agreement or any
Ancillary Document on behalf of the Business Sellers and the Stock Sellers, of such Business Sellers and such Stock Sellers), enforceable against Parent or,
as the case may be, against such Stock Sellers or Business Sellers in accordance with their terms, except to the extent that
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enforceability may be subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, receivership and similar laws affecting the enforcement of
creditors’ rights generally.

Section 4.2 No Conflicts; Consents and Approvals

     (a) The execution and delivery of, and the performance by each of Parent, the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers of their respective obligations under
this Agreement and all Ancillary Documents to which it is or will be a party will not result in:

 (i)  Any conflict with Parent’s, Stock Seller’s or Business Seller’s articles of association, certificate of incorporation, by-laws or other comparable
constitutional document;

 
 (ii)  Subject to obtaining the consents, approvals or authorizations referred to in Section 4.2(b) below, any breach or violation of or default under

any law, regulation, judgment, order or Permit (as defined in Section 4.13) or any agreement or other instrument to which Parent, the Stock
Seller or Business Seller is party or by which it or its Assets are bound; or

 
 (iii)  The creation or imposition of any liens, security interests, adverse claims, charges or encumbrances (“Liens”) upon any of the properties and

Assets of Parent, any Stock Seller or any Business Seller other than Liens created by or resulting from the actions or omissions of the Purchaser
or any of its Subsidiaries;

     Except for, in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii) above, such breaches, violations, defaults, and Liens that would not, individually or in the aggregate,
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

     (b) No consent, approval or authorization of or filing with any third party or any Governmental Authority is required on the part of any of Parent, the Stock
Sellers or the Business Sellers in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents or the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, except (i) as set forth in Schedule 4.2(b), or (ii) for defaults of consent, approval, authorization or filings that
would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.3 Corporate Status

     Each of Parent, the Business Sellers and the Transferred Subsidiaries is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of its jurisdiction
of organization, and each has all requisite corporate power and authority to conduct its material businesses and to own or lease its material properties, as now
conducted, owned or leased.
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     Each relevant Stock Seller is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization and each has, prior to the
execution of this Agreement and any Ancillary Documents, made available to the Purchaser copies of the articles of association, certificate of incorporation,
by-laws or other comparable constitutional documents, each as amended to date, of each relevant Transferred Subsidiary.

Section 4.4 Capital Stock of Transferred Subsidiaries

     (a) Exhibit B to this Agreement lists, with respect to each Transferred Subsidiary, the jurisdiction of its organization and the ownership of the Transferred
Stock. The Transferred Stock has been duly authorized and validly issued and, to the extent applicable in the jurisdictions in which the Transferred
Subsidiaries are organized and as indicated in Exhibit B, is fully paid up.

     (b) Except as disclosed on Exhibit B, there are no outstanding options, warrants, conversion or other rights or agreements of any kind (other than
contemplated by or pursuant to this Agreement and any Ancillary Document) relating to the issuance, sale, purchase, redemption, repurchase, conversion,
exchange, registration, control, voting or transfer of any shares of capital stock of any of the Transferred Subsidiaries, and no authorization therefor has been
given. Each Stock Seller owns beneficially and of record the Transferred Stock indicated on Exhibit B as owned by such Stock Seller, free and clear of any
Liens, except as disclosed on Exhibit B.

     (c) There is no shareholders agreement or similar agreement that restricts the rights of Rubbermaid BV (a) in respect of the shares of Rubbermaid Iberia
S.A. owned by it or (b) in the management of such company.

     (d) All Accounts Receivable relating to the EHP Business (i) as of September 30, 2004 have been properly allocated and reflected in the Net Working
Capital Positions and (ii) as of the Closing Date shall be transferred on the Closing Date even if the benefit of those is owned by any Subsidiary or Affiliate of
Parent that is not an EHP Subsidiary.

Section 4.5 Equity Interests

     None of the Transferred Subsidiaries owns, directly or indirectly, any capital stock of, or other equity interest in, any Person, nor are they a member of or
participant in any partnership, joint venture or similar Person.

   Section 4.6 Financial Statements

     (a) Attached as Schedule 4.6(a) are copies of (i) the unaudited statements as of September 30, 2004 of (A) the respective net working capital positions (the
“Net Working Capital Positions”) and (B) the fixed assets positions (the “Fixed Assets Positions”), in each case, of each of the Transferred Subsidiaries (after
giving effect to the Secondary Transfers) and the Business Sellers (in the case of the Business Sellers reflecting only the Transferred Assets and the Assumed
Liabilities) and (ii) for each
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Transferred Subsidiary, (A) the audited statutory financial statements of each Transferred Subsidiary as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001 (the “Statutory Financial Statements”) and (B) the unaudited balance sheets of each Transferred Subsidiary as of September 30, 2004 (the
“Unaudited Balance Sheets”).

     (b) Attached as Schedule 4.6(b) are copies of the unaudited profit and loss statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 and for the nine-month
period ended September 30, 2004 relating to the EHP Business assuming the allocation of operating expenses as conducted under the ownership of Parent, the
Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers.

     (c) The Statutory Financial Statements have been audited by the statutory auditors of such Transferred Subsidiary to the extent required by law, and such
Statutory Financial Statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position and results of operations of such Transferred Subsidiary for the
periods to which they relate.

Section 4.7 Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities, Third-Party Guarantees

     (a) No Transferred Subsidiary has any Liability or Financial Debt arising from its operation of the EHP Business that is not reflected or reserved against in
its unaudited balance sheet as of September 30, 2004, except for (i) Liabilities or obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practice since September 30, 2004, and (ii) Liabilities or obligations which, individually or in the aggregate, would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

     No Business Seller has any Liability arising from its operation of the EHP Business that is not reflected or reserved against in the Net Working Capital
Positions of September 30, 2004, except for (i) Liabilities or obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice since
September 30, 2004, and (ii) Liabilities or obligations which, individually or in the aggregate, would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

     (b) None of the obligations or Liabilities of any Transferred Subsidiary is guaranteed by or subject to a similar contingent obligation of any other Person
who is not an Affiliate of Parent and no Transferred Subsidiary has guaranteed any obligations or Liabilities of any Person.

Section 4.8 Assets

     (a) The Business Sellers and the Transferred Subsidiaries have, and immediately following the Closing Date, the Purchaser EHP Entities shall have, good
title to all Assets as reflected in the Fixed Assets Positions or thereafter acquired, except those which have been sold or otherwise disposed of since
September 30, 2004 in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, and any Asset reflected in the Fixed Assets Positions that relate
exclusively to the non- EHP Business, and a valid right as lessee in each of the Assets listed as leased Assets in Schedules 4.8(c) and 1.3, and in each case
subject to no Liens except for (i) Permitted
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Liens and (ii) Liens listed in Schedule 4.8(a), provided, that for any Lien referred to in clause (i), any such lien either is for an amount no greater than
US$15,000 or does not substantially impair the use and enjoyment of the asset to which it relates. This clause (a) does not relate to real property, intellectual
property or interests in real property or intellectual property.

     (b) Schedule 4.8(b)(I) sets forth a list of (i) items of real property owned by each of the Transferred Subsidiaries (which includes, for the purpose of this
Section 4.8(b), the droit de superficie relating to land located in Niedercorn held by Rubbermaid Luxembourg Sàrl under an agreement with the Grand Duchy
of Luxembourg), and (ii) items of real property owned by each of the Business Sellers included in the Transferred Assets (collectively the “Owned Real
Property”). Each of the Transferred Subsidiaries or Business Sellers has good title to its real property included in the Owned Real Property, free and clear of
all Liens except (i) such as are set forth in Schedule 4.8(b)(II) (the “Permitted Real Estate Liens”), (ii) leases and similar agreements set forth in
Schedule 4.8(b)(III), and (iii) Liens consisting of zoning or planning restrictions, easements, permits and other restrictions or limitations on the use of real
property or irregularities in title thereto which do not materially or impair the use of such property by the relevant Transferred Subsidiary or Business Seller,
provided, that this clause (iii) shall in no way restrict the representation made in Section 4.13.

     (c) Schedule 4.8(c)(I) sets forth a list of all real property leased by the Transferred Subsidiaries or subject to the lease agreements included in the
Transferred Assets by the Business Sellers, which in each case involve an annual expenditure by any relevant Transferred Subsidiary or Business Seller of
more than US $ 15,000 (the “Leased Real Property”). Except as set forth in Schedule 4.8(c)(II), each of the Transferred Subsidiaries or Business Sellers has
good and valid title to its leasehold estates included in all Leased Real Property. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.8(c)(II), with respect to each lease and
sublease of Leased Real Property, (i) no lease or sublease to which any Transferred Subsidiary is a party requires any permission or consent upon a change in
control of such company, and (ii) none of the Transferred Subsidiaries or Business Sellers has received written notice that it is in breach or default in any
material respect under any such lease or sublease.

     (d) The Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property (collectively the “Real Property”) have the benefit of such rights and easements as are
necessary for the existing use of the Real Property.

     (e) All Assets relating primarily to the EHP Business (i) as of September 30, 2004 have been accounted for or are reflected in the Net Working Capital
Positions or the Fixed Assets Positions and (ii) as of the Closing Date, shall be transferred even if the benefit of such Assets is owned by any Subsidiary or
Affiliate of Parent that is not an EHP Subsidiary (it being understood that some intellectual property may not have been reflected as Assets in the Fixed
Assets Position, and except that this paragraph (e) shall not apply to Accounts Receivables).

Section 4.9 Absence of Certain Changes or Events
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     Except as set forth in Schedule 4.9, since September 30, 2004, other than in connection with transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including the
transfer of Assets and Liabilities contemplated in Section 6.2(a)) or reflected in the Schedules attached hereto, there has been no event which has had a
Material Adverse Effect, and each of the Transferred Subsidiaries and the Business Sellers has conducted the EHP Business in the ordinary course and in
substantially the same manner as previously conducted.

Section 4.10 Litigation; Product Liability Claims

     (a) Except as set forth in Schedule 4.10(a), there is no action, suit or proceeding at law or in equity by any Person pending or, to the knowledge of each of
the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers, threatened against any Transferred Subsidiary or Business Seller which (a) relates to or involves uninsured
amounts of more than US$15,000.

     (b) None of the Transferred Subsidiaries or Business Sellers has been permanently or temporarily enjoined or barred by any order, judgment or decree of
or agreement with any Governmental Authority from engaging in or continuing any conduct or practice in connection with the EHP Business, and there is no
outstanding order, judgment, ruling, injunction or decree requiring any Transferred Subsidiary or Business Seller to take action with respect to the EHP
Business.

     (c) Over the course of the last three years prior to the Closing Date, there has been no exceptional increase or variation in the rate of claims and returns
concerning products manufactured or sold by the EHP Subsidiaries in the conduct of the EHP Business, as presented in Schedule 4.10(c)(I). Except as is not
reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect or as set forth in Schedule 4.10(c)(II), as of the date hereof, there are no pending or, to the knowledge of
Parent and each of the Transferred Subsidiaries and Business Sellers, threatened product liability claims with respect to any products manufactured or sold by
the EHP Subsidiaries in the conduct of the EHP Business.

     Parent hereby disclaims any representation or warranty, whether express or implied, regarding the quality, condition, merchantability or fitness for any
particular purpose of the products manufactured or sold by the EHP Subsidiaries in the conduct of the EHP Business and transferred to the Purchaser as part
of the Transferred Assets or as part of the Assets of the Transferred Subsidiaries, such products being acquired by the Purchaser and delivered “as is, where
is” in the condition in which such products exist as of the Closing Date.

Section 4.11 Intellectual Property

     (a) Schedule 4.11(a) sets forth a list of trademarks, trade names, patents, designs, models and drawings, domain names and similar rights that are registered
or subject to an application for registration and products under development, in each case owned, used, filed by, licensed to or being developed by (i) the
Transferred Subsidiaries, which are necessary for the conduct of and used exclusively in their
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portion of the EHP Business, or (ii) the Business Sellers for use exclusively in the EHP Business which are part of the Transferred Assets, and in particular
the “Curver” brands (the “Intellectual Property”). The Intellectual Property constitutes all of the intellectual property used in the EHP Business as currently
conducted other than the Excluded Assets described in Section 1.4(b).The Transferred Subsidiaries and the Business Sellers own or possess adequate licenses
or other valid rights to use all Intellectual Property.

     (b) Except as set forth in Schedule 4.11(b), none of the Transferred Subsidiaries is bound by or a party to any material options, licenses or agreements of
any kind relating to the intellectual property of any other Person, except for agreements relating to computer software licensed to any Transferred Subsidiary
in the ordinary course of business and in connection with the EHP Business. Subject to the rights of third parties set forth in Schedule 4.11(b) and except for
Permitted Liens, all Intellectual Property is free and clear of all Liens.

     (c) Except as set forth in Schedule 4.11(c), there are no claims pending or, to the knowledge of each of Parent, the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers
threatened as of the date of this Agreement against any of the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Business Sellers that challenge the ownership, validity,
enforceability, effectiveness or use of any Intellectual Property, and within the period of one year preceding the date hereof, none of the Transferred
Subsidiaries nor any of the Business Sellers has received in writing any communications alleging that the operation of the EHP Business violates any rights
relating to intellectual property of any Person.

Section 4.12 Taxes

     (a) Tax Returns. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.12(a), each of the Transferred Subsidiaries has duly filed with the appropriate tax authorities in a timely
and legally manner (taking into account applicable extensions) all material returns, statements, forms and reports (“Tax Returns”) for Taxes that were required
to be filed by, or with respect to, such Transferred Subsidiary prior to the date hereof, and all such Tax Returns were true, correct and complete in all material
respects when filed. As used herein, “Tax” or “Taxes” means all income taxes, franchise taxes, withholding taxes, national insurance taxes, valued-added,
sales and use taxes, excise taxes, real property taxes, stamp taxes, transfer taxes and other taxes or governmental charges related to the EHP Business or its
establishment (other than governmental or quasi-governmental plans or arrangements relating to retirement, pension, disability medical and health insurance
and similar items and unemployment taxes, fringe benefit taxes and other taxes based upon employee wages, which are the subject solely of Section 4.14),
together with all interest and penalties payable with respect thereto.

     (b) Payment of Taxes. Each of the Transferred Subsidiaries and each of the Business Sellers, but only with respect to the Transferred Assets and/or the
Assumed Liabilities, has paid or accrued all material Taxes shown to be due on such Tax Returns other than such Taxes that are being contested in good faith
by or on behalf of
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such Transferred Subsidiary or Business Seller provided that in case of failure of such claim the principles set forth in Section 7.1(a) shall prevail. For the
purposes of the preceding sentence, “material Taxes” means all Taxes whose non-payment as of the Closing Date could, in theory, generate penalties of more
than US$2,500 per tax statement, notice or other request for payment. The parties hereto agree that any claim for indemnification relating to this
Section 4.12(b) shall be settled in accordance with the provisions of Article VII of this Agreement.

     (c) No Tax Allocation

     The Transferred Subsidiaries have entered into no Tax allocation agreements with any other party under which the Purchaser or the Transferred
Subsidiaries could be liable for any Taxes of any third party, including without limitation Parent or any of its Affiliates.

     (d) Tax Losses Carry Forward

     Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, it is expressly understood and agreed that Parent (for its own account and on behalf of the
Stock Sellers) does not make any representation or warranty to the Purchaser, express or implied, with respect to any amount of Tax losses carry forward
which have been incurred by the Transferred Subsidiaries at any time prior to the Closing Date nor shall Parent or any Stock Seller assume any liability under
this Agreement in connection with any damage or liability suffered by the Purchaser or the Transferred Subsidiaries on and after the Closing Date as a result
of any change in the amount of such Tax losses carry forward, including if such damage or liability (in whole or in part) is a result of a reduction of the
aggregate amount of such Tax losses carry forward.

     It is agreed that such Tax losses carry forward shall be used by the relevant Transferred Subsidiaries only for the purposes of the Secondary Transfers, the
completion of transactions set forth in this Agreement or in the regular course of business.

Section 4.13 Compliance with Laws; Permits

     (a) Each of the Transferred Subsidiaries and the Business Sellers is in compliance with all laws, regulations, orders, judgments and decrees applicable to
the EHP Business, except where the failure to be in compliance would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

     (b) Each of the Transferred Subsidiaries and the Business Sellers possesses all licenses, certificates of authority, permits or other authorizations (“Permits”)
necessary for the ownership of their respective properties and the conduct of the EHP Business as currently conducted in each jurisdiction in which such
Transferred Subsidiary or Business Seller is required to possess a Permit in connection with the conduct of the EHP Business, except where the failure to
possess such Permit would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
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     (c) All such Permits are in full force and effect in all material respects and none of the Transferred Subsidiaries or Business Sellers has received any
written notice of any event, inquiry, investigation or proceeding threatening the validity of such Permits, except where any inaccuracy of the foregoing would
not have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.13(c), each of the Transferred Subsidiaries and the Business Sellers has filed with the
appropriate authorities in a timely manner (taking into account applicable extensions) the necessary applications and documentation to obtain the renewal of
the Permits in due course. This Section 4.13 does not relate to Taxes, which are the subject solely of Section 4.12, benefit plans or employee and labor
matters, which are the subject solely of Section 4.14, or environmental matters, which are the subject solely of Section 4.16.

     (d) Each of the Transferred Subsidiaries and the Business Seller that received subsidies prior to the Closing Date from any Governmental Authority is
operating the EHP Business in compliance with all conditions legally and contractually imposed by such Governmental Authority for the continued receipt of
such subsidies.

Section 4.14 Employment Agreements and Benefits; Labor Matters

     (a) Schedule 4.14(a) lists all (i) the collective bargaining agreements, and (ii) the profit sharing, pension, welfare, retirement, bonus, incentive
compensation, stock option, deferred compensation or other written material employee benefit or compensation plans, agreements or commitments for the
benefit of the Affected Employees, other than those which relate to governmental or quasi-governmental pension, social security plans or arrangements
(including governmental or quasi-governmental retirement, disability, medical and health coverage and similar plans or arrangements), into which each of the
Transferred Subsidiaries or the Business Sellers has entered primarily in the conduct of the EHP Business and relating to the Affected Employees.

     (b) Schedule 4.14(b) contains a list of all Affected Employees as of the date hereof. To the extent not reflected in Schedule 4.14(b) as of the date of this
Agreement, Parent has made available to the Purchaser information regarding the Stock Transferred Employees and the Business Transferred Employees,
including their numbers and categories, the details of their wages or salaries and their respective status.

     (c) Except as set forth in Schedule 4.14(c), each of the Transferred Subsidiaries and the Business Sellers and the Affiliates of Parent employing the Other
Affected Employees (for whom such representations are made as to the Other Affected Employees only and not any other employees of such entity):

 (i)  Has made all material required contributions under all employee benefit plans that are in the nature of defined-contribution pension or retirement
plans (i.e., employee benefit plans under which the Business Sellers’, the Transferred Subsidiaries’ or
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    relevant Affiliate of Parent’s obligation is limited to the obligation to make specified contributions as opposed to providing specified benefits) for
all Stock Transferred Employees and former employees of the Transferred Subsidiaries and all Business Transferred Employees and former
employees of the Business Sellers employed primarily in the conduct of the EHP Business and all Other Affected Employees employed by such
entity, whether managed by governmental or quasi-governmental entities or otherwise, other than contributions not yet payable;

 
 (ii)  Has funded its material obligations with respect to all employee benefit plans that are in the nature of defined-benefit pension or retirement plans

(i.e., employee benefit plans under which the Business Sellers’, the Transferred Subsidiaries’ or relevant Affiliate of Parent’s obligation includes
an obligation to provide specified benefits to its employees or former employees) for all Stock Transferred Employees and former employees of
the Transferred Subsidiaries and all Business Transferred Employees and former employees of the Business Sellers employed primarily in the
conduct of the EHP Business and all Other Affected Employees employed by such entity, either (A) by transfers of funds to reputable insurance
companies or other independent organizations that have undertaken to pay all such pensions, retirement benefits or indemnities (and to assume all
financial and actuarial risks involved therewith), or (B) by accruals of provisions (reserves) on its books or through contributions to trusts or
similar funds, in each case of amounts sufficient to cover the material obligations under each such plan in accordance with the historical
accounting policies of the relevant Transferred Subsidiaries, Business Sellers or Parent’s Affiliate employing Other Affected Employees;

 
 (iii)  Has filed with the appropriate authorities in a timely manner (taking into account applicable extensions) all material returns, statements, forms and

reports for unemployment taxes, fringe benefit taxes and other taxes based upon employee wages and for all social security contributions and other
social charges that were required to be filed by, or with respect to, such Transferred Subsidiary or Business Seller or relevant Affiliate of Parent
prior to the date hereof, and has made any withholding of Taxes required to be made by applicable law; and

 
 (iv)  Has made all required contributions and payments relating to taxes and social security referred to in (iii) above.

     (d) Except as set forth in Schedule 4.14(d), no labor strike or work stoppage is occurring, nor in the last twelve months has occurred, or, to the knowledge
of each
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of Parent, the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers, is or in the last twelve months has been threatened against the Transferred Subsidiaries or the EHP
Business.

     (e) None of the Business Sellers or Transferred Subsidiaries is party to any contractual arrangement to make material changes relating to remuneration,
benefits or other terms of employment or to establish any new bonus arrangements for the Affected Employees after the date hereof and no such measure has
been taken with respect to any Other Affected Employee, other than those disclosed in Schedule 4.14(e) for which a sufficient reserve has been constituted.

     (f) Except as set forth in Schedule 4.14(f), within the period of one year preceding the date hereof, none of the Business Sellers or the Transferred
Subsidiaries has been obligated by statute to give notice of the termination of any of their respective employees to a relevant authority or has started
consultations with any employee representative body, relating to any such termination and no such measure has been taken with respect to any Other Affected
Employee.

     (g) Except as set forth in Schedule 4.14(g), none of the Stock Transferred Employees, the Business Transferred Employees or the Other Affected
Employees are employed under a split-payroll arrangement, and none of the Stock Transferred Employees, the Business Transferred Employees or the Other
Affected Employees have any rights, upon termination of employment, that are in excess of rights provided under applicable law (including any collective
bargaining agreement).

Section 4.15 Insurance

     The insurance policies owned by each of the Transferred Subsidiaries and the Business Sellers are in full force and effect in all material respects and
protect the EHP Business against such losses and risks as is consistent with industry practice, all premiums due and payable thereon have been paid (other
than retroactive or retrospective premium adjustments or other payments that may be required under the relevant policy that are not yet, but may be, required
to be paid with respect to any period ending prior to the Closing Date), and no written notice of cancellation or termination has been received with respect to
any such policy that has not been replaced on substantially similar terms prior to the date of such cancellation.

Section 4.16 Environmental Matters

     (a) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.16, Parent, the Stock Sellers, the Transferred Subsidiaries and the Business Sellers have to the best of their
knowledge at all times been in full material compliance with all Environmental Laws related to the EHP Business, except where any such non-compliance
would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

     (b) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.16, none of the Assets presents a threat to the environment or as given or could reasonably be expected, to the best of
their knowledge, to give rise to any action against Parent, the Stock Sellers, the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Business Sellers under any Environmental
Laws, except, in each case, as would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
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     (c) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.16, within the period of two years preceding the date hereof, none of the Transferred Subsidiaries nor any of the
Business Sellers has received any written communication from a Governmental Authority that alleges that such Transferred Subsidiary or such Business
Seller, in the conduct of the EHP Business, is not in compliance with Environmental Laws, except where (i) the subject matter has been satisfactorily resolved
with the pertinent Governmental Authority, or (ii) such non-compliance would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

     (d) Each of the Transferred Subsidiaries and the Business Sellers holds, and is in compliance with, all permits, licenses and governmental authorizations
required (i) for such Transferred Subsidiary to conduct its business under Environmental Laws or, (ii) with respect to the Business Sellers, for the conduct of
their portion of the EHP Business (the “Environmental Permits”), except where the failure to hold or be in compliance with any Environmental Permits would
not have a Material Adverse Effect.

     (e) None of Parent, the Stock Sellers, the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Business Sellers has transported, generated, stored or disposed of Hazardous
Substances from, at, on or under any Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property in violation of any Environmental Law, except to the extent that such
violations would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.17 Certain Contracts

     (a) Each of the agreements to which a Transferred Subsidiary or a Business Seller is a party and that is necessary for the conduct of the EHP Business
(including distribution, logistics and supply agreements) (collectively “Material Contracts”) is valid and enforceable by the relevant Transferred Subsidiary or
Business Seller in accordance with its terms, subject only to market practice or usages established with the other parties to such Material Contracts. None of
the Transferred Subsidiaries nor any of the Business Sellers is in breach or default under any Material Contract where such breach would trigger the automatic
termination (résiliation de plein droit) of such Material Contract, except for breaches or defaults which would not have a Material Adverse Effect and any
breaches that would be attributable to market practices or usages established with the other parties to such Material Contracts.

     (b) Except as set forth in Schedule 4.17(b), as of the date of this Agreement, none of the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Business Sellers has received
written notice of cancellation or termination of any contract, agreement or other instrument from any of the top 15 customers of or any of the top 10 suppliers
to the EHP Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as a result of the execution, completion or implementation of the transactions contemplated herein and in any
Ancillary Document. If such notice is received by the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Business Sellers prior to the Closing Date, Parent will immediately
inform the Purchaser.

     (c) Except as set forth in Schedule 4.17(c) or as provided herein, none of the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Business Sellers is bound by or a party to any
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agreement or other instrument that materially limits the freedom of such Transferred Subsidiary or such Business Seller to conduct its portion of the EHP
Business, including any agreement that limits the freedom of such Transferred Subsidiary or such Business Seller to compete in any line of business or with
any Person or in any area.

     (d) The Material Contracts and the subsidies referred to in Section 4.13(d) may not be challenged by any change of control or ownership resulting from the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.18 Solvency of Transferring Entities

     None of the Stock Sellers, the Business Sellers and the Transferred Subsidiaries (after giving effect to any transfers under Section 6.2(a)) is, to the
knowledge of such Stock Seller, Business Seller or Transferred Subsidiary, in a financial condition that would require it (or legally permit any of its creditors)
to file a petition under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, receivership or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally.

Section 4.19 Secondary Transfers

     As of the Closing Date, in connection with the Secondary Transfers, Parent and each Transferred Subsidiary shall have (a) taken all actions necessary to
transfer and assign to Parent or one of its Subsidiaries of Affiliates, as the case may be, all of the Unrelated Assets and Liabilities (as defined in Section 6.2(a)
and all such transfers and assignments shall be final and (b) have performed all actions necessary to comply with applicable laws, including laws relating
generally to creditors’ rights, in connection with the Secondary Transfers.

Section 4.20 Disclaimer of Certain Warranties

     Parent does not make any representation or warranty to the Purchaser, express or implied, with respect to the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Business
Sellers, including any representation or warranty as to title, ownership, use, possession, merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, quantity, value,
condition, Liabilities, operation, capacity, future results or otherwise, other than as provided in this Article IV, or except as required by any law that cannot be
displaced by contract, without prejudice to any covenant, undertaking or other agreement of Parent, for its own account or on behalf of the Stock Sellers or
the Business Sellers, contained in this Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing, Parent does not make any representation or warranty to the Purchaser,
express or implied, with respect to any financial projection or forecast relating to any of the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Business Sellers or more generally
to the EHP Business.

Section 4.21 Further Qualification

     The representations and warranties of Parent set forth in this Article IV are qualified by (i) any disclosure in the due diligence materials made available to
the Purchaser’s representatives as set forth in the data room index dated December 22,
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2004 and data room question log attached hereto as Schedule 4.21(I) or in the financial materials listed in Schedule 4.21(II) and (ii) any information available
in the public corporate records, land registry records and public trademark registrations relating to the Transferred Subsidiaries, the Business Sellers and more
generally the EHP Business, in each case, to the extent that a reasonably prudent person in similar circumstances reviewing such materials would have been
aware of such disclosure.
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ARTICLE V

REPRESENTATIONS OF THE PURCHASER

     As of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, the Purchaser represents and warrants to each of Parent, the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers as
follows:

Section 5.1 Existence and Good Standing of the Purchaser; Authorization.

     (a) The Purchaser is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of The Netherlands.

     (b) The Purchaser has the requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and all Ancillary Documents, to perform its
obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereunder and thereunder.

     (c) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all Ancillary Documents by the Purchaser, and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby by the Purchaser, have been or at the Closing Date shall have been duly authorized and approved by the board of directors
of the Purchaser, and, as of the Closing Date, no other corporate or stockholder action on the part of the Purchaser or its stockholders shall be necessary to
authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all Ancillary Documents by the Purchaser and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby by the Purchaser.

     (d) This Agreement and all Ancillary Documents executed or to be executed by the Purchaser will, when duly executed, and assuming the due execution of
such agreement by the other parties thereto, constitute valid and binding obligations of the Purchaser, enforceable against the Purchaser in accordance with
their terms, except to the extent that enforceability may be subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, receivership and similar
laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally.

Section 5.2 Consents and Approvals; No Violations

     The execution and delivery of, and the performance by the Purchaser of its obligations under, this Agreement and all Ancillary Documents will not result
in:

     (a) Any conflict with the articles of association, bylaws or other comparable constitutional document of the Purchaser;

     (b) Any breach or violation of or default under any law, regulation, judgment, order, permit or other governmental authorization or any agreement or other
instrument to which the Purchaser is party or by which it or any of its Assets are bound; and
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     (c) The creation or imposition of any Lien upon any of the properties or Assets of the Purchaser;

     Except in the case of clauses (b), and (c) for any permits, consents, approvals, notices and filings, violations, breaches, defaults, conflicts and Liens, the
absence or existence of which, would not prevent or delay the Purchaser from performing its obligations under this Agreement or any Ancillary Documents or
prevent, or establish any materially burdensome condition on, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or as set forth in
Schedule 5.2.

     No consent, approval or authorization of or filing with any third party or any Governmental Authority is required on the part of the Purchaser in connection
with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and each of the Ancillary Documents or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or
thereby.

Section 5.3 Available Funds

     The Purchaser has sufficient funds to perform all of its obligations under this Agreement and all Ancillary Documents, including to make the payments
required hereunder and thereunder.

Section 5.4 Litigation

     There is no action, suit or proceeding, at law or in equity by any Person or any arbitration or any administrative or other proceeding before any
Governmental Authority, pending or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened, which is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the
Purchaser’s ability to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and all Ancillary Documents.
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ARTICLE VI

CERTAIN COVENANTS

     Purchaser, on the one hand, hereby agrees and commits, and Parent, on the other hand, hereby agrees and commits, for its own account and on behalf of
each of the Transferred Subsidiaries, the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers, as the case may be, to enter into certain agreements as set forth in this
Article VI. Unless the context otherwise requires, specific references in this Article VI to the Business Sellers or to a Business Seller shall be deemed to refer
to each or such Business Seller only in connection with the conduct of its portion of the EHP Business and only with respect to the Transferred Assets and/or
Assumed Liabilities of such Business Seller, and not to any unrelated business, activity, Asset or Liability of such Business Seller.

Section 6.1 Conduct of the EHP Business

     During the period from the date of this Agreement to the Closing Date, Parent shall cause the Business Sellers to, and shall cause the Stock Sellers to cause
the Transferred Subsidiaries to, conduct the EHP Business in the ordinary course of business in substantially the same manner as heretofore conducted.
Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, during the period from the date of this Agreement to the Closing Date, except as may be approved by
the Purchaser (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) or as permitted, contemplated or required by law or by this Agreement:

     (a) Parent shall cause each relevant Stock Seller not to permit any of the Transferred Subsidiaries to:

 (i)  Amend their articles of incorporation, certificate of incorporation, by-laws or other comparable constitutional documents, except to the extent
required by law;

 
 (ii)  Declare or pay any dividend or make any other distribution whether or not upon or in respect of any of their capital stock (other than cash

dividends effected pursuant to or in connection with Section 6.2(a) or 6.8 hereunder);
 
 (iii)  Redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire any of their capital stock;
 
 (iv)  Issue or sell any shares of their capital stock or any other securities, or issue any securities convertible into, or options, warrants or rights to

purchase or subscribe to, or enter into any arrangement or contract with respect to the issue and sale of, any shares of their capital stock or any
other securities, or make any other changes in its capital structure;
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 (v)  Make any change in any method of accounting or accounting practice or policy other than those required to be applied within a time period
ending prior to the Closing Date, under applicable law or mandatory regulations entering into force after the date hereof;

 
 (vi)  Acquire by merging or consolidating with, or by purchasing a substantial portion of the Assets of, or by any other manner, any business or any

Person or otherwise acquire any Assets (other than inventory in the ordinary course of business) that are material, individually or in the
aggregate, to the Transferred Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;

 
 (vii)  Make or incur any capital expenditure that is not currently approved in writing or budgeted for and that, individually, exceeds €15,000, except in

the ordinary course of business; or
 
 (viii)  Agree, whether or not in writing, to do any of the above.

     (b) Parent shall cause the Business Sellers not to, and shall cause the Stock Sellers not to permit any of the Transferred Subsidiaries to:

 (i)  Allow any of their Assets which are material to the EHP Business, the Transferred Subsidiaries, or the Transferred Assets, to become subject to
any Lien other than Permitted Liens;

 
 (ii)  Adopt or amend in any material respect any plan or collective bargaining agreement referred to in Section 4.14(a), except as required by law;
 
 (iii)  Hire any employees (except temporaries or with trial periods of no less than 3 months), terminate any Affected Employee (except for cause) or

grant to any Affected Employee any increase in compensation or benefits, except as required under any existing laws or bonus schemes listed in
Schedule 6.1;

 
 (iv)  Sell, lease or otherwise dispose of any Assets of the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Transferred Assets, except, in each case, inventory sales in the

ordinary course of business or as otherwise expressly permitted in this Agreement;
 
 (v)  Enter into or renew any lease of real property, or any agreements with suppliers for an annual amount in excess of #eu#50,000 per agreement;
 
 (vi)  Materially change the commercial practices applicable to the EHP Business;
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 (vii)  Lend or advance any amount to, or sell, transfer or lease any Assets of the Transferred Subsidiaries material to the EHP Business or the
Transferred Assets, to, or enter into any agreement or arrangement with, Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates that is not an EHP
Subsidiary, except for inter-company transactions in the ordinary course of business, including any group cash-pooling transactions, and
payments pursuant to existing contracts; or

 
 (viii)  Agree, whether or not in writing, to do any of the above.

Section 6.2 Transfer of Unrelated Assets and Liabilities; Purchaser’s Access to Books and Records

     (a) During the period from the date of this Agreement to the Closing Date, Parent shall cause the Stock Sellers to cause the Transferred Subsidiaries to
transfer their respective Assets and Liabilities not primarily relating to the conduct of the EHP Business, as listed in Schedule 6.2(a) (the “Unrelated Assets
and Liabilities”) to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates that is not an EHP Subsidiary (the “Secondary Transfers”). To the extent not specifically
included in the Unrelated Assets and Liabilities, Parent shall be responsible for and shall fully indemnify the Purchaser for any (a) product warranty or
product liability claims arising from non-EHP Business products and (b) all Employment Costs and Employment Liabilities related to, and any claims against
any Transferred Subsidiaries made by, any former employees of the Transferred Subsidiaries who are transferred pursuant to the Secondary Transfers. Parent
shall keep the Purchaser regularly informed of the status of the Secondary Transfers, of the use, if any, of the Tax Losses Carry Forward made in connection
therewith and any changes to the structure thereof that may, following the Closing, materially adversely affect the Purchaser.

     (b) On or prior to the Closing Date, Parent shall cause the Stock Sellers to place in escrow all the commercially sensitive information related to non-EHP
Business (as determined by an independent firm jointly designated by Parent and the Purchaser prior to the Closing Date) held by the Transferred Subsidiaries
prior to Closing, which relate to the last 5 years prior to the Closing Date (the “Mixed Books and Records”).

     The Mixed Books and Records shall be deposited at the Closing Date with the respective local office of such independent firm (the “Escrow Agent”),
pursuant to an escrow agreement in form and substance mutually satisfactory to Purchaser and Parent (the “Escrow Agreement”). The Mixed Books and
Records are to be held in escrow by the Escrow Agent for a period of five years as from the Closing Date. In the event that the Purchaser or the relevant
Transferred Subsidiary is required in connection with any proceeding by or before a Governmental Authority, or otherwise required by law including in
connection with preparation of audited financial statements, to present or review any portion of the information contained in the Mixed Books and Records,
the Purchaser shall give prompt written notice of such requirement to Parent, with a copy to the Escrow Agent, and in any event not later
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than 10 Business Days prior to the proposed presentation or review required by law. Subject to the prior approval of Parent (such approval not to be
unreasonably withheld or delayed), the Escrow Agent will be authorized to present to the Purchaser or its outside legal, Tax or accounting representatives
only that portion of the Mixed Books and Records which is legally required to be disclosed and, whenever disclosure is made to the Purchaser, redacted to
omit any commercially-sensitive information. Such materials and the information contained therein shall be used exclusively for the purposes of complying
with the aforementioned legal or regulatory requirements. Any commercially sensitive information disclosed to the Purchaser’s representatives shall not be
disclosed by them to the Purchaser. Parent shall be responsible for any claims, actions, suits, or proceedings brought by any governmental entity resulting
from the existence and the working of the Escrow Agreement.

Section 6.3 Review of the EHP Business; Access to Records; Confidentiality.

     (a) Between the date this Agreement is publicly announced and the Closing Date, Parent shall permit and shall cause the Transferred Subsidiaries and the
Business Sellers to permit the Purchaser and its appropriate representatives to have reasonable access to the books and records (including the commercial
data) of the Transferred Subsidiaries and the Business Sellers relating to the EHP Business (other than the Mixed Books and Records) during normal business
hours and upon reasonable notice to familiarize itself with the EHP Business; provided, however, that the Purchaser shall at no time disrupt the personnel and
operations of the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Business Sellers.

     (b) Within 20 days after the end of each calendar month, Parent shall provide to the Purchaser the management accounts of the EHP Business for such
month.

     (c) Parent and the Purchaser shall jointly perform a physical inventory of the inventories of the Transferred Subsidiaries and the Business Sellers, wherever
located, that are to be transferred to the Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement, which physical inventory shall commence two days prior to the Closing Date
and terminate no later than the day after the Closing Date.

     (d) Nothing herein shall require any employee of Parent, the Stock Sellers, the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Business Sellers to provide any information
in any other format or otherwise to manipulate or reconfigure any data.

     (e) Nothing herein shall require Parent, the Stock Sellers, the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Business Sellers to provide the Purchaser with access to or
copies of any information that must be maintained as confidential in accordance with the terms of a written agreement with a third party.

     (f) The Purchaser acknowledges that all such access and information is subject to the terms of a confidentiality agreement entered into between an Affiliate
of the Purchaser and Parent dated October 2004 (the “Confidentiality Agreement”), the terms of which are incorporated herein by reference.
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     (g) Effective upon the Closing Date, and subject to Section 6.17, the Confidentiality Agreement shall terminate with respect to information relating solely
to the EHP Business, the Transferred Assets, the Assumed Liabilities and the Transferred Subsidiaries, and the Purchaser acknowledges that any and all other
information provided to it by Parent, the Stock Sellers, the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Business Sellers or their respective representatives or Affiliates
concerning Parent or its businesses not connected to the EHP Business, the Transferred Subsidiaries, the Transferred Assets and the Assumed Liabilities shall
remain subject to the terms and conditions of the Confidentiality Agreement after the Closing Date.

Section 6.4 Reasonable Best Efforts; Governmental Filings

     (a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereof, the Purchaser and Parent shall use, and Parent shall cause the Stock Sellers and the Business
Sellers to use, their reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all appropriate action, and to do, or cause to be done, all actions necessary, proper or
advisable under applicable laws and regulations to satisfy the respective conditions required to be satisfied or performed by it set forth in Article VIII and to
consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated hereby and in the Ancillary Documents and to cause the Closing to occur. None of Parent, the
Stock Sellers, the Business Sellers or the Purchaser shall take any actions that would, or that could reasonably be expected to, result in the non-satisfaction of
any of the conditions set forth in Article VIII.

     (b) In the event that, at any time after the Closing Date, any further action is necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement or any
Ancillary Document, Parent and the Purchaser shall use, and Parent shall cause the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers to use, their reasonable best efforts
to take all such action.

     (c) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, as promptly as practicable after the date hereof, each of Parent and the Purchaser shall properly
prepare and file, and Parent shall cause the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers to properly prepare and file, any filings required to be made by it under any
applicable law relating to the transactions contemplated hereby (collectively, the “Filings”). The Purchaser and Parent shall each promptly notify the other of
the receipt of any comments on, or any request for amendments or supplements to, any Filings by any Governmental Authority or official, and the Purchaser
and Parent shall each supply the other with copies of all correspondence with any appropriate governmental official with respect to any Filings to the extent
not prohibited by law.

     (d) The Purchaser and Parent hereby covenant and agree to use their respective best efforts to secure, or cause to secure, termination of any waiting periods
under any applicable laws and obtain the approval of any Governmental Authority necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

     (e) The Purchaser and Parent shall each keep the other apprised of the status of matters relating to the completion of the transactions contemplated hereby
and work cooperatively in connection with obtaining any consents from Governmental Authorities.
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Section 6.5 Affected Employees

     (a) Transfer of the Stock Transferred Employees

     The Purchaser agrees that the Stock Transferred Employees at the Closing Date will remain employees of the Transferred Subsidiaries immediately
following the Closing.

     (b) Transfer of the Business Transferred Employees

     Parent (on its behalf and on behalf of the Business Sellers) and the Purchaser accept and agree that, by operation of the Closing, the Transfer Provisions
shall effect the transfer to the Purchaser of the contract of employment of each Business Transferred Employee and accordingly the Purchaser shall employ
each such Business Transferred Employee with effect from the Closing Date (which shall be the effective time of transfer under the Transfer Provisions) and
the Purchaser shall treat each such Business Transferred Employee’s continuous period of service with the relevant Business Seller as continuous service with
the Purchaser.

     Subject to the paragraph below, Parent shall cause each Business Seller to perform and discharge for its own account all of its obligations in respect of
each Business Transferred Employee which are required to be performed or discharged prior to the Closing Date, which shall include all Employment Costs
up to the Closing Date. The Business Sellers shall be severally responsible for and shall fully indemnify and hold harmless the Purchaser from and against all
and any Employment Liabilities prior to the Closing Date arising from any claim made against the Business Sellers or the Purchaser by any Business
Transferred Employee (directly or by any trade union or other employee representative on behalf of any Business Transferred Employee).

     To the extent permissible by law or regulation, the Purchaser shall (A) assume all outstanding obligations of the Business Sellers to the Business
Transferred Employees that have accrued but are not yet payable in respect of periods prior to the Closing Date (including accrued bonuses, accrued holiday
entitlements or remunerations) so long as such obligations are reflected in the Closing Net Working Capital and to the extent finally determined in the
Adjusted Financial Certificate, and (B) perform and discharge for its own account all obligations in respect of each Business Transferred Employee which are
required to be performed or discharged as of and including the Closing Date (which shall include wages, salaries, bonuses, commissions, pension
contributions and taxes arising out of the employment relationship).

     The Purchaser shall be responsible and shall fully indemnify and hold harmless the Business Sellers against all Employment Liabilities arising out of or in
connection with:

 (i)  Any change in the working conditions of any Business Transferred Employee occurring on or after the Closing Date;
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 (ii)  The change of employer occurring by the operation of the Transfer Provisions and/or this Agreement or any relevant Ancillary Document, except
only if such Employment Liabilities result from any mischaracterization by a Business Seller of an employee as a Business Transferred Employee;

 
 (iii)  The employment by the Purchaser on or after the Closing Date of any of the Business Transferred Employees other than on terms at least as good

as those enjoyed immediately prior to the Closing Date or the termination of the employment of any of such Business Transferred Employees on
or after the Closing Date, subject to Section 6.6;

 
 (iv)  Any act or omission of the Purchaser in relation to any Business Transferred Employee.

     (c) Cooperation

     Parent shall, and shall cause the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers to, cooperate with the Purchaser and the Purchaser shall cooperate with Parent and
each relevant Stock Seller or Business Seller, as may reasonably be required, in contesting any claim by any Affected Employee resulting from or in
connection with this Agreement or any Ancillary Document.

     (d) Restructuring Costs

     To the extent that the Purchaser will undertake any restructuring in connection with its acquisition of the Transferred Subsidiaries, the Transferred Assets
and the Assumed Liabilities on or after the Closing Date, the Purchaser will assume all of the costs associated with such restructuring.

     (e) Transfer of the Other Affected Employees

     Concerning the employees whose employment is primarily attached to the conduct of the EHP Business and who are employed at the date hereof by
another of Parent’s Subsidiaries not involved in the EHP Business, to whom the Transfer Provisions do not apply (hereinafter referred to as the “Other
Affected Employees” as listed in Schedule 6.5(e)), the Purchaser agrees that within a period of 30 Business Days following the date of this Agreement:

 (i)  The Purchaser shall make or cause to be made to each such Other Affected Employee a written offer in the form set forth in Schedule 6.5(e)(i) to
employ him or her as an employee of one of the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Purchaser, by way of an assignment of his or her contract of
employment to be agreed upon among the relevant Parent’s Subsidiary, the Purchaser or such Transferred Subsidiary, and such employee, to take
effect on the Closing Date, all in accordance with applicable laws and regulations; and
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 (ii)  The written offer to be made pursuant to subparagraph (i) to any relevant Other Affected Employee will be such that (A) the provisions of the
assigned contract shall remain identical to the corresponding provisions of his or her contract of employment as existing immediately prior to the
Closing Date, and (B) his or her period of continuous service with the previous employer shall be counted as continuous service with the Purchaser.

     Parent and the Purchaser acknowledge and agree that Other Affected Employees may potentially refuse such offers of employment and each party agrees
to use its reasonable best efforts to minimize the number of such refusals. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the refusal of a significant number of Other
Affected Employees to accept such offers in any or all relevant countries shall not constitute a breach of this Agreement and shall not serve as the basis for
any claim by either party hereto. In the event that any Other Affected Employee refuses such offer of employment, such Other Affected Employee shall
remain the employee of the relevant Parent’s Subsidiary, immediately after the Closing Date. The relevant Parent’s Subsidiary shall be responsible for and
shall fully indemnify and hold harmless the Purchaser from and against any and all Employment Costs or Employment Liabilities arising from such refusal.

     In the event that any Other Affected Employee accepts such offer of employment, pursuant to this Section 6.5(e), upon the effective assignment of such
employment contract on the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall be responsible for and shall indemnify the Parent and its relevant Subsidiary from and against
any and all Employment Costs and Employment Liabilities arising from the Purchaser’s or Transferred Subsidiary’s employment of such Other Affected
Employee from Closing or for any termination occurring after the Closing Date.

     (f) Affected Employees’ Records

 (i)  Following the Closing, all material records in relation to social charges arising out of the employment relationship and any other documents or
records (including personnel records and files) which are relevant to the Stock Transferred Employees will remain in the possession and under the
control of the Transferred Subsidiaries. As soon as practicable after the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall cause the Transferred Subsidiaries to
deliver to the Parent or its relevant Subsidiary either originals (if legally permitted) or copies of all records referred to in the preceding sentence
which are relevant to the employees whose employment will be transferred out of the Transferred Subsidiaries pursuant to the Secondary Transfers
(all such employees, the “Carved-Out Employees”) for at least the five calendar years preceding the Closing Date, provided that:
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 (a)  The Transferred Subsidiary shall be entitled to retain a copy of any such record or document where the original is delivered to Parent or a
relevant Parent’s Subsidiary;

 
 (b)  In the event that Parent or a relevant Parent’s Subsidiary becomes a party to any claim by or against any Carved-Out Employee arising after

Closing, the Purchaser shall cause the Transferred Subsidiary to allow Parent or such relevant Parent’s Subsidiary access to any and all records
and documents in its possession which are or might be relevant to such claim; and

 
 (c)  In the event that the Transferred Subsidiary intends at any time after the Closing Date to dispose of or destroy any originals of such records or

documents, the Purchaser shall cause the Transferred Subsidiary not to do so without first informing Parent or the relevant Parent’s Subsidiary
of its intention to do so, and if Parent or such relevant Parent’s Subsidiary so requests the Purchaser shall as soon as practicable deliver such
originals as Parent or such relevant Parent’s Subsidiary may request.

 (ii)  As soon as practicable after the Closing Date, Parent shall cause the Business Sellers and its relevant Subsidiaries referred to in Section 6.5(e) to
deliver to the Purchaser either originals (if legally permitted) or copies of substantially all material records in relation to social charges arising out
of the employment relationship and of any other documents or records (including personnel records and files) which are relevant to the Business
Transferred Employees or Other Affected Employees for at least the five calendar years preceding the Closing Date, provided that:

 (a)  The Business Seller or the relevant Parent’s Subsidiary shall be entitled to retain a copy of any such record or document where the original is
delivered to the Purchaser;

 
 (b)  In the event that the Purchaser becomes a party to any claim by or against any Transferred Employee arising after Closing, the Business Seller

or the relevant Parent’s Subsidiary shall allow the Purchaser access to any and all records and documents in its possession which are or might be
relevant to such claim; and

 
 (c)  In the event that the Business Seller or the relevant Parent’s Subsidiary intends at any time after the Closing Date to dispose of or destroy any

such records or documents, the Business Seller or the relevant Parent’s
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    Subsidiary shall not do so without first informing the Purchaser of its intention to do so, and if the Purchaser so requests the Business Seller or the
relevant Parent’s Subsidiary shall as soon as practicable deliver such records or documents as the Purchaser may request.

     (g) Consultation Process

     As soon as practicable following the date hereof, the Purchaser shall inform and consult, and Parent shall cause each of the Business Sellers and Stock
Sellers to inform and consult, with works council, recognized trade unions and/or any other elected employees’ representatives, as appropriate, to the extent
required by the applicable Transfer Provisions or other laws relating to works council, recognized trade unions and/or any other elected employees’
representatives, and each such Business Sellers and Stock Sellers, on the one hand, and the Purchaser, on the other hand, shall indemnify each other against
any Liabilities, claims, costs and expenses each of them may incur as a result of the other party’s failure to comply with its particular obligations under the
applicable Transfer Provisions or any such laws. The Purchaser shall give to the Business Sellers and Stock Sellers all information required by the Business
Sellers and Stock Sellers in order for each of them to fulfill their respective obligations under the Transfer Provisions and other laws referred to in the
preceding sentence. Parent shall give to the Purchaser such information as may be expressly required by the Transfer Provisions or such laws for the
Purchaser to fulfill its obligations to its own employees thereunder.

     (h) Notification of Claims

     The Purchaser shall notify Parent and Parent shall cause each of the Business Sellers to notify the Purchaser, upon becoming aware of any claim which
might give rise to any liability to indemnify the other party under paragraphs (b), (e) or (g) above, and the parties hereto shall give each other such assistance
as either may reasonably require:

 (i)  To comply with the Transfer Provisions in relation to the Business Transferred Employees; and
 
 (ii)  In contesting any claim by any Business Transferred Employee resulting from or in connection with this Agreement.

     (i) Notice to Business Transferred Employees

     On the Closing Date, Parent shall cause the Business Sellers to, jointly with Purchaser, communicate to the Business Transferred Employees an agreed-
upon notice in connection with the Transferred Assets and the labor-related consequences.

(j) Modifications to the List of Affected Employees

     During the period from the date of this Agreement to the Closing Date, Parent shall inform the Purchaser each month of any modifications to the list of
Affected
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Employees except that (i) any modifications to key employees (i.e. employees whose annual remuneration is over €75,000) shall require the prior agreement
of the Purchaser and (ii) the maximum number of employees transferred shall be 1,370.

Section 6.6 Employee Benefits

     (a) The Purchaser shall assume no Liabilities or other obligations with respect to existing employee welfare plans of Parent and its Affiliates that benefit
the Affected Employees prior to the Closing Date, including any change thereto other than those changes relating to the plans that have been implemented by
the Transferred Subsidiaries.

(b) Stock Transferred Employees

 (i)  For a period of at least one year after the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall provide, or shall cause the Transferred Subsidiaries to provide, the
Stock Transferred Employees with such compensation and pension (if any), health, welfare and other employee benefit plans, programs and
policies, and fringe benefits that, in the aggregate, are substantially comparable to those provided to such employees immediately prior to the
Closing Date. The Purchaser will, and will cause the Transferred Subsidiaries to, give to the Stock Transferred Employees the same seniority
credit with the Purchaser and such Transferred Subsidiaries as the Stock Transferred Employees previously earned up to the Closing Date for all
purposes in connection with such benefits including for purposes of determining the Stock Transferred Employees’ eligibility to participate,
vesting, or qualification or eligibility for any benefit or privilege (including vacation) based on length of service under any employee benefit
plan, practice or policy established, maintained or contributed to by the Purchaser, and shall cause the Purchaser’s benefit plans to reflect the
foregoing requirement.

 
 (ii)  The Purchaser shall cause the Transferred Subsidiaries’ plans referred in (b) that are employee welfare benefit plans (“Welfare Plans”) to offer

continuation of health benefits coverage to Stock Transferred Employees (and their eligible dependents) to the extent required by applicable
laws. The Purchaser shall waive all limitations as to preexisting conditions, waiting periods, actively at work requirements and physical
examination requirements with respect to participation and coverage requirements applicable to the Stock Transferred Employees (and their
spouses and dependents) under any of the Purchaser’s Welfare Plans. For purposes of computing deductible amounts, co-payments or similar
adjustments or limitations on coverage of an Stock Transferred Employee (including coverage for the
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    Stock Transferred Employee’s spouse and dependents) under any Welfare Plan after the Closing Date, expenses and claims previously recognized
for similar purposes under any Transferred Subsidiary’s existing Welfare Plans during the calendar year or plan year, as applicable, in which the
Closing Date occurs shall be credited or recognized under the applicable Welfare Plan.(iii) On the Closing Date, the parties shall enter into an
agreement relating to Parent’s indemnification of Purchaser for all obligations arising under the German pension funds currently maintained by
Rubbermaid GmbH.

     (c) Business Transferred Employees

 (i)  For a period of at least one year after the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall provide, or shall cause its Subsidiaries employing such individuals to
provide, the Business Transferred Employees with such compensation and pension (if any), health, welfare and other employee benefit plans,
programs and policies, and fringe benefits that, in the aggregate, are substantially comparable to those provided to such employees immediately
prior to the Closing Date. The Purchaser will, and will cause its Subsidiaries employing such individuals to, give to the Business Transferred
Employees the same seniority credit with the Purchaser and such employing Subsidiaries as the Business Transferred Employees previously
earned up to the Closing Date for all purposes in connection with such benefits including for purposes of determining the Business Transferred
Employees’ eligibility to participate, vesting, or qualification or eligibility for any benefit or privilege (including vacation) based on length of
service under any employee benefit plan, practice or policy established, maintained or contributed to by the Purchaser, and shall cause the
Purchaser’s benefit plans to reflect the foregoing requirement.

 
 (ii)  The Purchaser shall cause its or its employing Subsidiaries’ plans referred in (d) that are employee welfare benefit plans (“Welfare Plans”) to

offer continuation of health benefits coverage to the Business Transferred Employees (and their eligible dependents) to the extent required by
applicable laws. The Purchaser shall waive all limitations as to preexisting conditions, waiting periods, actively at work requirements and
physical examination requirements with respect to participation and coverage requirements applicable to the Business Transferred Employees
(and their spouses and dependents) under any of the Purchaser’s Welfare Plans. For purposes of computing deductible amounts, co-payments or
similar adjustments or limitations on coverage of an Business Transferred Employee (including coverage for the Business
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    Transferred Employee’s spouse and dependents) under any Welfare Plan after the Closing Date, expenses and claims previously recognized for
similar purposes under any Transferred Subsidiary’s existing Welfare Plans during the calendar year or plan year, as applicable, in which the
Closing Date occurs shall be credited or recognized under the applicable Welfare Plan.

     (d) No Restriction of Rights

     Nothing in this Section 6.6 is intended to limit the Purchaser’s right to terminate the employment of any of the Affected Employees under applicable laws
or to take any action legally permitted in order to effect a restructuring or reorganization of the EHP Business.

Section 6.7 Consents

     (a) The Purchaser acknowledges that certain consents and waivers with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any Ancillary
Document may be required from parties to the Transferred Contracts and that such consents and waivers may not be obtained. Notwithstanding any of the
representations and warranties set forth in Article IV, none of Parent, the Stock Sellers, the Business Sellers or the Transferred Subsidiaries shall have any
liability whatsoever to the Purchaser arising out of or relating to the failure to obtain any consents or waivers that may be required in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement or because of the termination of any Transferred Contract as a result thereof, except as provided in
Sections 6.7(b) and 6.7(c) and 6.7 (d).

     (b) As promptly as practicable following the date of this Agreement and up to the Closing Date, Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts and
shall cause the Stock Sellers, the Business Sellers or the Transferred Subsidiaries to use their commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any such consents and
waivers; provided, however, that such efforts shall not include any requirement on the part of Parent, the Stock Sellers, the Business Sellers or the Transferred
Subsidiaries to expend money, commence or participate in any litigation or offer or grant any guaranty or any other accommodation (financial or otherwise) to
any third party. From the Date of this Agreement up to the Closing Date, Parent shall keep and shall cause the Transferred Subsidiaries, the Stock Sellers and
the Business Sellers to keep, the Purchaser informed of the status of the application process for such consents and waivers. During this period, the Purchaser
shall cooperate to the maximum extent possible with Parent and each of the Stock Sellers, the Business Sellers and the Transferred Subsidiaries in connection
with obtaining any such consents and waivers.

     (c) If, notwithstanding the efforts made by Parent, the Stock Sellers, the Business Sellers, the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Purchaser pursuant to
Section 6.7(b) above, any Material Contract cannot be vested in the Purchaser, on or prior to the Closing Date, as a result of the relevant third party’s failure
or refusal to
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deliver any required consent or waiver effecting the novation or the assignment of such Material Contract, then the parties shall cooperate in a manner that, to
the extent feasible, prevents any violation of the terms of any such Material Contracts yet preserves the intent of the parties as set forth in this Agreement to
provide the Purchaser with the benefits and obligations under such Material Contract. If the relevant third party’s consent is refused or otherwise not obtained
on terms reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser within 180 days of the Closing Date, the Parent shall be entitled to cause the relevant Business Seller to
terminate, at the cost of Parent, the Material Contract and such termination shall constitute a breach of this Agreement and thus be subject to an
indemnification obligation in accordance with Article IX to the extent that such breach of Parent causes a Material Adverse Effect.

     (d) As promptly as practicable following the date of this Agreement, the contract with the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg regarding the droit de superficie
relating to land located in Niedercorn held by Rubbermaid Luxembourg Sàrl shall be vested in the Transferred Subsidiary or the Purchaser without any cost
relating to the period prior to the Closing Date.

Section 6.8 Inter-company Accounts, Agreements and Transactions

     Except for such arrangements as may be continued pursuant to the Transition Services Agreements to be entered into pursuant to Section 6.11, or as
specifically provided elsewhere in this Agreement, Parent shall cause all contracts and arrangements entered into between any of the Transferred Subsidiaries
or any of the Business Sellers and Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates that is not an EHP Subsidiary to be terminated immediately prior to Closing
with no further Liabilities on the part of any party thereto.

Section 6.9 Release of Guarantees

     (a) Parent, the Stock Sellers, the Business Sellers and certain Subsidiaries or Affiliates of Parent that are not EHP Subsidiaries, have (i) issued certain
guarantees identified in Schedule 6.9(a)(I) and (ii) obtained certain surety or performance bonds identified in Schedule 6.9(a)(II). The Purchaser also
acknowledges that Parent, the Stock Sellers, the Business Sellers and any such Parent’s Subsidiaries or Affiliates that are not EHP Subsidiaries, have been, or
may be, required to furnish security for the benefit of the issuer or issuers of such bonds, including in the form of an irrevocable stand-by letter or letters of
credit. Such existing guarantees listed in Schedule 6.9(a)(I) and any additional guarantees issued prior to Closing in the ordinary course of business are
referred to herein as the “Guarantees”, and such existing bonds listed in Schedule 6.9(a)(II) and any additional bonds obtained prior to Closing in the ordinary
course of business are referred to herein as the “Bonds”.

     (b) On or prior to the Closing Date, to the extent that such Guarantees or Bonds have been issued in order to secure any item to be reflected in the Closing
Net Working Capital, the Purchaser shall (i) use its best efforts to (A) obtain complete and unconditional release of Parent, the Stock Sellers, the Business
Sellers and any Affiliate or Subsidiary of Parent that is not an EHP Subsidiary, at the Closing with
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respect to each of the Guarantees and Bonds and (B) cause the issuer or issuers thereof to terminate and redeliver to Parent, the Stock Sellers or the Business
Sellers any stand-by letter of credit or other security provided by any of them or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of Parent that is not an EHP Subsidiary in
connection with Bonds and (ii) in the event such releases cannot be obtained, provide a full and unconditional counter-guarantee given directly by the
Purchaser, a financial institution reasonably acceptable to Parent or a Subsidiary of the Purchaser that is counter-guaranteed by the Purchaser to the relevant
entity in respect of the guaranteed and/or secured obligations or Liabilities to the extent they arise from the Transferred Assets or Assumed Liabilities. Parent
shall cause the Business Sellers to assist, and the Stock Sellers to cause the Transferred Subsidiaries to assist, the Purchaser with such actions as and when
reasonably requested by the Purchaser on or prior to the Closing Date.

Section 6.10 Resignations

     Parent shall cause the Stock Sellers to cause to be delivered to the Purchaser on the Closing Date duly signed resignations, effective at the time of the
Closing, of all directors and auditors of the Transferred Subsidiaries other than the persons identified in writing by the Purchaser at least ten days prior to the
Closing.

Section 6.11 Transition Services

     Following the Closing Date, as set forth in Exhibit E, Parent on the one hand shall continue to provide, or cause to be provided, to the Purchaser and the
Transferred Subsidiaries and the Purchaser on the other hand shall provide, or cause to be provided, to Parent and its Affiliates certain administrative,
distribution, manufacturing and other services on a transitional basis in accordance with the terms of agreements to be entered as of the Closing Date,
containing the terms summarized in Exhibit E (the “Transition Services Agreements”), it being agreed that no Tax services shall be provided to the Purchaser
under the Transition Services Agreements.

Section 6.12 Right to Use Certain Marks; Corporate Names

     (a) To the extent that any trademarks, service marks, brand names or trade, corporate or business names of Parent, the Stock Sellers, the Business Sellers or
any of Parent’s Subsidiaries or Affiliates that is not an EHP Subsidiary, that (i) are Excluded Intellectual Property (as such term is defined in Section 6.12(d))
or (ii) are carved out from the Assets of the Transferred Subsidiaries pursuant to Section 6.2 hereof (hereinafter referred to as “Seller’s Marks”) are used in the
EHP Business on stationery, signage, equipment, invoices, receipts, forms, advertising and promotional materials, training and service literature and
materials, software or like materials (hereinafter referred to as “Transferred Marked Materials”, which shall not include the product molds), the Transferred
Subsidiaries and the Purchaser may use such Transferred Marked Materials for a period ending six months after the Closing Date (or with respect to the
commercial catalogs and advertising equipment ending on December 31, 2005), but the Purchaser shall not without the prior written consent of Parent use
such Seller’s Marks in any other manner during such six month period (or such period ending on December 31, 2005), nor in any manner whatsoever
thereafter.
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     (b) After the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall not, and shall procure that the Transferred Subsidiaries do not, reorder any Transferred Marked Materials.
Within six months following the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall, and shall cause the Transferred Subsidiaries to, replace or alter any signage to remove any
reference to Seller’s Marks and shall remove all Seller’s Marks from any equipment, training materials or software.

     (c) To the extent that any trademarks, service marks, brand names or trade, corporate or business names of any of the Transferred Subsidiaries that are not
carved out pursuant to Section 6.2 hereof (hereinafter referred to as “Transferred Marks”) are used in the non-EHP Business of Parent or any of its Affiliates
on financial reports and securities filings, stationery, signage, equipment, invoices, receipts, forms, advertising and promotional materials, training and service
literature and materials, software, company Internet sites, or like materials (hereinafter referred to as “Retained Marked Materials”), Parent and its Affiliates
may continue, for a period of six months after the Closing Date (or with respect to the commercial catalogs and the advertising equipment ending on
December 31, 2005), to use such Retained Marked Materials. Parent shall not without the prior written consent of the Purchaser use such Transferred Marks
in any other manner during such six-month period (or such period ending on December 31, 2005), nor in any manner whatsoever thereafter, except to the
extent required to be included in financial reports or securities filings provided that the fact that the EHP Business has been sold is mentioned. After the
Closing Date, Parent shall not, and shall procure that its Affiliates do not, reorder any Retained Marked Materials. Within six months following the Closing
Date, Parent shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, replace or alter any signage to remove any reference to Transferred Marks and shall remove all Transferred
Marks from any equipment, training materials or software.

     (d) Within 60 days following the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall cause each of the Transferred Subsidiaries to change their respective corporate names
so that they do not contain “Newell”, “Newell Rubbermaid” or “Rubbermaid” or any derivation thereof.

     (e) On the Closing Date, Parent and the Purchaser will enter into a transitional intellectual property license in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to
both parties, regarding the use of trademarks, trade names, patents, designs, models and drawings, domain names and similar rights that are registered or
subject to an application for registration and owned, used, filed by or licensed to any of the Business Sellers but not included in the Transferred Assets and
any related intellectual property rights or interests (hereinafter referred to as the “Excluded Intellectual Property”), for the sale and distribution of existing
unfinished products and finished products, on which such Excluded Intellectual Property may appear in combination with marks or designs included in the
Intellectual Property. Such license shall permit the Purchaser, for a maximum period of twelve months, to continue to use the “Rubbermaid” mark in the
molds transferred to the Purchaser hereunder and shall require the Purchaser to use its commercially reasonable efforts to alter the molds so as to remove the
“Rubbermaid” as soon as possible and in any event prior to the end of such twelve-month period.
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Section 6.13 Accounts Receivable; Claims

     (a) As promptly as practicable after the date of this Agreement, Parent shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries performing invoicing for the EHP
Business to, establish separate invoices for the EHP products and any non-EHP products invoiced by such entity.

     (b) To the extent there exist as of the Closing Date any accounts receivable owing to any of the Business Sellers or the Transferred Subsidiaries and
relating to both EHP products and non-EHP products (the “Mixed Accounts Receivable”), Parent shall retain all such Mixed Accounts Receivable and pay to
the Purchaser at the Closing an amount in cash equal to the portion of such Mixed Accounts Receivable that relates to EHP products, as evidenced by the
invoices for such Mixed Accounts Receivable as determined by an independent accounting firm to be designated by Parent and the Purchaser and redacted to
omit non-EHP items, which shall be delivered to the Purchaser at Closing.

     (c) At the Closing, Parent shall pay to the Purchaser an amount in cash equal to the Accounts Receivable relating to the EHP Business the benefit of which
is owned by any Subsidiary or Affiliate of Parent that is not an EHP Subsidiary.

     (d) After the Closing, Parent and its Affiliates shall not make any direct solicitation for the collection of amounts due with respect to any accounts
receivable to which the Purchaser is entitled in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. In the event that Parent or any of its affiliates receives payment
in respect of any accounts receivable relating to the Transferred Assets, such payment shall be promptly forwarded and remitted to Purchaser.

     (e) To the extent, pursuant to Section 1.3(i), any claims or, pursuant to Section 1.3(j), any Accounts Receivable except for Mixed Accounts Receivable, in
each case, that conform to the definition of Transferred Assets cannot be transferred to or held in trust for the Purchaser, Parent shall, or shall cause one of its
Affiliates to, use it reasonable best efforts to collect on such claims or Accounts Receivable and to remit all proceeds so collected to Purchaser promptly
following receipt of payment by Parent or its relevant Affiliate.

Section 6.14 Insurance Matters

     (a) Transferred Subsidiaries

 (i)  No Parent group insurance policies will be transferred with any Transferred Subsidiary.
 
 (ii)  In the event that any of the Transferred Subsidiaries wishes to make a claim after the Closing Date in respect of events occurring prior to the

Closing Date or in the event that any third party makes any claim against any such Transferred Subsidiary in respect of events occurring prior to the
Closing Date, Parent shall, if there is at such time any remaining insurance coverage
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    for the benefit of such Transferred Subsidiaries under insurance policies of Parent or any of its Affiliates, make any statement of claim with the
relevant insurance companies and pay to such Transferred Subsidiary any proceeds actually received by Parent or such Affiliate from such insurance
coverage.

     As far as insurance claims already made by any Transferred Subsidiary prior to the Closing Date but not yet paid are concerned, Parent shall cooperate
with the relevant Transferred Subsidiary in order to collect the amounts due by the relevant insurance companies and promptly remit it to the Transferred
Subsidiary.

     (b) Transferred Assets

 (i)  In the event that any third party makes any claim against the Purchaser in respect of events occurring prior to the Closing Date (including a claim
of a third party that has purchased any EHP Business product directly or indirectly from any Business Seller prior to the Closing Date based on
alleged hidden defects in such product), Parent shall, if there is at such time, any remaining insurance coverage that would be applicable for the
benefit of the Purchaser under any insurance policy of Parent or any of its Affiliates, make any statement of claim with the relevant insurance
companies and pay to the Purchaser any proceeds actually received by Parent or such Affiliate from such insurance coverage.

 
 (ii)  After the Closing, the Purchaser shall cooperate with Parent or the Business Sellers in connection with any bona fide insurance claim made by

Parent or Business Seller for its own account, arising under insurance policies in effect prior to the Closing Date with respect to any action or
inaction that occurred prior to the Closing Date and that, in Parent’s reasonable judgment, may give rise to a claim under such policies.

Section 6.15 No Solicitation

     From the date hereof and up to the Closing Date, Parent, its representatives and agents, the Stock Sellers, the Business Sellers and the Transferred
Subsidiaries shall be prevented from, directly or indirectly, (i) soliciting or encouraging any inquiries or proposals for, or continue or enter into any
discussions with respect to, or enter into any agreement providing for, the acquisition by any third party of the EHP Business or (ii) furnishing or causing to
be furnished to any third party any non-public information concerning the EHP Business in connection with any proposed sale thereof, except in each case in
the ordinary course of business or as required by applicable laws and regulations.

Section 6.16 Non Competition, No Solicitation Restricting Parent
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     (a) Commencing on the Closing Date, and until the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date, Parent shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries not to, directly
or indirectly, own, manage, operate, join, control, participate or have any interest in or be connected with, as a partner, shareholder, director, advisor or
consultant, any person or entity that is conducting a Competing Business, except as otherwise permitted below.

     (b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, nothing in this Section 6.16 will:

 (i)  Prohibit or restrict Parent or any of its Affiliates from making a Financial Investment in any Person who engages in a Competing Business;
 
 (ii)  Prohibit or restrict any Person that is not an Affiliate of Parent on the Closing Date and that becomes a controlling Affiliate of Parent following the

Closing Date, by way of a bona fide third-party acquisition of Parent or any of its Affiliates (by way of merger, asset sale or other combination or
otherwise not intended to be a device for the purpose of avoiding this Section 6.16), from continuing to engage in a Competing Business in which
it is engaged at the time it becomes such a controlling Affiliate of Parent; or

 
 (iii)  Prohibit or restrict Parent or any of its Affiliates from acquiring equity interests in a Person (such Person, together with any Affiliate (or portion of

any Affiliate) acquired with such Person, the “Acquired Person”) that is engaged in operating activities, which include a Competing Business, so
long as the Competing Business represented no more than 12.5% of such Person’s consolidated sales in the last 12 full months prior to such
acquisition; in the event the Competing Business represents more than the 12.5% previously mentioned, Parent will, and Parent will cause such
Acquired Person and such Affiliates of Parent to, divest itself or themselves of the assets and operations of such Acquired Person and such
Affiliates of Parent that relate primarily to the Competing Business within 12 months following the date of such acquisition.

     (c) As used in this Section 6.16:

 (i)  “Competing Business” means the activity of manufacturing, marketing or sale of plastic products for home storage and garage organization, food
storage, laundry, bath, cleaning, closet organization and refuse removal within the Territory; and

 
 (ii)  “Financial Investment” means any acquisition of less than 50% of the equity or other ownership interests of a Person to the
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    extent that such interests do not give Parent the right (by law or contract) (A) to appoint executive officers or a number of directors sufficient to
determine board decisions of such Person or (B) to direct or cause the direction of management and policies of such Person.

 
 (iii)  “Territory” means Russia and each country within Europe, the Middle East and Africa.

     (d) Commencing on the Closing Date and until the second anniversary of the Closing Date, Parent shall not, and shall cause each of the Stock Sellers and
the Business Sellers not to, directly or indirectly, (i) induce any Affected Employee to terminate employment with any Transferred Subsidiary, the Purchaser
or any of its Affiliates, and (ii) employ or offer employment to any such person, unless such person shall have ceased to be employed by any Transferred
Subsidiary, the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates at least six months prior to the time such offer of employment is extended, it being agreed that this
Section 6.16(e) shall not prevent Parent or any Stock Seller or Business Seller from (A) engaging in general solicitations of employment not specifically
directed at such employees, or (B) employing any person who has contacted Parent or such Stock Seller or Business Seller on his or her own initiative
without any direct or indirect solicitation (other than general solicitations described in the foregoing clause (A)) by or encouragement from Parent or such
Stock Seller or Business Seller.

Section 6.17 Non Competition, No Solicitation Restricting Purchaser

     (a) Commencing on the Closing Date and until the third anniversary of the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall not, and shall cause the Transferred
Subsidiaries and any of its other Affiliates not to use any of the moulds or any of the intellectual property transferred or made available to the Purchaser (i) as
part of the Assets of the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Transferred Assets, or (ii) under the terms of the Transition Services Agreements referred to in
Section 6.11, so as to, either alone or in conjunction with any other Person, directly or indirectly (including as a member, agent, shareholder or investor or in
any other capacity), within the Territory, engage in, the manufacture or marketing of any products that are the same or similar to, those manufactured or
marketed at any time prior to the Closing Date, as part of the Commercial Products Business of the Newell Rubbermaid group and that are listed in
Schedule 6.17(I), to the extent that such products are to be distributed, sold or otherwise disposed of through any business to business (“BtoB”) channel.

     The parties hereto expressly acknowledge that this provision shall not apply to the portion of the Commercial Products Business of the Newell
Rubbermaid group described in Schedule 6.17(a)(II), for which the Purchaser, on the one hand, and Parent, the Stock Sellers or the Business Sellers, or any of
their affiliates, on the other hand, will enter into the transition services agreements set forth in Section 6.11.

     As used in this Section 6.17(a):
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 •  “BtoB” means the distribution, servicing or marketing of products, for an industrial or commercial use, whether directly by supplying Persons involved
in industrial or commercial activities, or indirectly, including through specialized distributors supplying such products to such Persons;

 
 •  “Commercial Products Business” means the activity of manufacturing, distributing, servicing, selling or marketing plastic products for food service,

material handling, safety, cleaning and waste management activities and which are manufactured by the above stated molds; and
 
 •  “Territory” means the countries listed in Schedule 6.17(a)(III) hereto.

     (b) Commencing on the Closing Date and until the third anniversary of the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall not, and shall cause the Transferred
Subsidiaries and any of its other Affiliates not to use any of the moulds and any of the intellectual property transferred or made available to the Purchaser (i)
as part of the Assets of the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Transferred Assets, or (ii) under the terms of the Transition Services Agreements referred to in
Section 6.11 so as to, either alone or in conjunction with any other Person, directly or indirectly (including as a member, agent, shareholder or investor or in
any other capacity), within the United States of America and Asia, engage in, the manufacture or marketing of any products that are the same or similar to,
those manufactured or marketed at any time prior to the Closing Date, as part of the EHP Business.

Section 6.18 Confidentiality of Information

     For a period of five years following the Closing, Parent shall not, and shall cause its employees and each of the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers and
their respective employees not to, use for any purpose or disclose to any person any proprietary or confidential information relating to the Transferred
Subsidiaries, the Transferred Assets and more generally the EHP Business, except if (A) such information becomes generally available to the public other
than as a result of an act or omission by Parent or such Stock Seller or Business Seller, or (B) Parent, such Stock Seller or Business Seller is requested or
required, in connection with any proceeding by or before a Governmental Authority, to disclose such proprietary or confidential information (or any portion
thereof). In the event that any of Parent, such Stock Seller or Business Seller is required to disclose any such information under any law or regulation, such
person shall, to the extent practicable, promptly notify the Purchaser of such requirement so that the Purchaser may seek an appropriate order in summary
proceedings (référé).

Section 6.19 Termination of the Italian Business Lease

     On or prior to the Closing Date, Parent shall cause Rubbermaid B.V. to cause Curver Italia Srl to terminate, at Parent’s cost, the business lease entered into
with Newell SpA on October 28, 2004, regarding the lease of Curver Italia Sarl’s business to Newell SpA, with effect as of the Closing Date.
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Section 6.20 Finalization of Schedules

     (a) The parties acknowledge that certain of the Schedules referred to in this Agreement are not complete as of the date hereof and expressly agree that
Parent shall have the right to modify, and Purchaser shall have the right to request modifications to, the Schedules to include additional items at any time and
from time to time up to 10 days prior to the Closing Date (except for Schedule 6.2(a) which may only be modified until 10 days prior to completion of the
Secondary Transfer), subject to the prior approval of the other party (such approval not to be unreasonably delayed, refused or withheld).

     (b) In the event Parent or the Purchaser objects to any addition to the Schedules requested by the other party-on the basis that the Asset or Liability that is
proposed to be added to a Schedule does not relate primarily to the EHP Business (or with respect to Schedule 6.2(a) on the basis that such Asset relates
primarily to the EHP Business), Parent and Purchaser shall jointly review the books and records related to such Asset and evaluate if the criteria on the basis
of which the Net Working Capital Positions, the Fixed Assets Positions and the Unaudited Balance Sheets referred to in Section 4.6 (a) have been established
have been respected. If the Asset or Liability in question meets such criteria (or in the case of Secondary Transfers does not meet such criteria), it shall be
added to the relevant Schedule and included under this Agreement as part of the Transferred Assets, Assumed Liabilities or Secondary Transfers, as the case
may be. If it does not meet such criteria (or in the case of Secondary Transfers it does meet such criteria), it shall not be added to the Schedule and shall
instead be retained by the relevant Business Seller or Transferred Subsidiary, as the case may be.

     (c) The Purchaser shall have the right to request modifications of Schedule 6.9, to the extent that such modifications relate to Guarantees and Bonds that
have been issued in order to secure accounting items that are not included in the Closing Net Working Capital.

Section 6.21 Lease Agreements

     (a) The Purchaser and Parent expressly agree that the lease agreements relating to the premises located at Roissy and Brunssum (as such premises are
further described in Schedule 6.21) will be transferred, on the Closing Date, to the Purchaser as part of the EHP Business. Parent shall assume or shall cause
Curver Rubbermaid France SAS to assume a portion of the penalty costs that the Purchaser may be required to pay as a result of the termination of the lease
in Roissy at any time prior to the term of this lease scheduled for March 31, 2006, provided that such portion so assumed by Parent or Curver Rubbermaid
France SAS shall not exceed 1.64 million euros in the aggregate. Any amount that Parent or Curver Rubbermaid France SAS may be required to pay to the
Purchaser under this Section shall be paid by way of a set-off of such amount against the first payments in respect of the Additional Price.

     (b) If for any reason, the Roissy or the Brunssum lease agreement referred to in Section 6.21(a) cannot be transferred to the Purchaser, the Purchaser shall
assume,
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respectively 50% and 60% of the running and termination costs that Parent or the relevant Business Seller may be required to pay as a result of the early
termination of the lease in Roissy or Brunssum and shall pay such amount within 10 days of receipt of a justification of payment of the running costs and
termination fee by Parent.

Section 6.22 Notification of Contract Terminations

     In the event that Parent, any Transferred Subsidiary or any Business Seller receives a notice of termination or cancellation concerning any of the contracts
referred to in Section 4.17(b), Parent shall within three days of receipt of such notice inform the Purchaser of the receipt of the notice (including the reason, if
any, given for termination therein) and the effective date of such termination or cancellation.

53



 

ARTICLE VII

TAXES

Section 7.1 Indemnification

     (a) Parent shall be responsible for and shall indemnify and hold the Purchaser harmless against all Taxes of Parent, the Stock Sellers, the Business Sellers
or the Transferred Subsidiaries, other than (i) any Taxes that are Assumed Liabilities and (ii) any Taxes owed for Tax periods (x) beginning after the Closing
Date or (y) beginning before and ending after the Closing Date, but in such case only for the portion of Taxes attributable to the period beginning on the
Closing Date.

     (b) Parent shall, therefore, be responsible for and shall indemnify and hold the Purchaser harmless against any Tax costs incurred as a result of the
Secondary Transfers described in Section 6.2(a).

     (c) The Purchaser shall be responsible for and shall indemnify and hold Parent, the Stock Sellers or the Business Sellers, harmless against all Taxes (i) of
the Purchaser, or any consolidated, combined or unitary group of which the Purchaser is or will be a member, and (ii) of the Transferred Subsidiaries, other
than any Taxes owed for Tax periods (x) ending prior to the Closing Date or (y) beginning before and ending after the Closing Date, but then only for the
portion of Taxes attributable to the period ended on the Closing Date.

     (d) The Purchaser’s and Parent’s, the Stock Sellers’ and the Business Sellers’ indemnification obligations contained in this Section 7.1 shall be in addition
to those contained in Article XI, shall not be subject to the limitations set forth in Section 11.3(a), and shall survive the Closing and shall continue in full force
and effect until 30 days after the applicable statute of limitations has expired with respect to each Tax referred to in this Section 7.1.

Section 7.2 Filing Responsibility

     (a) Parent shall cause the Business Sellers to timely prepare and file, and shall cause the Stock Sellers to cause the Transferred Subsidiaries to timely
prepare and file, all Tax Returns of the Transferred Subsidiaries or related to the Transferred Assets for all Tax periods ending on or before the Closing Date.

     (b) The Purchaser shall timely prepare and file, or cause to be timely prepared and filed, all Tax Returns of the Transferred Subsidiaries or related to the
Transferred Assets for all tax periods which begin before and end after the Closing Date. The Purchaser shall provide, or cause to be provided, to Parent, the
Stock Sellers or the Business Sellers a substantially final draft of each such Tax Return at least 30 days prior to the due date for filing such Tax Return
(including all attachments thereto, the calculation of the Tax base or Tax and any other requested supporting documentation), for review by such Parent, such
Stock Seller or Business
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Seller, and each such draft shall be provided to Parent, the relevant Stock Seller or Business Seller in any event no less than 15 days prior to such due date.
Parent, the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers shall notify the Purchaser of any reasonable objections each may have to any items set forth in such draft
Tax Return having an adverse effect on Parent’s, the Stock Seller’s or the Business Seller’s liability to pay Taxes pursuant to this Agreement. Upon such
event, the Purchaser and the Parent agree to consult and resolve in good faith any such objection and to mutually consent to the filing of such Tax Return.

Section 7.3 Cooperation

     After the Closing, the Purchaser and Parent, the Stock Sellers or the Business Sellers shall promptly make available or cause to be made available to the
other, as reasonably requested, and to any Tax authority, all information, records or documents relating to Tax Liabilities and potential Tax Liabilities relating
to the Transferred Subsidiaries and the Transferred Assets and/or Assumed Liabilities for all periods prior to or including the Closing Date and shall preserve
all such information, records and documents until the expiration of any applicable statute of limitations or extensions thereof. The Purchaser shall prepare and
provide to Parent, any Stock Seller or Business Seller any Tax information packages requested by Parent, such Stock Seller or Business Seller for use in
preparing such Parent’s, Stock Seller’s or Business Seller’s Tax Returns for any Tax period ended on or prior to the Closing Date. Such Tax information
packages shall be completed by the Purchaser and provided to Parent, such Stock Seller or Business Seller within 75 days after the request therefor. Each
party shall bear its own expenses in complying with the foregoing provisions.

Section 7.4 Refunds or Credits

     Any refunds or credits of Taxes to which the Transferred Subsidiaries may be entitled with respect to Tax periods that ended before the Closing Date or
began before and ended after the Closing Date, together with all interest to be received thereon, shall be recognized as assets of the Transferred Subsidiaries
for the purpose of the determination of the Closing Net Working Capital. The Purchaser will not allow the amendment of any Tax Return relating to any Taxes
for a period (or portion thereof) ending on or prior to the Closing Date or the carryback of an item to a period ending on or prior to the Closing Date without
the prior written consent of Parent or the Stock Sellers.

Section 7.5 Contests

     Whenever any tax authority asserts a claim, makes an assessment, or otherwise disputes the amount of Taxes for which any one of Parent, the Stock Sellers
or the Business Sellers is or may be liable under this Agreement, the Purchaser shall, if informed of such an assertion, promptly inform such Parent, Stock
Seller or Business Seller, and such Parent, Stock Seller or Business Seller shall have the right to control any resulting proceedings and to determine whether
and when to settle any such claim, assessment or dispute to the extent such proceedings or determinations only
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affect the amount of Taxes for which such Parent, Stock Seller or Business Seller may be liable under this Agreement. Whenever any tax authority asserts a
claim, makes an assessment or otherwise disputes the amount of Taxes for which the Purchaser is liable under this Agreement, Parent shall promptly inform
the Purchaser, and the Purchaser shall have the right to control any resulting proceedings and to determine whether and when to settle any such claim,
assessment or dispute to the extent such proceedings or determinations affect only the amount of Taxes for which Purchaser may be liable under this
Agreement.

     Whenever any tax authority asserts a claim, makes an assessment or otherwise disputes the amount of Taxes for which the Purchaser or Parent, the Stock
Sellers or the Business Sellers may be liable under this Agreement, each Party shall, if informed of such an assertion, promptly inform the other Party, and the
Purchaser and Parent agree to consult and determine in good faith, and in respecting the Transferred Subsidiary’s financial interest, any resulting proceedings
and to determine jointly whether and when to settle any such claim, assessment or dispute.

Section 7.6 Tax Audits

     Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Purchaser shall control the representation of the interests of the Transferred Subsidiary in
any Tax audit or administrative or court proceeding relating to Tax Returns with respect to which Parent or such Stock Seller may be liable to pay Taxes
pursuant to this Agreement; provided however, that the Purchaser will consult with Parent and the relevant Stock Seller regarding any Tax issue of a
Transferred Subsidiary related to a period prior to the Closing Date that may have any adverse effect on the Tax liability of Parent or any Stock Seller or
Business Seller and, in such situation, Parent and the relevant Stock Seller shall have the right to instruct the Purchaser, at Parent’s or such Stock Seller’s
expense, on the manner in which such audit or proceeding should be conducted, for Parent’s or such Stock Seller’s portion that relates to the period prior to
the Closing Date, including the arguments that should be submitted and those that should not. The Purchaser may decline to follow such instructions, in which
case Parent and the relevant Stock Sellers shall have no further liability for any Taxes of the relevant Transferred Subsidiary or Business Seller for the
relevant period, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement.
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ARTICLE VIII

CLOSING CONDITIONS; CLOSING STEPS;

LOCAL AGREEMENTS

Section 8.1 Conditions to Obligations of Each Party

     The obligations of the parties to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby are conditioned upon the satisfaction, at or prior to the Closing, of the
following conditions provided, however, that one party may not rely on the failure of any of the following conditions in this Section 8.1 to be satisfied if such
failure was caused by that party’s failure to act in good faith or to use reasonable best efforts to cause the Closing to occur, as required by Section 6.4:

     (a) No statute, rule, regulation or executive order or judgment, decree, temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other order
enacted, entered, promulgated, enforced or issued by any Governmental Authority, or other legal restraint or prohibition preventing the purchase and sale of
the Transferred Stock and the Transferred Assets and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities shall be in effect.

     (b) The waiting period under any applicable law, if applicable to the purchase and sale of the Transferred Stock and the Transferred Assets and the
assumption of the Assumed Liabilities, shall have been terminated or expired.

     (c) The proposed sale of the Transferred Stock and the Transferred Assets and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities as a going concern (including
liabilities relating to the Business Transferred Employees) shall have been notified to the appropriate workers’ councils or similar employees’ representatives,
to the extent and in the manner required under applicable laws, all information and consultation processes with such councils or employees’ representatives
shall have been duly completed and all necessary opinions of such councils or representatives shall have been received by the Transferred Subsidiaries,
Business Sellers and Stock Sellers concerned, and each such Transferred Subsidiary, Business Seller and Stock Seller shall have given due consideration to
such opinions in the context of the proposed sale of the Transferred Stock and the Transferred Assets.

Section 8.2 Conditions to Obligations of the Purchaser

     The obligation of the Purchaser to purchase and pay for the Transferred Stock and the Transferred Assets and to assume the Assumed Liabilities is
conditioned upon the satisfaction or waiver, at or prior to the Closing, of the following conditions:

     (a) Parent shall have delivered to the Purchaser the consents of third parties specified in Schedule 8.2(a). In particular, the approval of the Grand Duchy of
Luxembourg for the transfer of the shares referred to in Schedule 4.2 (b) shall have been obtained.
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     (b) No event shall have occurred since the date hereof that renders it impossible, as evidenced by affidavits of internationally recognized insurance
brokers, for Purchaser to obtain insurance coverage in any insurance market against risks related to the operation of the EHP Business the occurrence of
which would result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 8.3 Partial Closing

     In the event, the conditions relating to workers council notifications have not been satisfied in any of France, Germany or The Netherlands within six
months of the date hereof but all other conditions in this Article VIII have been satisfied, Parent and Purchaser may agree to proceed with the Closing
hereunder and under all Local Agreements the conditions to the consummation of which have been satisfied or, if applicable, waived as of such time. In such
event, the closing under the remaining Local Agreements shall occur as promptly as practical upon the satisfaction of the relevant condition relating to
workers council notification.

Section 8.4 Closing and Closing Date

     The closing of the transactions contemplated hereby (the “Closing”) shall take place at 1 p.m. Paris, France time at the offices of Debevoise & Plimpton
LLP, 21 avenue George V, Paris, France or at such other location agreed to by the parties, as promptly as practicable following, but in any event no later than
(i) the third Business Day after, the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Sections 8.1 and 8.2 hereof and (ii) the 4 month anniversary of the date
of this Agreement; provided, however, that such period shall automatically be extended to the 6 month anniversary of the date of this Agreement if all of the
conditions to Closing set forth in Article VIII have been or are capable of being satisfied at the time of such extension other than the condition set forth in
Section 8.1(b). The date on which the Closing shall occur is referred to herein as the “Closing Date.”

Section 8.5 Closing Requirements

     At the Closing, the following shall occur:

     (a) The Purchaser shall (A) pay to Parent (for subsequent distribution by Parent to the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers, under the sole responsibility
of Parent, as set forth in Section 2.1), by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account designated by Parent on or before the second Business
Day prior to the Closing Date, any amount referred to in Article II as payable on the Closing Date, and (B) deliver to Parent the Note;

     (b) Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, Parent will cause the respective Stock Sellers and Business Sellers to, and the Purchaser will, consummate
the transactions under the various Local Agreements, as set forth on Schedule 8.6(b) hereto, providing for the sale, transfer, assignment or other direct or
indirect conveyance of the Transferred Assets and the Transferred Stock to Purchaser, effective as of the Closing Date.
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     (c) The parties shall execute and cause to be executed the following agreements:

 –  The Transition Services Agreements (as defined in Section 6.11);
 
 –  The transitional intellectual property license agreement referred to in Section 6.12;
 
 –  The escrow agreement referred to in Section 6.2(b); and
 
 –  The agreement relating to Parent’s indemnification of Purchaser for obligations arising under the German pension funds.

     Each relevant Stock Seller shall deliver or cause to be delivered letters of resignation of the board members and auditors or, as the case may be, the general
partner, of each relevant Transferred Subsidiary in accordance with Section 6.10;

     (d) Each Business Seller shall deliver, and each Stock Seller shall cause each Transferred Subsidiary to deliver, resolutions of the board of management,
supervisory board, board of directors, or obtain a vote of shareholders at a general meeting of such shareholders of such Business Seller or such Transferred
Subsidiary acknowledging or approving the transfer of the Transferred Stock and Transferred Assets and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities, wherever
any such acknowledgement or approval is required by law or under the constitutional documents of such Business Seller or Transferred Subsidiary; (f) Parent
shall deliver to the Purchaser a certificate dated the Closing Date attesting the representations and warranties of Parent, for its own account or on behalf of the
Stock Sellers, the Business Sellers or the Transferred Subsidiaries, contained in this Agreement are true and correct in all respects, as of the time of the
Closing as though made as of such time.

     (e) The Purchaser shall deliver to Parent a certificate dated the Closing Date attesting the representations and warranties of the Purchaser contained in this
Agreement are true and correct in all respects, as of the time of the Closing as though made as of such time.

     (f) Parent shall deliver to the Purchaser a certificate dated the Closing Date attesting all of the obligations and covenants of Parent, for its own account or
on behalf of the Stock Sellers, the Business Sellers or the Transferred Subsidiaries, (including the Secondary Transfers) required to be performed at or prior to
the Closing pursuant to the terms hereof shall have been duly performed in all material respects.

     (g) The Purchaser shall deliver to Parent a certificate dated the Closing Date attesting all of the obligations and covenants of the Purchaser required to be
performed at or prior to the Closing pursuant to the terms hereof shall have been duly performed in all material respects.
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     (h) All other payments required to be made by a party on the Closing Date pursuant to this Agreement or any other agreement signed prior to the Closing
Date (including the one referred to in Section 6.6 (b) (iii) an the one referred to in Section 6.7 (d)) shall be paid;

     (i) All other documents, instruments and writings required to be delivered by a party at or prior to the Closing Date pursuant to this Agreement shall be
delivered (if not previously delivered) to the party entitled thereto, including, for the avoidance of doubt, all documents evidencing the satisfaction or waiver
of the conditions or requirements set forth in Article VIII: and

     (j) Parent will cause each Stock Seller to cause each Transferred Subsidiary to deliver (i) resolutions of its respective board of management, supervisory
board or board of directors approving, for purposes of submission to the statutory auditors, the December 31, 2004 financial statements of such entity, (ii) the
unaudited financial statements as of and for December 31, 2004 and (iii) to the extent they can be prepared prior to completion of the audit by the statutory
auditors, management reports (“rapport de gestion”)(and other documents required for purposes of the statutory auditors’ review) on such financial
statements.

Section 8.6 Local Agreements

     (a) Parent, on the one hand, shall cause each Stock Seller and each Business Seller to enter and the Purchaser, on the other hand, shall enter into local
agreements on or prior to the Closing Date, in order to effect the transfers of the Transferred Stock and the Transferred Assets and the assumption of the
Assumed Liabilities contemplated herein.

     (b) Each Local Agreement will be drafted on the basis of the indications of Exhibit F, but with such variations as may be required to satisfy the
requirements of local law, to adapt such agreement to the particular circumstances confronted in each country or to cover such additional matters as may be
agreed upon by Parent and the Purchaser, in each case as may be negotiated in good faith by Parent and the Purchaser;

     (c) To the extent possible and advisable under local law and practice, each Local Agreement shall incorporate by reference the terms of this Agreement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of any inconsistency between the provisions of this Agreement and the provisions of a Local Agreement, the
provisions of this Agreement shall prevail and Parent (acting for itself and on behalf of the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers) and the Purchaser shall
ensure that the inconsistent provisions of the relevant Local Agreement are adjusted to the extent necessary and permitted under local rules to give effect to
the provisions of this Agreement. In the event local rules prevent the parties from making such adjustments, Parent and the Purchaser shall enter into such
additional arrangements as necessary to preserve the economic and legal substance of the arrangements initially contemplated herein.
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ARTICLE IX

SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS; INDEMNIFICATION

Section 9.1 Damages

     (a) Parent, the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers shall indemnify and hold harmless the Purchaser and the Transferred Subsidiaries from and against
any and all claims, losses, damages, Liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and Taxes incurred by the Purchaser as a
result of such indemnification) (collectively, “Damages”) actually suffered or paid by the Purchaser or any Transferred Subsidiary as a result of the breach by
such Parent, Stock Seller or Business Seller of (i) any representation or warranty made by Parent for its own account or on behalf of the Stock Sellers or the
Business Sellers in this Agreement, and (ii) any covenant, undertaking or other agreement of Parent for its own account or on behalf of the Stock Sellers or
the Business Sellers contained in this Agreement, it being agreed that each of Parent’s, the Stock Seller’s or Business Sellers’ liability for such breach shall be
determined as set forth in Section 11.2.

     (b) The Purchaser hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Parent, the Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers against Damages actually suffered or
paid by such Parent, such Stock Seller or such Business Seller as a result of the breach by the Purchaser of (i) any representation or warranty made by the
Purchaser in this Agreement and (ii) any covenant, undertaking or other agreement of the Purchaser contained in this Agreement.

     (c) Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, the indemnification provided for in this Article IX shall constitute the sole remedy of any
party to the Agreement with respect to (i) breaches by any other party to this Agreement or any of the representations, warranties, agreements or covenants
contained in this Agreement or any Local Agreement, (ii) any events, circumstances or conditions which are the subject of the representations, warranties,
covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement or any Local Agreement, (iii) any other matters related to the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement or any Local Agreement, and (iv) any other events, circumstances or conditions relating to the ownership or operation of the Transferred
Subsidiaries, the Transferred Assets and the Assumed Liabilities, prior to the Closing Date.

     (d) To the extent that Parent, any Stock Seller or any Business Seller discharges any claim for indemnification hereunder, Parent, such Stock Seller or such
Business Seller shall be subrogated, if legally possible, to all related rights of the Purchaser against third parties. To the extent that the Purchaser discharges
any claim for indemnification hereunder, the Purchaser shall be subrogated, if legally possible, to all related rights of the Parent, any Stock Seller or any
Business Seller against third parties.
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     (e) Each party seeking indemnification under this Article IX (an “Indemnified Party”) shall be obligated in connection with any claim for indemnification
under this Article IX to use its reasonable best efforts to mitigate Damages upon and after becoming aware of any event which could reasonably be expected
to give rise to such Damages.

Section 9.2 Administration of Claims

     (a) Any Indemnified Party shall give each party from whom indemnification is being sought (each, an “Indemnifying Party”) notice of each matter for
which such Indemnified Party is seeking indemnification (the “Indemnification Notice”), including a detailed description of the facts on the basis of which
indemnification is being sought, a statement of the estimated amount of the alleged Damages and a reference to the provisions of this Agreement in respect of
which such indemnification is being sought.

     (b) Within 30 days from the date on which the Indemnified Party becomes aware of the existence of the Damages (other than as a result of any claim
asserted by a third party) in respect of which any Indemnifying Party may be liable under Section 9.1, the Indemnified Party shall give the Indemnification
Notice to the Indemnifying Parties in accordance with Section 11.9.

     (c) Within 30 days of receipt of an Indemnification Notice, the relevant Indemnifying Party shall pay the Indemnified Party the amount specified in such
Indemnification Notice, unless the Indemnifying Party delivers a notice of disagreement with the relevant indemnification claim within fifteen (15) days of its
receipt of such Indemnification Notice. For a period of thirty (30) days following receipt of such notice of disagreement, the Indemnifying Party and the
Indemnified Party shall seek in good faith to resolve the matters set forth in such notice. In the event the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party are
unable to resolve such matters within this thirty-day period, either the Indemnifying Party or the Indemnified Party may commence proceedings in accordance
with Section 11.5.

Section 9.3 Third Party Claims

     (a) The obligations of an Indemnifying Party under this Article IX with respect to Damages arising from any claims of any third party which are subject to
the indemnification provided for in this Article IX (collectively, “Third Party Claims”) shall be governed by and contingent upon the following additional
terms and conditions:

 (i)  If an Indemnified Party shall receive, after the Closing Date, initial notice of any Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party shall give the
Indemnifying Party notice of such Third Party Claim within such time frame as necessary to allow for a timely response and in any event within
30 days of the receipt by the Indemnified Party of such notice.
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 (ii)  The Indemnifying Party shall be entitled to assume and control the defense of such Third Party Claim at its expense and through counsel of its
choice if it gives notice of its intention to do so to the Indemnified Party within 30 days of the receipt of such notice from the Indemnified Party
(and the Indemnified Party shall authorize the Indemnifying Party to so assume and control the defense of such Third Party claim as an agent or
otherwise as permitted by applicable laws).

 
 (iii)  In the event the Indemnifying Party exercises the right to undertake any such defense against any such Third Party Claim as provided above,

the Indemnified Party shall cooperate with the Indemnifying Party in such defense and make available to the Indemnifying Party, at the
Indemnifying Party’s expense, all witnesses, pertinent records, materials and information in the Indemnified Party’s possession or under the
Indemnified Party’s control relating thereto as is reasonably required by the Indemnifying Party. Similarly, in the event the Indemnified Party
is, directly or indirectly, conducting the defense against any such Third Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall cooperate with the
Indemnified Party in such defense and make available to the Indemnified Party, at the Indemnifying Party’s expense, all such witnesses,
records, materials and information in the Indemnifying Party’s possession or under the Indemnifying Party’s control relating thereto as is
reasonably required by the Indemnified Party.

 
 (iv)  No Third Party Claim which is being defended by the Indemnified Party as provided above in this Section 9.3 shall be settled by the

Indemnified Party without the written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).

Section 9.4 Duration

     All claims for indemnification under Section 9.1 must be asserted on or prior to the date that is 30 days after the termination of the respective survival
periods set forth in this Section 9.4. The representations and warranties contained in this Agreement shall survive the Closing Date and the completion of the
transactions contemplated herein, but only to the extent specified below:

     (a) Except as set forth in clause (b) below, the representations and warranties and the related indemnification obligations contained in this Agreement shall
survive for a period ending eighteen (18) months as from the Closing Date.

     (b) The representations and warranties contained in Sections 4.12 and 4.16 and the related indemnification obligations as well as the indemnification
obligations contained in Section 9.6 (b) below shall survive until the expiration of the statute of
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limitations applicable to the particular matter at issue as extended, as the case may be, pursuant to any relevant provision of any applicable law.

Section 9.5 Limits on Indemnification with respect to breaches of representations and warranties

     (a) None of Parent, the Stock Sellers or the Business Sellers shall be required to indemnify the Purchaser pursuant to Section 9.1(a), (i) unless the
aggregate amount of Damages (after reduction as provided in Section 9.5(d)), for which (A) Parent, such Stock Seller or Business Seller would otherwise be
required to indemnify the Purchaser hereunder in respect of any individual breach of a representation and warranty or series of related breaches arising out of
the same facts and circumstances exceeds $ 7,500 , and (ii) unless and until the aggregate amount of all Damages in respect of all claims against one or more
of Parent, the Stock Sellers or the Business Sellers pursuant to Section 9.1(a) exceeds $ 500,000, and in such case Parent, the Stock Sellers or the Business
Sellers shall only be required to indemnify the Purchaser for Damages in excess of the first $ 500,000 of Damages.

     (b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement but subject to Section 9.6, the maximum amount of Damages for which Parent,
the Stock Sellers or the Business Sellers shall be obligated to indemnify the Purchaser and the Transferred Subsidiaries under Section 9.1(a) as a result of the
delivery of an Indemnification Notice in respect of any individual breach of a representation and warranty pursuant to Section 9.2 or 9.3 shall be limited to (i)
the cash portion of the Initial Purchase Price actually received by Parent less any amounts paid by Parent under Section 3.1(f) plus any amounts paid to Parent
in cash under the Note and pursuant to Section 3.2(f) as determined on the date of delivery of such Indemnification Notice less (ii) the aggregate amount of
Damages in respect of breaches of representations and warranties already indemnified by Parent, any Stock Seller or Business Seller as calculated
immediately prior to the payment to be made by Parent, any Stock Seller or Business Seller as a result of such Indemnification Notice in accordance with this
Article IX. For the avoidance of any doubt, the Adjusted Closing Date Cash Position (or any portion thereof) shall not be taken into account for the purpose of
calculating the Purchase Price actually paid to Parent under this Section 9.5. The same limit will apply to the obligation of the Purchaser to indemnify Parent,
the Stock Sellers or the Business Sellers under Section 9.1 (b).

     (c) The rights of the Purchaser to indemnification under clause (a) of Section 9.1 shall be further limited as follows:

 (i)  The Purchaser shall not be entitled to receive Damages in respect of any claim to the extent that (A) such Damages would not have arisen but for
the enactment of any legislation not in effect on the Closing Date or any change of any law or administrative practice of any governmental
agency on and after the Closing Date or any change in any generally accepted accounting principles, including in each case any legislation or
change which takes effect retroactively, (B) such Damages have arisen
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    as a result of any act or omission by the Purchaser on or after the Closing Date (including resulting from any change in its accounting
principles, practices or methodologies and any Damages arising from any breach by the Purchaser of its obligations, for its own account or on
behalf of its Affiliates, under this Agreement or any Local Agreement), (C) such Damages (in whole or in part) are the result of any reduction
of the aggregate amount of Tax losses carry forward of the Transferred Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date.

 (ii)  The amount of any Damages incurred by the Purchaser shall be reduced by (A) the net amount of the Tax benefits realizable by the Purchaser
by reason of such Damages or (B) an amount equivalent to any damages, indemnification, restitution or reimbursement or any other amounts,
net of Taxes, recovered or recoverable on or after the Closing Date by the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries including the Transferred
Subsidiaries from a third party (including any insurer of the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries including the Transferred Subsidiaries) in
relation to the act, matter, omission or circumstance giving rise to the claim for indemnification.

 
 (iii)  The Purchaser shall not be entitled to any indemnification under this Article IX in relation to (A) any Tax adjustment or assessment that only

has a timing effect and results in the mere shifting of Tax over time, including depreciation or (B) any decrease in any current asset or
Transferred Assets or increase in any liability of the Transferred Subsidiaries or in any Assumed Liabilities arising on or after the Closing Date,
as compared with the corresponding amounts recorded in the Financial Statements directly resulting from any change to accounting principles
actually applied by the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries including the Transferred Subsidiaries on or after the Closing Date.

Section 9.6 Specific Indemnities

     (a) The provisions of Section 9.5(b) shall not apply to any claim for indemnification against Parent, any Stock Seller or Business Seller arising out of or as
a result of a breach of representations set forth in Section 4.8(a), 4.12 and 4.16. In the event of any claim for indemnification brought by the Purchaser or the
Transferred Subsidiaries as a result of one or more incomplete or missing Assets pursuant to Section 4.8(a), Parent, the relevant Business Seller or Stock
Seller shall have the option to satisfy such indemnification obligation in cash or by delivery of a substantially equivalent Asset.

     (b) The provisions of Section 9.5(b) shall not apply to any claim for indemnification against Parent or the relevant Stock Seller(s) arising out of or as a
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result of any third party claim challenging the validity of the droit de superficie relating to land located in Niedercorn held by Rubbermaid Luxembourg Sàrl
under an agreement with the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.

Section 9.7 Indemnities for Assumed Liabilities

     (a) Each Business Seller shall indemnify and keep indemnified the Purchaser against any Liability of any relevant Business Seller which is not an
Assumed Liability, including any such Liability which is deemed to be, or becomes, a Liability of the Purchaser by virtue of any applicable law and which is
not otherwise assumed by the Purchaser under this Agreement or any Local Agreement; and

     (b) The Purchaser shall indemnify and keep indemnified each Business Seller against:

 (i)  all Assumed Liabilities;
 
 (ii)  the Liabilities arising on and after the Closing Date in connection with the EHP Business, under the Transferred Contracts or under the

Transferred Permits; and
 
 (iii)  Any and all other Liabilities arising from and after the Closing Date in connection with the EHP Business, including for the avoidance of

doubt, any such Liability which is or is deemed to be or becomes a Liability of any Business Seller by virtue of any applicable law.

     The provisions of Section 9.5 shall not apply to this Section.
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ARTICLE X

TERMINATION

Section 10.1 Termination

     This Agreement may be terminated and the transactions contemplated herein may be abandoned at any time prior to the Closing by the mutual consent of
Parent and the Purchaser, or by the Parent or the Purchaser as a result of the expiration of the 4-month period (or 6-month as the case may be) in accordance
with Section 8.4.

     This Agreement may also be terminated at any time prior to Closing by the non-breaching party as a result of a breach by the other party of any of its
material obligations or covenants, in accordance with the provisions of the French Civil Code, and shall have not cured such breach with 15 days of notice
thereof, in such circumstances, the non-breaching party shall be entitled to reimbursement of 50% of its out-of-pocket costs and expenses relating to the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the costs and expenses of its respective counsel, financial advisors and accountants. In the event that
the non-breaching party decides, in such circumstances, not to terminate the Agreement, and therefore to consummate the transactions contemplated
hereunder, the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect, including Article IX.

Section 10.2 Effect of Termination or Absence of Closing

     In the event that this Agreement shall be terminated pursuant to Section 10.1 or that the Closing shall not have occurred, those rights and obligations and
limitation of liabilities which by their nature are intended to survive, shall survive and accrued rights of action under any provision shall not be prejudiced,
except for the case where the conditions are not fulfilled without any bad faith of any party.
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ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.1 Disclosure Schedules

     Any matter disclosed in any Schedule referred to in Article IV, as such Schedules shall be supplemented in accordance with Section 4.19 hereof, shall be
deemed disclosed for all purposes and all other Schedules referred to in Article IV, to the extent it is reasonably apparent from a reading of the disclosure that
such disclosure is applicable to such other Schedules, except that such Section 11.1. shall not apply to the documents listed in Schedule 1.3 and identified in
the index attached in Schedule 4.21(I) as sensitive documents.

Section 11.2 Liability of Parent and the Stock Sellers and Business Sellers

     It is expressly understood and agreed that with respect to the representations and warranties, agreements, covenants and other obligations set forth in this
Agreement, Parent, on the one hand, and each Stock Seller or Business Seller, on the other hand, shall be jointly and severally liable but that as among the
Stock Sellers and the Business Sellers, any such liability shall be several and not joint with any other Stock Seller or Business Seller and shall be solely in
proportion to such Stock Sellers’ or Business Sellers’ respective ownership in the Transferred Stock, Transferred Assets or Assumed Liabilities, as the case
may be.

Section 11.3 Expenses

     (a) Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, and except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the parties hereto shall pay
all of their own costs and expenses relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the costs and expenses of their respective counsel,
financial advisors and accountants.

     (b) With respect to the Transferred Stock, all stamps, transfer, documentary, sales, use, value added, registration, property, excise and other such taxes
(including all applicable real estate transfer or gain taxes) and fees (including any penalties, interest and additions to such taxes) incurred in connection with
this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (other than capital gain taxes) shall be paid by the Purchaser, and the Purchaser shall cooperate with
the Stock Sellers and Parent shall cause the Stock Sellers to cooperate with the Purchaser, in timely making all filings, returns, reports and forms as may be
required to comply with the provisions of such tax laws. Parent shall cause each Stock Seller to pay any capital gain taxes due as a result of the sale of its
portion of the Transferred Stock.

     (c) The allocation of the tax-related costs between the Purchaser and the Business Seller with respect to the Transferred Assets and the Assumed Liabilities
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shall be governed by each relevant Local Agreement. Whenever possible under local law and regulation, all such costs shall be borne and paid by the
Purchaser.

Section 11.4 No Offset

     Any payments due from a party under this Agreement other than payments to be made on the Closing Date, which may be netted against one another upon
the mutual agreement of the parties, shall be made in the full amount due in accordance with the terms hereof without any deduction or offset for any amount
owing to such party except as expressly provided for in Sections 3.1(f) and 6.21.

Section 11.5 Governing Law; Arbitration

     (a) The interpretation and construction of this Agreement, and all matters relating hereto, shall be governed by the laws of France without giving effect to
any conflict of law provisions thereof.

     (b) Except as provided for in Section 3.1(d) and Section 3.2(e), any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of, relating to, or in connection with this
Agreement, or the breach, termination or validity thereof, shall be finally settled by arbitration. The arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the
International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) Rules of Arbitration in effect at the time of the arbitration, except as they may be modified herein or by mutual
agreement of the parties hereto (the “ICC Rules”). The seat of the arbitration shall be Geneva, Switzerland, and it shall be conducted in the English language,
provided that either party may submit testimony or documentary evidence in any language if it furnishes, upon the request of the other party, a translation into
English of any such testimony or documentary evidence. The parties expressly waive and exclude, pursuant to Article 192 of Chapter 12 of the Swiss Private
International Law Act, the right to bring any setting aside proceeding pursuant to Article 190 of Chapter 12 of the Act.

     (c) The arbitration shall be conducted by three arbitrators, provided that the chair of the tribunal shall be a citizen of the United States. The party initiating
arbitration (the “Claimant”) shall appoint an arbitrator in its request for arbitration (the “Request”). The other party (the “Respondent”) shall appoint an
arbitrator within 30 days of receipt of the Request and shall notify the Claimant of such appointment in writing. If within 30 days of receipt of the Request by
the Respondent, either party has not appointed an arbitrator, then that arbitrator shall be appointed by the International Chamber of Commerce. The first two
arbitrators appointed in accordance with this provision shall appoint a third arbitrator within 30 days after the Respondent has notified Claimant of the
appointment of the Respondent’s arbitrator or, in the event of a failure by a party to appoint, within 30 days after the International Chamber of Commerce has
notified the parties and any arbitrator already appointed of its appointment of an arbitrator on behalf of the party failing to appoint. When the third arbitrator
has accepted the appointment, the two arbitrators making the appointment shall promptly notify the parties of the appointment. If the first two arbitrators
appointed fail to appoint a third arbitrator or so to notify the parties within the time period prescribed above, then the International Chamber of Commerce
shall
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appoint the third arbitrator and shall promptly notify the parties of the appointment. The third arbitrator shall act as Chair of the tribunal.

     (d) Parent and the Purchaser agree that the arbitration shall be kept confidential and that the existence of the proceeding and any element of it (including
any pleadings, briefs or other documents submitted or exchanged, any testimony or other oral submissions, and any awards) shall not be disclosed beyond the
tribunal, the International Chamber of Commerce, the parties, their counsel and any person necessary to the conduct of the proceeding, except as may be
lawfully required in judicial proceedings relating to the arbitration or otherwise.

     (e) The arbitral award shall be in writing, state the reasons for the award, and be final and binding on the parties. The award may include an award of costs,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements.

Section 11.6 Captions

     The Article and Section captions used herein and in the Schedules are for reference purposes only, and shall not in any way affect the meaning or
interpretation of this Agreement.

Section 11.7 Publicity

     Prior to the Closing, no party hereto shall issue any press release or make any other public statement, in each case relating to or connected with or arising
out of this Agreement or the matters contained herein, without obtaining the prior approval of the other party, except as such party believes, after receiving the
advice of outside counsel, may be required by law or by any listing agreement with or listing rules of a national securities exchange or trading market or inter-
dealer quotation system to which such party is subject, in which case, the party proposing to issue such press release or make such public statement shall use
its reasonable best efforts to consult in good faith with the other parties before issuing such press release or making such public statement. The requirements
of this Section 11.7 shall be in addition to those included in the Confidentiality Agreement.

Section 11.8 Records

     After the Closing, the Purchaser shall afford Parent and its attorneys, accountants, officers and other representatives reasonable access, during normal
business hours, to the books and records of the Transferred Subsidiaries and to the Transferred Books and Records (and shall permit such Persons to examine
and copy such books and records to the extent reasonably requested by such Person). The Purchaser shall, and shall cause the directors, officers and
employees of the Transferred Subsidiaries and the relevant Business Transferred Employees to, furnish all information requested by Parent in connection with
financial reporting and tax matters (including financial and tax audits and tax contests), third party litigation and other similar business purposes. The
Purchaser shall, and shall cause the Transferred Subsidiaries to, maintain all such books and records in the jurisdiction in which such books and records were
located prior to the Closing Date if required by applicable law
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and shall not destroy or dispose of any such books and records without the prior written consent of Parent; provided, however, that the Purchaser shall be
entitled to destroy any of such books and records after the seventh anniversary of the Closing Date with the prior written consent of Parent; provided further,
however, that if Parent does not consent to the destruction of such books and records, the Purchaser may deliver them to Parent.

Section 11.9 Notices

     Any notice or other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be sufficiently given if delivered in person, transmitted via facsimile (with
confirmation thereof), or sent by telecopy or by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, or recognized overnight courier service addressed as follows:

     (a) If to the Purchaser:

Jardin International Holding BV
Ericsson Straat 17
POB 224 5120 Rijen, The Netherlands

Attention: Managing and Financial Officer
Tel: 31- 161 228 300
Fax: 31 – 161 228 387

with a copy to: Eubelius
5-7 rue de la Bonté 1000 Brussels Belgium
Attention: Jeanine Windey_
Tel: 32 – 2 548 31 48
Fax: 32 – 2 543 3101

(b) If to Parent:

Newell Rubbermaid Inc.
1OB Glenlake Parkway
Suite 600
Atlanta, Georgia 30328
USA

Attention: General Counsel
Tel: /770 4073838
Fax: /770 4073987

with a copy to: Debevoise & Plimpton
Attention: Antoine F. Kirry/Marc Castagnède

_____________________________
Tel: 33 1 40 73 12 12
Fax: 33 1 47 20 50 82
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     or such other address or number as shall be furnished in writing by any such person, and such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been given
(a) as of the date so personally delivered, transmitted via facsimile or sent by telecopy, (b) on the third Business Day after the mailing thereof or (c) on the
first Business Day after delivery by recognized overnight courier service.

Section 11.10 Parties in Interest

     This Agreement may not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated by any party hereto (whether by operation of law or otherwise) without the
prior written consent of the other party, except that the Purchaser may designate one or more of its wholly-owned Subsidiaries to enjoy all or a portion of its
rights and perform all or portion of its obligations under this Agreement; provided, however, that in the event of such designation by the Purchaser, the
Purchaser shall unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee to Parent the prompt and full discharge by such other Subsidiaries of the Purchaser of all of the
Purchaser’s obligations under this Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof. The Purchaser also hereby agrees that, if such other Subsidiaries of the
Purchaser fail to perform and discharge promptly all such obligations and Liabilities in accordance with such terms, the Purchaser will, forthwith, at the
request of Parent, perform and discharge the same. The unconditional obligation of the Purchaser hereunder will not be affected, impaired or released by any
extension, waiver or amendment (other than such Subsidiaries’ performance). This Agreement, and all rights and obligations hereunder, shall be binding upon
and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

Section 11.11 Counterparts

     This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one instrument.

Section 11.12 Entire Agreement

     This Agreement, including the Exhibits, Schedules and all Ancillary Documents which form a part hereof, and the Confidentiality Agreement, contain the
entire understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter contained herein and therein. This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements and
understandings between the parties with respect to such subject matter other than the Confidentiality Agreement (subject to the terms of Section 6.3(e)).

Section 11.13 Third Party Beneficiaries

     Except as provided in Section 11.8, nothing in this Agreement, including without limitation Section 6.6, shall confer any rights upon any Person or entity
which is not a party or a successor or permitted assignee of a party to this Agreement.
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Section 11.14 Brokers

     Parent and the Purchaser shall be solely responsible for all fees, expenses and other costs payable to, or incurred by, brokers or finders that have acted for
such party in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, including any brokerage fee, finder’s fee or commission in respect
thereof. Parent shall also be solely responsible for all fees payable to investment bankers, other than any fees paid in full by the Transferred Subsidiaries prior
to the Closing, that acted for the Transferred Subsidiaries in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 11.15 Amendments, Waivers

     (a) This Agreement may only be modified by a written amendment duly executed by the Purchaser and Parent.

     (b) No tolerance or inaction on the part of any of the parties hereto may be construed as a waiver of its rights under this Agreement.

Section 11.16 Severability

     If any provision of this Agreement (or any portion thereof) or the application of any such provision (or any portion thereof) to any Person or circumstance
shall be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect by a court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect
any other provision hereof (or the remaining portion thereof) or the application of such provision to any other Persons or circumstances.

Section 11.17 Interpretation

     For the purposes hereof, the words “hereof,” “herein” and “herewith” and words of similar import shall, unless otherwise stated, be construed to refer to
this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement, and Article, Section, Paragraph, Exhibit and Schedule references are to the
Articles, Sections, Paragraphs, Exhibits and Schedules of this Agreement unless otherwise specified.

     Whenever the words “include,” “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement they shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without
limitation.”

     The words describing the singular number shall include the plural and vice versa, and words denoting any gender shall include all genders and words
denoting natural persons shall include corporations and partnerships and vice versa.

     The phrase “made available” in this Agreement shall mean that the information referred to has been made available if requested by the party to whom such
information is to be made available.
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     The phrases “the date of this Agreement,” “the date hereof” and terms of similar import, unless the context otherwise requires, shall be deemed to refer to
the date first written above, which is the date of execution.

     As used in this Agreement, the term “Business Day” means a day, other than a Saturday or a Sunday, on which banking institutions in the city of Paris are
required to be open.

     The parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation
arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any
party by virtue of the authorship of any provisions of this Agreement.

Section 11.18 Certain Definitions

     (a) The following terms used herein shall have the following meanings:

     “Accounts Receivable” means the accounts receivable owing to any of the Business Sellers or the Transferred Subsidiaries, as the case may be, to the
extent that they arise primarily in the course of the EHP Business (and whether or not yet due or payable) at Closing, to be transferred at Closing.

     “Adjusted EBIT” means the EBIT (as defined in Schedule 3.2) generated by the EHP Business adjusted (a) to exclude any extraordinary expenses, one-
time items, restructuring costs (other than the Restructuring Costs directly relating to the restructuring of the EHP Business following this transaction to the
extent that they have been incurred on or prior to the end of the 21st month following the Closing Date), any expense incurred in connection with the
consummation of the transactions contemplated herein and other costs and expenses set forth in Schedule 3.2. For purposes of this definition, “Restructuring
Costs” shall mean all amounts paid to Affected Employees that are terminated pursuant to a collective lay-off plan following the Closing Date and whose
termination becomes effective no later than the end of the 21st month following the Closing Date.

     “Affected Employees” means the Business Transferred Employees, the Stock Transferred Employees and the Other Affected Employees.

     “Affiliates” means, with respect to any specified Person, a Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls, or is Controlled
by, or is under common Control with, the Person specified.

     “Ancillary Documents” means the Local Agreements, the agreements described in Section 2.3, and all other agreements to be executed on or after the date
hereof and necessary to the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement.

     “Assets” means all assets, rights, properties, claims and contracts of every kind, nature, character and description, tangible and intangible, wherever
located.
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     “Business Transferred Employees” means the employees (including employees on vacation, leave of absence, short or long term disability) of the Business
Sellers employed primarily in the conduct of the EHP Business and to be transferred as of the Closing Date to the Purchaser pursuant to the Transfer
Provisions.

     “Cash” means the aggregate amount of cash on hand or credited to any account with a financial institution and short term investment securities (with a
maturity of less than three months) which are readily convertible into cash other than treasury shares less the amount of any check or payment order of
whatever nature issued by the Transferred Subsidiaries in favor of any third party prior to the Closing Date and not yet cleared or otherwise applied against
the relevant credit balances on the Closing Date.

     “Control” (including the correlative terms “Controlled by” and “under common Control with”) means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to
direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting equity interest, by contract or otherwise.

     “Employment Costs” means a sum equivalent to the aggregate of (i) the amount payable or paid in respect of the employment of any Business Transferred
Employee or any Other Affected Employee (including, but not limited to, salary, wages, tax and social security contributions, employer’s pension
contributions, bonus, insurance premium, payments or allowances or any other consideration for employment) and (ii) the cost of providing any non-cash
benefits, which the employer provides by law or contract or informal custom or arrangement in connection with such employment (including, but not limited
to, other employee benefit provisions).

     “Employment Liabilities” means in relation to any Business Transferred Employee or any Other Affected Employee, any and all losses arising out of or
connected with his or her employment or the employment relationship, or termination of his or her employment, or of the employment relationship (including,
but not limited to, all losses in connection with any claim for redundancy pay, or damages or compensation for unfair or wrongful dismissal or breach of
contract).

     “Environmental Laws” means any applicable law whose subject matter is the protection of the natural environment against the effects of Hazardous
Substances, excluding any zoning, space planning, architectural design and other laws of such types.

     “Financial Debt” means the indebtedness owed by the Transferred Subsidiaries, to certain third parties as further described in paragraphs (i) through
(iii) below:

 (i)  indebtedness recorded on the books of the Transferred Subsidiaries, as long term bank debt;
 
 (ii)  indebtedness recorded on the books of the Transferred Subsidiaries as short term bank debt, including overdrafts;
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 (iii)  any security issued or assumed by any of the Transferred Subsidiaries in order to secure any of the financial debt referred to in clauses (i) and
(ii) above.

     “Governmental Authorities” means any foreign, federal, state or local governmental or regulatory body, agency or authority.

     “Hazardous Substances” means pollutants, contaminants, hazardous or toxic materials, wastes or chemicals.

     “knowledge” of any Person means, for an individual, actual knowledge, and for a legal entity, the actual knowledge of the individual that is a senior
manager of such entity resulting from a written communication specifically addressed to such individual (and with respect to environmental matters set forth
in Section 4.16, the reasonable knowledge of the individual in charge of the supervision of such matters).

     “Liabilities” means all liabilities, duties and obligations of every description, whether deriving from contract, law, statute or otherwise, actual or
contingent, ascertained or unascertained or disputed and whether owed or incurred severally or jointly or as principal or surety, including accounts payable
but excluding Financial Debt.

     “Local Agreement” means any agreement (each of which shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit F) to be entered into by Parent, a Stock Seller or a
Business Seller, on the one hand, and the Purchaser, on the other hand, on or prior to the Closing Date as required under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction
in order to ensure (i) the effective transfer of legal title to the Transferred Stock and/or (ii) the effective transfer of legal title to the Transferred Assets and the
assumption of the Assumed Liabilities, in each case in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

     “Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on all or a substantial part of the business, Assets, financial condition or results of operations of
the Transferred Subsidiaries and Business Sellers (it being understood that the reference to “business”, for the Transferred Subsidiaries, is to the currently
conducted, ongoing business of these Transferred Subsidiaries as a going concern, and for the Business Sellers, is to the currently conducted, ongoing
business primarily relating to the EHP Business, of these Business Seller as a going concern), or on the ability of each of Parent, the Stock Seller or the
Business Seller to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby in a timely manner, except in each case for any disruptions caused by or arising out of (i)
any adverse change in the general economic environment or in the industry where the Transferred Subsidiaries or the Business Sellers operate, (ii) the
enactment of any legislation or any significant change of any law or administrative practice or any change in applicable generally accepted accounting
principles, (iii) the marketing of the EHP Business by Parent to potential buyers or the announcement of the sale of the EHP Business to Purchaser under the
terms of this Agreement and in accordance with Section 11.7, it being expressly acknowledged that the EHP Business has been incurring and may continue to
incur significant operating losses.
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     “Net Working Capital” has the meaning ascribed to it in Schedule 3.1(a).

     “Permitted Liens” means (i) Liens for taxes, assessments or governmental charges or levies on property not yet due and payable or that are being contested
in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (ii) statutory, common law or contractual Liens of mechanics, carriers, workmen, repairmen and other like Liens
arising from or incurred in the ordinary course of business, (iii) Liens arising under equipment leases with third parties entered into in the ordinary course of
business.

     “Person” means an individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization or
government or political subdivision thereof.

     “Stock Transferred Employees” means all employees (including employees on vacation, leave of absence, short or long-term disability or lay-off)
employed by the Transferred Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date, to the extent that the activity of such employees relates primarily to the EHP Business.

     “Subsidiaries” means, with respect to any Person, another Person in whom the majority of the ordinary shares or other securities entitled (other than upon
the occurrence of certain events) to elect such Person’s board of directors or other comparable governing body are owned by such first Person directly or
indirectly through one or more intermediaries.

     “Transfer Provisions” means the legislation in each relevant jurisdiction implementing the provisions of EEC Directive no. 2001/23/CE dated March 12,
2001 applicable to the Transferred Employees’ terms and conditions of employment in the transfer of the EHP Business as a going concern.

     [REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed, all as of the day and year first above written.

   
JARDIN INTERNATIONAL 
HOLDING BV  

NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC.

   
By: /s/ Oren Vaner  By: /s/ Hartley D. Blaha
   
Name: Oren Vaner  Name: Hartley D. Blaha
Title: M&A Director  Title: Vice President- Corporate Development
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EXHIBIT 12

NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENT OF COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

(In millions, except ratio data)

         
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31,  
  2005   2004  
Earnings available for fixed charges:         

Income from continuing operations  $ 86.9  $ 33.6 
Fixed charges:         

Interest expense   34.0   32.5 
Portion of rent determined to be interest (1)   10.4   9.6 
Equity earnings   (0.2)  (0.2)

  
 

  $131.1  $ 75.5 
  

 

         
Fixed charges:         

Interest expense  $ 34.0  $ 32.5 
Portion of rent determined to be interest (1)   10.4   9.6 

  
 

  $ 44.4  $ 42.1 
  

 

         
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges   2.95   1.79 
  

 

(1) A standard ratio of 33% was applied to gross rent expense to approximate the interest portion of short-term and long-term leases.

 



 

EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Joseph Galli, Jr., certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2005 of Newell Rubbermaid Inc.;

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

 (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 (c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
 (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.

Date: May 4, 2005
     
   
 /s/ Joseph Galli, Jr.   
 Joseph Galli, Jr.  
 Chief Executive Officer  

 



 

     

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, J. Patrick Robinson, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2005 of Newell Rubbermaid Inc.;

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

 (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 (c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: May 4, 2005
     
   
 /s/ J. Patrick Robinson   
 J. Patrick Robinson  
 Chief Financial Officer  

 



 

     

EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Newell Rubbermaid Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2005 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Joseph Galli, Jr., Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

     (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

     (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Joseph Galli, Jr.

Joseph Galli, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer
May 4, 2005

 



 

EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Newell Rubbermaid Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2005 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, J. Patrick Robinson, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

     (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

     (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ J. Patrick Robinson

J. Patrick Robinson
Chief Financial Officer
May 4, 2005

 



 

EXHIBIT 99.1

NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT

The Company has made statements in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, as well as in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, and the documents incorporated by reference therein that constitute forward-looking statements, as defined by the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are subject to risks and uncertainties. The statements relate to, and other forward-looking
statements that may be made by the Company may relate to, but are not limited to, information or assumptions about sales (including pricing), income/(loss),
earnings per share, return on equity, return on invested capital, capital expenditures, working capital, cash flow, dividends, capital structure, debt to
capitalization ratios, interest rates, internal growth rates, restructuring, impairment and other charges, potential losses on divestitures, impact of changes in
accounting standards, pending legal proceedings and claims (including environmental matters), future economic performance, operating income
improvements, costs and cost savings (including raw material inflation, productivity and streamlining), synergies, management’s plans, goals and objectives
for future operations and growth. These statements generally are accompanied by words such as “intend,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “project,”
“target,” “plan,” “expect,” “should” or similar statements. You should understand that forward-looking statements are not guarantees because there are
inherent difficulties in predicting future results. Actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements. The
factors that are discussed below, as well as the matters that are set forth generally in the 2004 Form 10-K, the 1st Quarter 2005 Form 10-Q and the documents
incorporated by reference therein could cause actual results to differ. Some of these factors are described as criteria for success. Our failure to achieve, or
limited success in achieving, these objectives could result in actual results differing materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking
statements. In addition, there can be no assurance that we have correctly identified and assessed all of the factors affecting the Company or that the publicly
available and other information we receive with respect to these factors is complete or correct.

Retail Economy

Our business depends on the strength of the retail economies in various parts of the world, primarily in North America and to a lesser extent Europe, Central
and South America and Asia.

These retail economies are affected primarily by such factors as consumer demand and the condition of the consumer products retail industry, which, in turn,
are affected by general economic conditions and events such as the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001. In recent years, the consumer products retail
industry in the U.S. and, increasingly, elsewhere has been characterized by intense competition and consolidation among both product suppliers and retailers.
Because such competition, particularly in weak retail economies, can cause retailers to struggle or fail, the Company must continuously monitor, and adapt to
changes in, the creditworthiness of its customers.

Nature of the Marketplace

We compete with numerous other manufacturers and distributors of consumer products, many of which are large and well established. Our principal
customers are large mass merchandisers, such as discount stores, home centers, warehouse clubs and office superstores. The rapid growth of these large mass
merchandisers, together with changes in consumer shopping patterns, have contributed to the formation of dominant multi-category retailers, many of which
have strong negotiating power with suppliers. This environment significantly limits our ability to recover cost increases through selling price increases. Other
trends among retailers are to foster high levels of competition among suppliers, to demand that manufacturers supply innovative new products and to require
suppliers to maintain or reduce product prices and deliver products with shorter lead times. Another trend is for retailers to import products directly from
foreign sources.

 



 

The combination of these market influences has created an intensely competitive environment in which our principal customers continuously evaluate which
product suppliers to use, resulting in pricing pressures and the need for strong end-user brands, the continuing introduction of innovative new products and
constant improvements in customer service.

New Product Development

Our long-term success in this competitive retail environment depends on our consistent ability to develop innovative new products that create consumer
demand for our products. Although many of our businesses have had notable success in developing new products, we need to improve our new product
development capability. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in successfully developing and introducing innovative new products on a consistent basis.

Raw Materials

Our business purchases certain raw materials, including resin, steel and aluminum that are subject to price volatility and inflationary pressure. We attempt to
reduce our exposure to increases in such costs through a variety of programs, including periodic raw materials purchases, purchases of raw materials for
future delivery and customer price adjustments, but we generally do not use derivatives to manage the volatility related to this risk. Future increases in the
prices of these raw materials could materially impact our financial results.

Marketing

Our competitive success also depends increasingly on our ability to develop, maintain and strengthen our end-user brands so that our retailer customers will
need our products to meet consumer demand. Our success also requires increased focus on serving our largest customers through key account management
efforts. We will need to continue to devote substantial marketing resources to achieving these objectives.

Productivity and Streamlining

Our success also depends on our ability to improve productivity and streamline operations to control and reduce costs. We need to do this while maintaining
consistently high customer service levels and making substantial investments in new product development and in marketing our end-user brands. Our
objective is to become our retailer customers’ low-cost provider and global supplier of choice. To do this, we will need continuously to improve our
manufacturing efficiencies and develop sources of supply on a worldwide basis. We also need to continue to rationalize low-margin product lines that do not
fit in the Company’s strategic plan.

Acquisitions and Integration

The acquisition of companies that sell prominent, consumer focused, retail brand product lines to volume purchasers has historically been one of the
foundations of our growth strategy. Over time, our ability to continue to make sufficient strategic acquisitions at reasonable prices and to integrate the
acquired businesses successfully, obtaining anticipated cost savings and operating income improvements within a reasonable period of time, will be important
factors in our future growth.

Foreign Operations

Foreign operations, especially in Europe, but also in Asia, Central and South America and Canada, are increasingly important to our business. Foreign
operations can be affected by factors such as currency devaluation, other currency fluctuations, tariffs, nationalization, exchange controls, interest rates,
limitations on foreign investment in local business and other political, economic and regulatory risks and difficulties.

 


